Mehdi Snene Michel Leonard (Eds.)

Exploring Services Science

5th International Conference, IESS 2014 Geneva, Switzerland, February 5-7, 2014 Proceedings



Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing 169

Series Editors

Wil van der Aalst Eindhoven Technical University, The Netherlands
John Mylopoulos University of Trento, Italy
Michael Rosemann Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Qld, Australia
Michael J. Shaw University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, IL, USA
Clemens Szyperski Microsoft Research, Redmond, WA, USA Mehdi Snene Michel Leonard (Eds.)

Exploring Services Science

5th International Conference, IESS 2014 Geneva, Switzerland, February 5-7, 2014 Proceedings



Volume Editors

Mehdi Snene University of Geneva Geneva, Switzerland E-mail: mehdi.snene@unige.ch

Michel Leonard University of Geneva Geneva, Switzerland E-mail: michel.leonard@unige.ch

ISSN 1865-1348 e-ISSN 1865-1356 ISBN 978-3-319-04809-3 e-ISBN 978-3-319-04810-9 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-04810-9 Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2014930230

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in ist current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Typesetting: Camera-ready by author, data conversion by Scientific Publishing Services, Chennai, India

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

Service science is an interdisciplinary approach to the systemic innovation in services systems, integrating management, social, legal, and engineering aspects to address the theoretical and practical aspects of the challenging services industry and its economy. Service science leverages methods, results, and knowledge stemming from these disciplines toward the development of its own concepts, methods, techniques, and approaches thus creating the basis for true transdisciplinary gatherings and the production of innovative results. The conference on Exploring Service Science (IESS) is now an established conference where researchers from around the world present innovative ideas, research, and applications in the design, experimentation, and management of services. The 5th IESS Conference was held at the University of Geneva, February 5–7, 2014. The papers presented ideas and issues related to innovation, service management, service engineering, and service discovery.

The conference attracted 31 papers from 14 countries and the Program Committee accepted ten full papers. Given the novelty of the domain of service science, we would like to acknowledge and thank all the authors for their contributions and their trust and the Program Committee members for their valuable and professional work in reviewing the submissions and crafting the program of this fifth IESS conference. The conference featured the keynote presentation of Prof. Yves Pigneur from HEC Lausanne, Switzerland.

We would like to thank the local Organizing Committee and the Institute of Services Sciences (UNIGE, Switzerland) for all the effort and support in setting up and organizing the conference. We wish you a pleasant reading and a fruitful use of these research results in your research and applications.

December 2013

Mehdi Snene Michel Leonard

Organization

Program Committee

Jesus Alcoba Anelize Bilion Theodor Borangiu Pere Botella António Brito Jorge Cardoso Jaelson Castro Joao Cunha Mark Davis Pieter De-Leenheer María Decastro José Deoliveira Younes Djaghlou Monica Dragoicea Eric Dubois Hisham El-Shishiny José Faria Regina Frei Hansjoerg Fromm Jaap Gordijn Bertrand Grégoire Francois Habryn Isabel Horta Takavuki Ito Matthias Jarke Taro Kanno Abdelaziz Khadraoui Axel Kieninger Marite Kirikova Petra Komarkova Arne Koschel Natalia Kryvinska Svlvain Kubicki Patricia Lago Thang Le-Dinh Marion Lepmets Paul Lillrank Bernardo Lobo

Razavian Maryam Linda Macaulav Paul Maglio Sergio Mancini Davor Meersman Carlos Mendes Vera Migueis Miguel Mira-Da-Silva Riichiro Mizoguchi Sorin-Aurel Moraru Jean-Henry Morin Joao Mourinho Wassila Mtalaa Henriqueta Novoa Wanda Opprecht Joan Pastor Lia Patrício George Pavlou Vicente Pelechano Claudio Pinhanez Tomas Pitner Geert Poels Bruno Prata Jolita Ralvté Ruth Raventos Gil Regev Sandrine Reiter Andy Rindos Claudia Roncancio Ana Sasa Gerhard Satzger Jean-Marc Seigneur Mark Shlomo Miguel-Angel Sicilia Mehdi Snene Malgorzata Spychala Christine Strauss Dorith Tavor

Victoria Torres Slim Turki Soe-Tsyr Yuan Jelena Zdravkovic Olivier Zephir Wenjuan Zhang

Table of Contents

Some Aspects Concerning a Generic Service Process Model Building Theodor Borangiu, Virginia Ecaterina Oltean, Monica Drăgoicea, João Falcão e Cunha, and Iulia Iacob	1
Building an Extended Ontological Perspective on Service Science Monica Drăgoicea, Theodor Borangiu, João Falcão e Cunha, Virginia Ecaterina Oltean, José Faria, and Ștefan Rădulescu	17
How Open Data Are Turned into Services? Muriel Foulonneau, Sébastien Martin, and Slim Turki	31
A Classification Framework of Value Co-creation in Electronic and Mobile Services	40
Transition and Delivery Challenges of Retained Organizations in IT Outsourcing	56
Servitization – Its Raise through Information and Communication Technologies	72
Introducing Service-oriented Organizational Structure for Capability Sourcing Laleh Rafati and Geert Poels	82
Why Is Aligning Economic- and IT Services So Difficult? Maryam Razavian, Patricia Lago, and Jaap Gordijn	92
Towards the Consideration of Performance Risks for the Design of Service Offers	108
Developing Municipal e-Government in Italy: The City of Alfa Case Alessandro Zardini, Cecilia Rossignoli, Lapo Mola, and Marco De Marco	124
Author Index	139

Some Aspects Concerning a Generic Service Process Model Building

Theodor Borangiu¹, Virginia Ecaterina Oltean¹, Monica Drăgoicea¹, João Falcão e Cunha², and Iulia Iacob¹

¹Politehnica University of Bucharest, Faculty of Automatic Control and Computers, Spl. Independenței 313A, 77206 Bucharest, Romania {borangiu,iulia.iacob}@cimr.pub.ro, ecaterina.oltean@aii.pub.ro, monica.dragoicea@acse.pub.ro ²University of Porto, Faculty of Engineering -FEUP Rua Dr. Roberto Frias, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal jfcunha@fe.up.pt

Abstract. In the context of globalization of contemporary service economies there is an increasing need for interoperability, standardization and submission of service processes to common norms and regulations. This stimulates the research effort in elaboration of generic, unified approaches in service processes design. Service Science emerged in the past decade as an interdisciplinary specialization of systems theory, but there is still lack of consensus on its theoretical foundations. Starting from the comparative analysis of some relevant generic service models reported in the literature, the paper raises some specific questions regarding the research effort in this area and, based on a Service Science worldview of a service system and on the generic phases of a business process, deduces a generic model of a service process lifecycle, including part of the ISPAR states. Finally, a simple example from the educational service sector is discussed.

Keywords: Service Science, service, service system, business process, generic model.

1 Introduction and Motivation

Contemporary economies are characterized by a shift to service-oriented business organizations, developing interconnected processes, in which IT technology plays a critical role [1]. Motivated by the complexity and diversity of phenomena related to the new emphasis on services, Service Science was initiated in 2004 by IBM, as an interdisciplinary specialization of systems science and theory of organizations [2] dedicated to the study of service systems [3]. As there is still no consensus on the key concepts and theoretical foundations, Service Science needs further development [4]. An important research direction in this context is the development of conceptual service system models, accompanied by activity-based models of service processes.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

There was a progress, in recent years, in the formalization and conceptualization of service and service system concepts [1], [5], and a variety of proposals of service system conceptual descriptions is reported and comparatively studied in the literature [4], [6].

The interest for generic activity-based models of service processes, based on the concept of business process [7], is earlier and somehow independent on the systems approach. Important contributions were reported related to various service sectors such as telecommunications [8], e-government [9], [10], industrial product service systems [11] or health related services [12], among others.

The contribution of this paper is twofold. Firstly, a comparative discussion of some diverse approaches concerning generic service models is discussed from several interconnected perspectives, like design methodologies, technologies and degree of generality related to the limitations of the service sector in question. This comparison raises several questions, which are proposed to the research community. Among these problems, an important issue concerns the unity that can be detected in the diversity of modeling approaches dedicated to specific service sectors. Secondly, starting from this question, a high-level model of a generic service process lifecycle is proposed, based on a conceptual description of an abstract service system. The generic model of the service process lifecycle is derived from the basic phases of a generic business process lifecycle and encompasses part of the possible service outcomes, captured in the Interact-Service-Propose-Agree-Realize (ISPAR) model [13]. Also, a clear difference between value-proposition-based and value-co-creation interactions is respectively emphasized. The modeling methodology is deductive and theoretical, and a toy example from the educational service sector serves as a validation scenario for both conceptual and activity-based models, respectively. Also, it is estimated that the information provided in the service performance evaluation phase of the service process may have a double role: for value co-creation and for service innovation.

Section 2 introduces a comparative overview of some classes of generic service models reported in the literature. Section 3 presents the conceptual description of an abstract service system, based on the ten foundational concepts of Service Science and representing a version of the service systems worldview in [14] discussed in [4]. A high level description of a generic service process lifecycle is proposed in section 4 followed by a discussion concerning the role of the information provided in the service performance evaluation phase of the lifecycle. Finally, a simple scenario concerning a master program as a service provided by a university is discussed from both conceptual and activity-based perspectives, respectively, followed by concluding remarks.

2 Some Research Problems in Building Generic Models of Service Processes

Building generic models of service processes was subject of intense research in the past decade, and there is a variety of approaches and solutions reported in the literature. Despite their diversity, the contributions can be comparatively analyzed from several viewpoints. Thus, in an attempt to make a broad classification, one can distinguish between scenario independent service models [15] and the large category of service models dedicated to specific sectors. These service sectors either already

present a high level of automation and integration of IT – like modern manufacturing systems, telecommunications, finance – or they have to obey to general norms, regulations and protocols, and may increase their efficiency by developing IT-based standardization of activities – like public services or health services.

A small set of selected and relevant papers concerning generic service process models dedicated to service sectors is comparatively presented in Table 1. The selection was made in an attempt to investigate how diverse service sectors, facing similar problems, propose specific solutions and to emphasize, if they exist, the common features of these solutions.

Firstly, despite the specificity of the needs in each *service sector*, the *motivations* of the research efforts share several common aspects: (i) there is a lack of consensus concerning the service system concepts, which makes difficult the cooperation between business actors, (ii) non-unified service design solutions are inefficient from a business perspective and (iii) the development of IT and SOA provides a technological background for standardization of design approaches, for automation of service interactions and for business cooperation [16], [17].

The *research results* are represented mainly by design methodologies - some of them implemented as IT platforms [11] – and, if there is a high level of automation of service interactions, also generic process models are reported [8], [10].

The *design perspective* for each of the service process models reflects the choice of a specific stakeholder's view.

The *model building approaches* are generally based on object-oriented descriptions of the conceptual side, and on BPMN descriptions of the activities. The *design methodologies* are diverse: from IT and SOA based methods [8], [10], to empirical studies, literature study and interviews [18], [9].

The *generality* of the service process models is, in principle, limited to the service sector of concern. However, there are efforts to go towards non-scenario specific models, even when the research started from the problems of a specific service sector [8].

Summing up, there are several common issues and questions to be answered for the research in the domain of generic service process models building:

- 1. Why is a generic service process model necessary?
- 2. How "general" can be a generic service process model?
- 3. What are the contributions of technology and of norms and regulations, respectively, in the design of standardized service process solutions?
- 4. What is the well suited approach and methodology for a generic service process model building?
- 5. And finally, from a design management perspective, what is the interdisciplinary team requested to perform the modeling task?

These questions, which are rather difficult to be answered even within a specific service domain, may help building a roadmap for initiating and developing a generic service process model, firstly as a theoretical tool for better understanding what is unity in the diversity of services. The high-level model of a generic service lifecycle introduced in section 4, based on the concepts discussed in section 3 is scenario independent, so it may serve to initiate an answer to the second question.

	Garschhammer,	Osatsius,	Koussouris,	CONTSYS.	Müller,
	2001, [8]	2010, [10]	2008, [9]	2008, [12]	2010, [11]
Service	Telecommunication,	Public	Municipal	Health related	Industrial
sector	eCommerce	eServices	services,	services	production
			eGovernment		services
Research	Deregulations and	Diversity of	Opportunity	Need for	Lack of
motivation	liberalization in	public	provided by	harmonization	generic
	telecommunications	eServices/	Internet	of concepts	process
	/ lack of service	need of	connectivity /	and concept	models for
	concepts consensus	cooperation	Homogenous	and	development
	in a global service	between	Service	information	of industrial
	market, with layered	authorities	Composition	modeling in	Product-
	services	for common	Problem, need	health	Service-
		eservice	OI eGOV	informatics	System
Deseguel	A top down oriented	solutions	Overall	Conorio	A ganaria DSS
research result	systematic service	A generic,	methodology	process	A generic r55
technology/	analysis	eService	for building the	natterns and	nrocess model
design	methodology & a	model in	Interoperable	model for	/ web based
perspective	generic interactions -	the public	Generic Service	Swedish	process guide
FF	centered service	sector/ web-	Patterns/ IT,	health related	platform /
	process model of the	based &	Internet /	services,	mechanical
	usage phase, with	non	municipal	aimed to	engineering
	potential for	Internet,	authority &	identify and	design
	recursive application	different	alternate	treat health	
	/ IT dominant /	access	service	problems / not	
	service	media /	provider	specified /	
	management	authority,		clinical	
		laws and		perspective	
		norms			
A	Object oriented tor	regulations	Comico	Clinical	Taitial
Approach/	down approach for	SUA BPM	Description	Clinical processes as	ampirical
memodology	service environment	use of a	Worksheets	BD / activities	empiricai
	analysis/ the service	hebavior	RPMN process	description in	Interviews
	as a set of	model part	models /	core and	and literature
	interactions	of the SOA	Interviews.	supporting	and incrutie
		Reference	Greek eGIF	clinical	
		Model	guidelines	processes	
Generality/	Non-scenario	G2C, G2B,	eGov / national	Subject of	Service
perspective	specific procedure/	G2G	standardized	debate /	systems for
of the	languages and	interactions	documents for	process-,	mechanical
research	methods for	/ seek	pan-European	concept- and	engineering,
	describing	standards,	Interoperability	information	synchronizing
	functionality and	model		model will	product and
	quality of service	eServices,		form the	service
	parameters in a	integration		Swedish	development
	generic way	of BP		information	

Table 1. Generic servic	e process model	approaches in the	literature – a selected view

3 The Conceptual Description - A Service System Worldview

Recall that Service Science (SS) is based on ten foundational concepts [19], *resources*, *entities*, *access rights*, *value co-creation interaction*, *governance interaction*, *outcomes*, *stakeholders*, *measures*, *networks* and *ecology*, which are described and discussed in the service literature, from different perspectives [20], [4], [6].

From a Systems Approach perspective [2], a service system is a type of organizational system of systems [6], which may generate one or several services. The main task of a service system is to create and realize value propositions [21]. In the same systemic perspective, a service can be regarded as an organizational subsystem of the service system, defined by specific business processes [7]. A formalization of theses relations is given in [5].

The ten foundational concepts of SS can be configured, around the service system, service and value proposition concepts, as a conceptual description or SS worldview. A representation of this worldview, similar to the one discussed in [4], but with a coarser granularity, is depicted in Fig. 1.

The relations implied by the SS worldview in Fig. 1 are described next in brief, based mainly on the already classic paper of Spohrer and colleagues [19] and on the contributions in [20] and [4].

Everything that has a name and is useful can be viewed as a *service resource*, which is integrated by the service system. A service system entity is a type of resource. There are four types of resources: *physical with rights* (people), *physical without rights* (technology, natural resources), *non-physical with rights* (organisations), and *non-physical without rights* (shared information).

Access rights derive from laws, i.e. from the political-legal system, and laws are a type of not-physical-with-no-rights resource. Different types of access rights are owned outright, leased-contracted, shared access, and privileged access.

For a service system, the service system *ecology* is its immediate environment.

The four primary types of *stakeholders* are *customer*, *provider*, *authority*, and *competitor*. The *partner* is also a type of stakeholder. The provider belongs to the service system, while the other stakeholders are parts of the service system ecology. Also, their roles are dynamic; for example, a partner can become a competitor.

Service system entities participate in *interactions* via *networks*. Value co-creation is the desired outcome in a service interaction. *Value proposition-based interactions* are intuitively the promises that entities - basically the *customer* and the *provider* - agree to, because they believe following through will realize value co-creation for both entities [19].

The *governance* of a system directs the system towards a final goal. Governance mechanisms can be regarded as a type of value proposition between an authority service system entity and a population of governed service system entities. *Governance interactions* depend on the degree of *compliance* of the governed entities, as well as the degree of coercion that the authority entity is allowed by norms and laws.

The interactions initiated by service system entities are based on a *value* proposition and produce service outcomes. However, there are outcomes which are

generated by non-service interactions, as detailed in the ISPAR model [13]. When service entities interact, value co-creation is only one of the possible outcomes. The ISPAR model defines ten possible outcomes of service interaction, which can be regarded as final states of a decision process (Table 2).

The service is evaluated, from specific stakeholders' views, through *service measures*: *quality* is evaluated by the *customer*, *productivity* is evaluated by the *provider*, *compliance* is evaluated by the *authority* and *sustainable innovation* is evaluated by the *competitor*. These measures serve as key performance indicators (KPIs) for service evaluation, i.e for evaluation of the service outcomes.

The *service*, considered both as a service organization, controlled by the service system and composed of interacting business processes, or simply as a flux of interactions generated by the service system, is defined by: a *value proposition*, as a business plan, together with the associated *service interactions*, the *outcomes* they produce and the *service measures* as KPIs.



Fig. 1. A Service Science worldview of a service system; service, service system and value proposition are not among the ten foundational concepts

	Final state in	Significance
	the ISPAR	
	model	
1.	R :	value is realized, i.e. effectively co-created
2.	- P :	the proposal (value proposition) is not understood
3.	-A:	the proposal is not agreed to
4.	-D:	value is not realized and disputes do not arise
5.	K :	value co-creation disputes are resolved in a manner
		that is OK for all stakeholders
6.	-K :	value co-creation disputes are resolved in manner
		that is not OK for all stakeholders
7.	W :	an interaction is not a service interaction and is
		welcomed
8.	-C:	an unwelcomed non-service interaction is not
		criminal
9.	J:	an unwelcomed non-service interaction is criminal
		and justice results
10.	-J :	an unwelcome non-service interaction is criminal and
		justice does not result

Table 2. The ten possible final states as interaction outcomes in the ISPAR model (adapted from [13], [19])

4 A Generic Model of a Service Process Lifecycle

In the activity-based description, the service is viewed dynamically, as a business process involving the concepts interrelated in the service system worldview.

4.1 A High Level Description of a Generic Service Process Lifecycle

Recall firstly some basic general definitions from organizational theory and business process management. An organizational system can be viewed as a set of business processes performed into two main systems: the management system and the productive system; each of these subsystems contain business processes with associated control, operational and *information system* (IS), respectively [5]. A *business process* is a set of activities that are performed in coordination in an organizational and technical environment, realizing a business goal and possibly interacting with business processes performed by other organizations. A *business process model* consists of a set of activity models and constraints between them. A *business process lifecycle* comprises: the design and analysis phase, the configuration and testing phase, the enactment phase and the evaluation phase [7]. Business process models and business process lifecycles may imply several actors with dedicated roles, developing collaborating, parallel sub-processes, and it is commonly agreed that a well suited modeling language, covering all levels of abstraction, is BPMN (Business

Process Model and Notation) [22]. However, when details and atomic activities are not of concern, a higher level of abstraction view is provided by flowchart diagrams.

A generic service process can be considered as a business process with service delivery as business goal and comprising decisions and phases dictated by the basic service interactions: value proposition-based and value co-creation interactions as well as governance interactions. Following the agreement on the value proposition, a service process basically refers the service delivery (ensuring *the usage service functionality* [8]) controlled by the service management system (ensuring *the management functionality*).

The lifecycle of a new service process comprises the basic phases of a general business process lifecycle and includes the above mentioned specific phases. A high level description of a service process lifecycle is proposed by the flowchart diagram in Fig. 2.

The cycle starts with the *preparation phase* in which, according to the business goal of the service system, essential service data, from the internal service system information system (IS) as well as from the service system ecology, representing potential business advantages and constraints, is fused in order to decide whether or not to create a new service process. In this phase, the *provider* may communicate, through welcome non-service interactions (state W in Table 2), with the market environment (for example through interviews with the potential *customer*, external supplier or *partner*) and with the legal system (*authority*) and it may observe the *competitor*. If a new service process development is not motivated, then, after a while, the preparation phase and the decision process are resumed.

In the *service design and analysis phase*, surveys on the service organizational and technical environment are developed and the basic sequence of tasks and associated activities are identified, reviewed, validated and represented as business processes.

Then the service process lifecycle enters *the service configuration and implementation phase* in which, based on the service process model, the service process is implemented and the *value proposition* is created. Depending on the service sector and on the support technology, the service process configuration can be implemented (i) as a set policies and procedures that the employees need to comply to, or (ii) using a platform for a dedicated software system and providing process interoperability or (iii) in hybrid manner, in which employees interact with the system and existing software systems are integrated with the service management system. The implemented solution needs also to be tested, based on specific testing methodology.

Based on the *value proposition* created by the *provider*, the service process lifecycle enters the value-proposition-based interactions phase, in which the customer and the provider negotiate the terms of the value proposition. In general, two main pairs of dual aspects are taken into account: the *level of service quality* promised by the *provider* against the *needs* of the *customer*, on one side, and the *cost* of the service process against the requested *price* that the customer has to pay.

Following the initial negotiation, the value-proposition may *not* be accepted (states **-A** or **-P** in Table 2). If the value proposition can be improved, then the changes are performed and the service process lifecycle returns to the *value proposition-based interaction phase*, for a new negotiation.



Fig. 2. A high-level description of a generic service process lifecycle; the bold letters correspond to the ISPAR states in Table 2

If the value proposition cannot be modified, then the negotiation fails. The associated information is stored by the service system IS, for future business decisions, and the process stops (state -A).

If the value proposition is accepted (state **A** in Table 2), the service process lifecycle enters the *service contracting and delivery phase*, in which the service is contracted, according to the value proposition, and used by the customer.

The way in which the service is contracted and delivered is investigated, from the stakeholders' viewpoints, in *the service performance evaluation phase*. In fact, the evaluation process in general parallels the service contracting and delivery processes, respectively, as detailed in next subsection. Service performance evaluation implies the choice of relevant KPIs by each stakeholder.

Value co-creation interactions involve basically the provider and the customer, but also the authority.

One can consider that the *value co-creation interaction* is a decision process based on the outcomes of the service performance evaluation process, more specifically as results of the comparison between the expected and the actual levels of the chosen KPIs.

Value is co-created if there is an agreement, between interacting actors, on the results of these comparisons, meaning that, for example, both customer and provider are satisfied by the way in which the service is delivered and the service contract is respected.

If the value is created, then the associated information is stored for future business decisions and the process stops (state \mathbf{R} in Table 2).

If the value is not created, the reasons of the fail are analyzed.

If *dispute* arises, for example because the customer has not paid the service price according to the contract, then the norms and regulations are invoked in *governance interactions*, to legally solve the dispute (states \mathbf{K} or $-\mathbf{K}$ in Table 2). The associated information is stored for future business plans and decisions and the process stops.

If disputes do *not* arise (state **-D** in Table 2) and the service delivery process can be improved, then the value proposition upon which the service was contracted is subject to these improvements and the service process lifecycle returns to a new phase of value-proposition based interactions.

Remark 1. Value proposition is a promise for future value co-creation [19], so value proposition-based interactions reflect the negotiation between stakeholders and become the basis for service contracting, as an agreement about estimated future mutual benefits.

Value co-creation interactions take place, between stakeholders, during the service contracting and delivery processes, consequently to the service performance evaluations. Value is co-created if, as already mentioned, the stakeholders agree that the evaluated service performance corresponds to the initial value proposition.

So the significances of value-proposition-based interactions and of value cocreation interactions do not completely overlap.

The role of the information provided by the service performance evaluation process is discussed next in brief.

11

4.2 The Information Flux in Service Performance Evaluation Processes

The service performance evaluation phase comprises several processes developed, from distinct stakeholders' views, during the service contracting and delivery phase and providing information, about the service value. In the mean time, the specific details composing this information can be fused, by the IS of the service system, for future service innovation. These parallel and collaborative evolutions cannot be represented in the flow diagram of a service process lifecycle in Fig. 2 and are captured in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. In the value co-creation process, the stakeholders evaluate the service performance from their own view and the resulted information can be used for service innovation; the dotted lines show the direction of the information and the initial points mark the information sources

The service *provider* is mainly interested in service *productivity*, and it collects corresponding information directly from the service delivery process and from the service management system, responsible with service resource allocation.

The distinct information provided by the evaluation processes is used for *service innovation* in several aspects: service process innovation, service marketing

innovation, or service organizational innovation. The role of the *competitor*, though indirect, is crucial for *sustainable innovation*. Acting in the service system ecology, i.e. in the market, the competitor observes the quality of the service and estimates himself the needs of the customer. Consequently, competing for the same customer, he may offer similar services with possible higher level performances. This exerts a constant pressure on the service system, which, in order to remain viable, has to improve, in turn, the service performances and to satisfy, in the same time, the feasibility constraints regarding costs and resources. These improvements are constantly observed by the competitor.

4.3 A Toy Example from Educational Services: A Master Program Scenario

The conceptual description of a service system and the model of the service process lifecycle are discussed below within a simple example from the educational sector. , Hence the service concerns teaching so, in principle, it does not necessarily imply IT-based implementation, but mostly human interaction. This last feature is common also to an important class of health services [12].

A private university is offering a master program in a domain. Considering the *university* as a *service system* generating *the master program* as a *service*, a proposed description of the basic concepts within the Service Science worldview depicted in Fig. 1 is summarized in Table 3.

For simplicity, only one student and one teacher are considered, with the last one as a human resource of the university. The negotiations between the university management and the teacher concerning the teacher's salary and professional duties are not discussed. The phases of the master program lifecycle follow the general flowchart in Fig. 2 and can be described as follows.

Firstly, the university explores the service system ecology and the domain in question, gathering information in order to decide whether or not to construct a new master program. Also, the needs for related human and material resources are investigated – teacher as physical resource with rights, infrastructure as physical resource with no rights - and their costs - i.e. necessary capital as non-physical resource - are estimated. This is, in a very simplified description, *the service preparation phase*.

If the university management decides that the new master program is necessary, the preparation is started. This phase comprises two types of activities: the creative effort of the teacher, preparing the lectures to be taught within a specified time interval, together with a proposal for the student's evaluation schedule, and the acquisition of material resources, requested by the teaching and learning processes. This is *the service design and analysis phase*.

Based on the prepared lecture notes and on the available infrastructure, a description of the offered master program is published, together with the level of related fees charged by the university (point 8 in Table 3). This is the *service configuration and implementation phase*.

If there is a student that agrees to the value proposition, then he signs a contract with the university, pays the fees charged by the university and starts the master program.

	Concepts in the SS worldview	Instance in the master program scenario
	of a service system (Fig.1)	
1.	Service system:	The university as an organization
2.	Service:	Teaching the master program
3.	Service resource:	Teacher with knowledge and competence,
		infrastructure (library, laboratories), capital
	Access right:	The student has privileged access to part of
		(teacher's) knowledge and to the entire
		infrastructure; the university owns the capital
		outright
4.	Customer as stakeholder:	Student and, after student's graduation, the
		company employing him
5.	Provider as stakeholder:	The manager of the master program
6	Competitor as stakeholder:	Other universities offering similar master
		programs
6	Authority:	The Ministry of Education
7.	Service system ecology:	Other universities, students, companies interested
		to employ human resources in the domain of the
		master program, authorities in the educational
0	17.1	sector
8.	value proposition:	A description of the master program, a promise
		for the student to get knowledge and competence
		in the domain, in view of a future desired
		workplace, a promise for the university to obtain
0	Sorrigo maggurage	a) The marks obtained by the student at
9.	Service measures.	a) The marks obtained by the student at
		concerning the quality of teaching: c) the
		compliance of the master program to laws and
		norms in the educational sector:
		d) the fact that, after graduating, the student is
		employed or not in the master domain: e) if the
		student graduates and is employed in the domain
		of the master program, the perception of the
		company concerning his professional
		performance
10.	Value as a service outcome:	a) The student pays the fees charged by the
		university and passes examinations with good
		marks and b) the student is satisfied by the
		teaching quality and c) the master program obeys
		to educational laws and norms and
		d)e) after graduation, the former student is
		successfully employed in the master's domain
11.	Value co-creation interaction:	Collaborative processes: the teaching process,
		enacted by the <i>teacher</i> , and the learning process,
		enacted by the <i>student</i>

Table 3. Concepts in the Service Science worldview of a service system (Fig. 1) and their instances in the master program service scenario

These two phases evolve in parallel and comprise several collaborative processes, defining value co-creation interactions: teaching and evaluation of the student's skill and knowledge, enacted by the teacher on one side, learning and evaluation of the quality of the teaching process, enacted by the student, on the other side. Following these evaluations, the student may repeat some examinations, or the teacher may improve his explanations or his lecture notes.

Specific to educational services, the value is co-created, as described at point 10 in Table 3, based on a conjunction of several conditions. Firstly, the value necessarily implies that both teaching and learning processes have quality. Condition d) states that the master program, as an educational service, is compliant. Finally, value implies also that, after graduation, the former student is successfully employed in the domain of the master program. However, this happens *after* the service delivery, and does not entirely depend on the quality of the teaching or learning processes, but also on the current economic environment. Hence there is a *variable time scale* for service performance evaluation: there is an immediate, *real-time evaluation* of the service quality (the teacher explains and, in response, the student understands and proofs his knowledge and skills by obtaining good marks) and a *long term evaluation*, based on the observation of the graduate's evolution in the jobs market. This reveals also the role of the company employing the graduate as an important but "delayed" stakeholder of the educational service. The company may introduce its own KPI for the performance evaluation of the master program, depending on the professional performance of the graduate as employee.

The information collected by the university a) from real-time and from long term performance evaluation, respectively, as well as b) by observing the behavior of other universities as competitors in the market of educational services, is used for improvements and innovation of the master program. In order to be sustainable, the improvements and innovation measures have to rely on available human and material resources for the educational process. So, innovative measures, together with the constant interest for having adequate available service resources are necessary for the viability of the university as service system.

Note also that a scenario implying educational services in the public sector is more complicated, due to the fact that the customer, i.e. the person who accepts to pay for the service, is distinct from the beneficiary, i.e. the person involved in the teachinglearning interactions.

5 Concluding Remarks

The problem of building generic service process models is receiving much interest in contemporary modern economies in a broader context, in which business process modelling and consulting is becoming mature, stepping to a viable commercial activity [23]. However, the development of unified service process design solutions is not straightforward, as, even within a specific service sector, there may be a great a variety of service scenarios. The rich literature concerning the research on generic service processes model building has, as an important objective, the development of modelling methodologies, serving as design roadmaps [18]. In section 2, a set of general questions is suggested to be answered by the researchers in this area, one of them being "how general can be a generic service process model ?"

Initiating an answer to this question, the generic, non-scenario-dependent service process model proposed in section 4 provides a theoretical perspective, which is general and simple from two viewpoints. Firstly, it relies upon a rather simple service system worldview, including the foundational Service Science concepts, as proposed in section 3. Secondly, the flowchart representing a high-level, activity-based description of the generic service process lifecycle is derived directly from the classic phases of a general business process, and it includes service interactions and decisions outcomes reflecting the basic final states in the ISPAR model. The analysis performed in section 4.1 shows that value-proposition-based interactions and value-co-creation interactions share the value proposition concept, but they take place at distinct moments of the service process lifecycle, respectively (Fig. 2). The service performance evaluation process plays a crucial role in value co-creation and also as information for future service innovation. Each stakeholder has its own KPIs for service performance evaluation and value is co-created when all stakeholders agree on the levels of all KPIs.

Finally, the proposed service process model is used to develop and analyze, in a simple but consistent way, the lifecycle of a master program, as a worked example of an educational service.

Future research directions imply the development of UML representations of the conceptual service system worldview and of BPMN descriptions of the service process lifecycle flowchart, with emphasis on roles. The worked example suggests that generality can be preserved only for the conceptual model, while the activity-based description can remain general only within a specific service sector. However, the flowchart representation is valuable as it allows the emphasis of those phases and decisions, which distinguish service processes among business processes.

The deduced flowchart of a generic service process can also help, as a starting phase, for developing an interactive tool for service configuration, based firstly on empirical design methodologies, such as interviews with relevant stakeholders from a specific service domain. This tool is supposed to reflect a systems approach [2], and the service is desired to be iteratively configured, based on specifications of the value-propositions reflecting the contract to be agreed between provider and customer.

References

- Mora, M., Raisinghani, M., O'Connor, R., Gelman, O.: Toward an Integrated Conceptualization of the Service and Service System Concepts: A Systemic Approach. In: Wang, J. (ed.) Information Systems and New Applications in the Service Sector: Models and Methods, Business Science Reference, pp. 152–172. IGI Global (2011)
- 2. Ackoff, R.L.: Towards a system of systems concepts. Management Science 17(11), 661–671 (1971)
- Spohrer, J., Maglio, P.P.: Service Science: toward a smarter planet. In: Salvedy, G., Karwowsky, W. (eds.) Introduction to Service Engineering, pp. 3–30. Wiley (2010)
- Lemey, E., Poels, G.: Towards a Service System Ontology for Service Science. In: Kappel, G., Maamar, Z., Motahari-Nezhad, H.R. (eds.) ICSOC 2011. LNCS, vol. 7084, pp. 250–264. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- Mora, M., Gelman, O., Cervantes, F., et al.: A systemic approach for the formalization of the information system concept: why information systems are systems. In: Cano, J. (ed.) Critical Reflections of Information Systems: a Systemic Approach, pp. 1–29. Idea Group, Hershey (2003)

- Mora, M., Raisinghani, M., Gelman, O., Sicilia, M.A.: Onto-ServSys: A Service System Ontology. In: Demirkan, H., et al. (eds.) The Science of Service Systems, Service Science: Research and Innovations in the Service Economy, pp. 151–173. Springer Science+Business Media (2011)
- Weske, M.: Business Process Management. Concepts, Languages, Architectures, 2nd edn. Springer, Heidelberg (2012)
- Garschhammer, M., Hauck, R., Kempter, B., Radisic, I., Roelle, H., Schmidt, H.: The MNM Service Model - Refined Views on Generic Service Management. Journal of Communications and Networks 3(4), 297–306 (2001)
- Koussouris, S., Tsitsanis, A., Gionis, G., Psarras, J.: Designing Generic Municipal Services Process Models towards eGovernment Interoperability Infrastructures. The Electronic Journal for E-Commerce Tools & Applications 2(3), 27–42 (2008)
- Ostasius, E., Petrasviciute, Z., Kulvietis, G.: Constructing generic e-service model in public sector. In: Proc. of the 16th Int. Conf. on Information and Software Technologies, Kaunas, Lithuania, Aprilie 21-23 (2010), http://isd.ktu.lt/it2010/
- Müller, P., Stark, R.: A generic Product-Service Systems development process model based on theory and empirical study. In: Proc. of the Int. Design Conference, DESIGN 2010, Dubrovnik, Croatia, May 17-20 (2010), http://www.designsociety.org
- 12. Lundell, K.-H.: Basis for discussion in health informatics Generic process model for health related services (2008), http://www.contsys.net
- Maglio, P.P., Vargo, S.L., Caswell, N., Spohrer, J.: The service system is the basic abstraction of service science. Information Systems and e-business Management 7, 395– 406 (2009)
- Spohrer, J., Kwan, S.K.: Service Science, Management, Engineering, and Design (SSMED): An Emerging Discipline – Outline and References. Int. Journal of Information Systems in the Service Sector 1, 1–31 (2009)
- Quinhai, M., Mitchell, M.T., Yen, B.: A generic model and design representation technique of service products. Technovation 22, 15–39 (2002)
- Ionită, A.D., Catapano, A., Giuroiu, S., Florea, M.: Service oriented system for business cooperation. In: ICSE – SDSOA 2008, Leipzig, pp. 13–18. ACM, New York (2008)
- Ionită, A.D., Florea, M.: Applying View Models in SOA: A Case Study. In: Ao, S.-I., Gelman, L. (eds.) Electronic Engineering and Computing Technology. LNEE, vol. 60, pp. 483–493. Springer, Heidelberg (2010)
- Dücker, M., Balzert, S., Bertram, M., et al.: A roadmap for the development of a generic B2B-service productivity model. In: 2011 RESER Conference Papers, Productivity of Services Next Gen, Hamburg, Germany, September 7-25 (2011), http://reser.net/
- Spohrer, J., Anderson, L., Pass, N., Ager, T.: Service science and service-dominant logic. Paper no:2, Otago Forum 2. Academic Papers (2008), http://www.business.otago.ac.nz
- Barile, S., Polese, F.: Smart service systems and viable service systems: applying systems theory to service science. Service Science 2(1/2), 2–40 (2010), http://servsci.journal.informs.org
- Spoher, J., Anderson, C., Laura, P.J.N., Ager, T., Gruhl, D.: Service Science. J. Grid Computing 6, 313–324 (2008)
- 22. BPM Offensive Berlin, BPMN 2.0, Business Process Model and Notation, Poster (2011), http://www.bpmb.de/index.php/BPMNPoster
- 23. Opitz Consulting, http://www.opitz-consulting.com

Building an Extended Ontological Perspective on Service Science

Monica Drăgoicea¹, Theodor Borangiu¹, João Falcão e Cunha², Virginia Ecaterina Oltean¹, José Faria², and Ștefan Rădulescu¹

¹ University Politehnica of Bucharest, Faculty of Automatic Control and Computers 313 Splaiul Independentei, 060042-Bucharest, Romania monica.dragoicea@acse.pub.ro, theodor.borangiu@cimr.pub.ro, ecaterina.oltean@aii.pub.ro

> ² University of Porto, Faculty of Engineering - FEUP Rua Dr. Roberto Frias, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal {jfcunha,jfaria}@fe.up.pt

Abstract. This paper presents an approach accounting for the classification of the main knowledge resources related to the new Science of Service. The main knowledge categories are defined as concepts integrated in an extended Service Science ontology. The ontology derived from several sources was captured using UML and Protégé, and then, through a RDF/OWL transformation, a semantically annotated wiki has been directly implemented offering an execution of the ontology together with implemented use cases. Further, a dedicated application was developed – the Service Science Knowledge Environment (SSKE) – in order to grant user access to different knowledge categories created along with the proposed ontology. The SSKE is a cloud based collaborative software service, aiming at providing co-created knowledge resources shared by academia, industry and government organizations. This application can be accessed through the Web (http://sske.cloud.upb.ro/) and it can be used for managing service related knowledge.

Keywords: Service Science, service systems, ontology.

1 Introduction

The service sector accounts now for over 70% of the activities and employment in the more advanced economies, and has been growing in all countries. Innovation in services is critical for sustainable societies, and there is an increasing support from information technologies in providing new services [1]. Service Science is an interdisciplinary approach to the engineering of service systems in which specific arrangements of people and technologies take actions that have value for others.

Recently, some research directions towards the development of an ontological foundation for Service Science have been put into action ([2], [3], [4], [5] and [6]). Each of them draw a clear conclusion to establish an unifying framework of service representation in different perspectives, based on the Service-Dominant

M. Snene and M. Leonard (Eds.): IESS 2014, LNBIP 169, pp. 17-30, 2014.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

Logic view [7] that considers services as value co-production complex systems consisting of people, technology, other internal and external service systems, and shared information (such as language, processes, metrics, prices, policies, and laws) [8]. In [5] the design of the Onto-ServSys ontology on service systems is reported, this integration being realized through a Systems Approach, that mainly consists of an *organizational system* view and a *service system view*. In [9] an investigation related to foundation concepts from the perspective of established service theories and frameworks is proposed. It maps the proposed service system concepts on the selected service theories and frameworks. The analysis is visualized in a multi-view conceptual model (UML representation), trying to explicitly and formally define service system ontology. In [10] main concepts related to service orientation in manufacturing are presented that a special extension of a general ontology (related aspects to service innovation and fundamental concepts in Service Science domain) should include for later developments.

All the above mentioned approaches refer only to specific parts of knowledge that can be related to Service Science and its supporting technologies.

The novelty of the approach proposed in this article is the *holistic view on* knowledge dedicated to this domain. According to this approach information related to the multidisciplinary sub-domains that can be gathered under the umbrella of the broader term "Service Science" is classified as specific knowledge resources. Based on literature review, including the DELLISS project [1], [11], section 2 describes the definition of a knowledge model in a Knowledge *Environment*, represented as a tree of interrelated concepts (an ontology-based classification of *knowledge resources*). Section 3 proposes a general integration perspective towards a Service Science ontology development, that is further reflected as a foundational step in the design of the extended SSKE ontology. Section 4 is based on an extended literature review and draws clear steps to extend the general Service Science ontology towards the formation of connections with other knowledge resources in the extended SSKE ontology. Section 5 presents a brief description of the Service Science Knowledge Environment. The article concludes with final remarks on the appropriateness of this application as an environment to bring together academia, business and governmental institutions, allowing them to contribute on building and sharing knowledge in the field.

2 Requirements Definition

During the last decades a huge amount of literature on Service Science was delivered on paper as well as digital content, drawing a clear need on designing a detailed classification of the main concepts related to this interdisciplinary domain. Starting from here, specific requirements for a dedicated environment were drawn. In this respect, the proposed *Knowledge Environment* was supposed to include and classify *knowledge resources* related to Service Science, for example Articles, Projects, People knowledgeable about Projects, that write Articles and use Technology in certain Service Sectors. It would have to host digital content collaboratively available to a whole community, to be used in three different perspectives [10]: (1) to exploit a database highlighting an educational knowledge path on Service Science, fostering service innovation in different service sectors, based on fundamental concepts related to Service Science; (2) to increase the service companies visibility; (3) to report new methods, tools and software applications in order to develop IT services and to accomplish service automation, fostering service innovation.

According to the approach proposed here information related to the multidisciplinary sub-domains gathered under the umbrella of the broader term "Service Science" was classified as specific *knowledge resources* in the **extended SSKE ontology** (Fig. 1). The relationships between the main *knowledge resources* were identified and they were interconnected to each other.

Domain fundamentals is a knowledge category in the ontology that refers information concerning specific fundamental concepts approached in three perspectives: (a) business oriented, b) IT oriented and c) service orientation of processes (Fig. 2). Two important and inter-related Service Theory approaches have emerged in past decade: a) Service Science, as an interdisciplinary approach to the study, design, implementation, and innovation of service systems, developed in 2004 by IBM [12] and Service Dominant Logic, developed in the marketing research community [13], [7] and considering the service as the basis of exchange. ServiceScienceConcept category (Fig. 3) undergoes entities, interactions, and outcomes to explain the evolution of value co-creation interactions. It can be derived by the generalization of the concepts offered by the study of service systems and by the emerging service dominant logic [14].



Fig. 1. Knowledge resources classification - extended SSKE ontology concepts

Document represent a knowledge category that describes the documentation stored on the knowledge environment, consisting mainly of articles, journals, case studies, books, patents, proceedings, reports, standards, theses and standard specifications. All the above-mentioned types of documents are built in the ontology as sub-classes of a main class called **Document**.



Fig. 2. Extended SSKE Ontology - Domain Fundamentals related concepts

Institution category sub-classifies in Academic and Business institutions. A subsequent classification divides the Academic institutions into Faculties and Universities. An Institution may operate in a certain service sector (usually this is available in the case of business companies, but also for some academic centers).

Activities is a class that records various initiatives, holding a subclass for each of them: Project, Educational Program, Event and Support Activities for Services.

ServiceSectors is a special class dedicated to the areas where Service Science can be applied. It refers to different service sectors such as E-Administration, E-Government, Software Services, Manufacturing, Supply Chains and Logistics, E-Health, Telecommunications, Smart Grids.

Technology plays an important role in service innovation, that is why it was considered to be a stand-alone topic in SSKE that requires a dedicated class in the ontology, **Technologies** (e.g. 4*G* technology). It is considered that a certain technology can be of either a software or a hardware nature, leading thus to a specialization of two subclasses from the main parent class: **Hardware** and **Software**. The current classification doesn't offer too much insight on further sub classing, leaving enough room for future sub-categorization if needed. **Methodologies** is



Fig. 3. Extended SSKE Ontology - Service Science related concepts

an ontology class created as a category for different instances of methodologies that apply in the Service Science, be they theoretical or practical (e.g. *Business Process Modeling, service blueprinting*, etc.).

3 A Systems Approach for a General Service Science Ontology

This section presents a novel approach towards the integration of different multidisciplinary concepts related to the Service Science domain. It basically starts with the integration of a systemic approach towards an ontological description of service systems, correlating major knowledge categories from three perspectives: *Service Science, Theory of Organizations* and *Systems Theory.* It is reflected in the extended SSKE ontology under the Domain Fundamentals knowledge resource category, in Fig. 3. This structure was firstly proposed in [5], based on



Fig. 4. A general ontology structure for Service Science domain as reflected by the extended SSKE ontology

the Systems Approach introduced by [18] and on the systems models formalization discussed in [19] and [20]. The version adopted here (Fig. 4) is simpler and reflects directly the basic concepts and relations derived from Service Science, and the relations of these concepts with the more general basic concepts derived from organizational systems theory and systems of systems and viable systems theory [18], [21], [17], [22], [23], respectively.

As current literature reflects, Service Science is an interdisciplinary approach to the study, design implementation of service systems that was developed in 2004 by IBM [15]. Service Science is based on ten foundational concepts [16]: (1) **Resources**, (2) **Entities**, (3) **Access rights**, (4) **Value co-creation interaction**, (5) **Governance interaction**, (6) **Outcomes**, (7) **Stakeholders**, (8) **Measures**, (9) **Networks**, and (10) **Ecology**, which are described and discussed in the service literature, from different perspectives [17]), [9], [5], see also Fig. 5.

The ontological description for Service Science domain, thought from a systemic perspective, is structured here into three main modules, with increasing levels of generally, respectively (Fig. 4): (1) service system description (the *SS module*); (2) organizational system of systems description (the *Organization module*); and (3) systems of systems description (the *Systems module*).

There are two main reasons for adopting a philosophy very similar to the one proposed in [5]. Firstly, OntoServSys [5] relies upon a very rigorous formalization of the concepts of *System of Systems*, *General System*, and *Organizational*

23



Fig. 5. Ten foundational concepts for Service Science

System, respectively, presented in earlier works [19]; this permits proposing nonambiguous relations between more specific concepts, like *Service System*, and more general ones, like *Organizational System of Systems* or *System of Systems*. Secondly, considering Service System from the System of Systems perspective allows an adequate description of the role and place of System Viability. The *Viable Service System* concept [17] plays an important role in understanding the implementation of intelligent, IT-based Service System instances; in this view, a *Viable Service System* is thus only a subclass of a *Viable System*.

The methodology proposed here for building the ontological description comprises two major processes: (1) a gradually refinement of the granularity of the service system description, starting from the ten foundational concepts, on one side, and (2) the interconnection of the *Service System* description with the *Organizational System* description and *System of Systems* description, respectively. These design stages are briefly discussed below.

A. A Basic Service System Ontology. Fig. 6 describes a first approach in the description of the Service System, based on the ten foundation concepts of Service Science. The relations, or conceptual links, are of same types as the ones proposed in [5]. Except the central concept, Service System, the other two concepts which are not among the ten foundational Service Science concepts are: Service and Value Proposition. In the proposed Service System basic ontology, the concept Service collapses a twofold significance: (1) A classical economic meaning: Service as a client-provider value proposition based interaction and (2) A Systems Approach meaning: Service as a subsystem of

Type of link	Significance
B is a type of A	The concept named B is element of an upper category named A
B can be of type A	A concept named B can be abstractly instanced in a category named A. The "can be of type" relation is less restrictive than "is a type of" relation.
B is part of A	The concept named B is a mandatory part of the concept named A.
A has(min:max) B	The concept named A has between a min and a max number of concepts named B.
B is instance of A	The concept named B is a particular real or conceptual case of a concept named A.
B general relation A	The concept named B is in a user defined relation with a concept named A.

Fig. 6. Relations and their significance (adapted from [5])

the Service System, composed of interconnected Business Processes aimed to generate value propositions and corresponding service interactions.

With this last meaning, the Service is composed of its major parts: Service Outcomes, Value Proposition, Service Interactions and, of course, the Service Measures making possible the performance evaluation of the outcomes. Value Proposition - if successfully repeated, understood as a business model [16] of the firm modeled as Service System - is the promise the provider makes to the customer, if the last one accepts to interact and "buy" this promise. The relation "Service System generates Service" emphasizes the fact that the Service System triggers the events that start the business processes in the Service, considered as a subsystem. In this view, the Service Resource and Service Entity concepts, i.e. the means and actors, are related to the Service System upper level, and not to the Service lower level.

B. Including Details: A Finer Granularity Service System Ontology. An increase in the granularity of the basic Service System ontology can be obtained by processing the specifications concerning the ten foundational Service Science concepts [16], [17]. This drives to a richer domain and a richer set of relevant conceptual relations [24].

In this proposal, the details included in the basic Service System ontology refer new relations between existent concepts (Fig. 7) and new concepts (Fig. 8) together with the new corresponding relationships (Fig. 9).

Source Concept name	Relation	Destination Concept name
Stakeholder	Evaluates	Service Measure

Fig. 7. The basic Service System ontology – new relations between existent concepts

C. A Systemic Perspective – Integrating the Service System Ontology with a System Ontology. In the sense discussed in [24], one can consider the Service System ontology a domain ontology that can be related to more general, upper level ontologies.

New concept name	Significance
Service Envelope	Supra-system for Service Envelop
Economic System	
Socio-Cultural System	
Technological System	Subclass of Service Envelope
Political-Legal System	
Natural Ecological System	
Owned Outright	
Leased-Contracted	
Shared Access	Subclass of Access Right
Privileged Access	
Technology	
Shared Information	
Person	Subclass of Service Resource
Organizational System of Systems	
Customer	
Partner	
Authority	Subclass of Stakeholder
Competitor	
Provider	
Quality	Subclass of Service Measure
Productivity	
Compliance	
Sustainable Innovation	
Value	Subclass of Service Outcome

Fig. 8. The basic Service System ontology – relations between new concepts [16]

Source Concept name	Relation	Destination Concept name
Service Envelope	has(2:N)	Service System Ecology
(Economic System, Socio Cultural System, Technological System, Political Legal System, Natural Ecological System)	Is part of	Service Envelope
(Owned Outright, Leased Contracted, Shared Access, Privileged Access)	Is a type of	Access Right
(Socio Cultural System, Political Legal System)	Influences	Access Right
(Technology, Shared Information, Person, Organizational System of Systems)	Is a type of	Service Resource
(Customer, Partner, Authority, Competitor, Provider)	Is a type of	Stakeholder
(Customer, Partner, Authority, Competitor)	Is part of	Service System Ecology
Service Measure	Can be of type	(Quality, Productivity, Compliance, Sustainable Innovation)
Service Outcome	Can be of type	Value

Fig. 9. The basic Service System ontology – new relations between new concepts and other concepts

Fig. 4 depicts the fundamental aspects of this integration process. The **System** module is a simplified representation of a *System of Systems* top-level ontology, while the **Organization** module is a simplified representation of *Organizational System of Systems* ontology. This last ontology refers artificial Systems of Systems and it has a higher degree of generality than the Service System ontology. The **Business Process** concept included in the management subsystem in the operational subsystem of an organization [19] represents an upper class for the service processes evolving in the **Service** as a subsystem of the

Service System. Note also that the link from the Service System concept to the Organizational System of Systems concept, and, finally, from this point to the System of Systems concept and to the Viable System concept illustrate the high level of generality of systems' viability, as key survival condition: natural and artificial systems may both share this attribute. In a specific way, modern IT-based technologies provide the opportunity, for artificial systems, to mimic the specific behavior patterns of viable natural systems.

4 Extending the General Ontology Structure for Service Science

This section presents a working style in extending the general Service Science ontology towards relation formation with other knowledge resources in the extended SSKE ontology. It presents the integration of a specific knowledge category, Activities for Services. As Fig. 4 presents, an Organizational System is a type of General System and consists of a set of business processes performed into two main subsystems: the management system and the productive system [19], [5]. According to [25], a Business Process consists of a set of activities that are performed in coordination in an organizational and technical environment. These activities jointly realize a business goal. Each Business Process is enacted by a single organization, but it may interact with business processes performed by other organizations. At the same time, an Activity for Services (Fig. 10) is a kind of Business Process.

The activities that a company fulfills in order to achieve its business goal or business functions [25], [26] can be partitioned into primary, or core functions and support functions. Each of Core Activities for Services, Support Activities for Services, Service Performance Evaluation *is part of* Activities for Services. Also, as the management system always needs a feedback to its decisions, and as value co-creation is a characteristic desired Service Outcome, creating value makes necessary the process of Service Performance Evaluation. In a Service System, the Service Performance Evaluation process is aimed to monitor and analyze the information provided by Service Measures (Fig. 11). From different perspectives, defined by the Stakeholder's interests, the service measures as Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) contribute to define the service performance.

5 SSKE Implementation

The extended SSKE ontology for Service Science was implemented in a collaborative physical platform available on-line at http://sske.cloud.upb.ro and the map of information classified in the SSKE as knowledge resources dedicated to the Service Science domain can be inspected in the Keywords section. Wiki technologies were chosen to store the environment in the cloud [27].

The flow of work consisted on firstly building the ontology and then integrating it in the cloud-based deployed wiki. The entire flow actually consists of multiple steps, briefly described as follows:

27



Fig. 10. Extending the Service Science ontology - Activities for Services in the extended SSKE ontology



Fig. 11. Extending the Service Science ontology - Service Measures

1. The design of the ontology dedicated to Service Science knowledge sharing. The main entities and the relationships between them were identified and presented in section 2. Further, the ontology was built using an ontology editing tool (e.g. Protégé), that stores the internal representation of the graphical UML model in one of the possible ontology languages, like RDF or OWL. Next, the conceptual model exported in a RDF file was imported it into the wiki. Once the model is imported into the wiki, the wiki engine offers a graphical view of the ontology;

- 2. Deployment in the cloud. The SSKE is the knowledge resource sharing component of the INSER@SPACE [28] for which the cloud computing technology along with its related business model were used;
- 3. *Knowledge retrieving*. This working capability allows stored knowledge to be retrieved on a graphically form through the query interface.

6 Conclusions

The main goal of the approach proposed in this work was to define an extended view on different concepts related to the development of the Service Science domain of study, reflected in the **extended SSKE ontology**. Based on this extended ontology classifying different knowledge resources related to this domain, a collaborative environment – the **Service Science Knowledge Environment** (**SSKE**)– intended to gather together different academic partners was developed with the overall aim of creating a body of knowledge in the areas of *science, design* and *management of services*, while promoting *service innovation* in different service sectors. It supports sharing relevant information on Service Science stored in a structured way based on a common vocabulary using the extended integrated ontology.

The perspective introduced by this approach connects Service Science fundamental concepts to business related concepts. The SSKE was developed on three directions, i.e. research, education and support for business alliances. In a Service Science approach, service organizations are studied as service systems evolving in their environment (service system ecology), in the pursuit of their business goal, according to a specific business model called service business model. Service business models reflect the features of the service sector to which the organization belongs to and finally they describe activities for services as business processes. Successful service business models are crucial for the service system viability and they are related to service innovation.

As this work describes, specific items of service business models such as a) target markets and *customers*, b) product offerings or *value propositions*, c) distribution channels (*activities for services*), and d) constraints and profits, together with the description of case studies and business solutions in various *service sectors* are subject of intense research and debate in the *Service Science* literature.

The SSKE platform foster service innovation by allowing different stakeholders to arrive to a consensus in terms of Service Science fundamentals and build together the future knowledge in the field of Service Science. In the future, research groups can also come together to further extend the proposed shared conceptualization.

References

 Oliveira, P., Hocová, P., Nóvoa, H.: DELLIISS - DEsigning Lifelong Learning for Innovation in Information Services Science: Learning Trajectories. Deliverable D2 WP4, 60 pages (July 20, 2010)
- Ferrario, R., Guarino, N.: Towards an Ontological Foundation for Services Science. In: Domingue, J., Fensel, D., Traverso, P. (eds.) FIS 2008. LNCS, vol. 5468, pp. 152–169. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)
- Ferrario, R., Guarino, N., Fernndez-Barrera, M.: Towards an Ontological Foundation for Services Science: The Legal Perspective. In: Approaches to Legal Ontologies, vol. 1, pp. 235–258. Springer (2011)
- Mora, M., Raisinghani, M.S., OConnor, R., Gelman, O.: Toward an Integrated Conceptualization of the Service and Service System Concepts: A Systems Approach. International Journal of Information Systems in the Service Sector 1, 36–57 (2009)
- Mora, M., Raisinghani, M., Gelman, O., Sicilia, M.A.: Onto-ServSys: A Service System Ontology. In: Demirkan, H., et al. (eds.) The Science of Service Systems, Service Science: Research and Innovations in the Service Economy, pp. 151–173. Springer Science+Business Media (2011)
- Poels, G., Van Der Vurst, G., Lemey, E.: Towards an Ontology and Modeling Approach for Service Science. In: Falcão e Cunha, J., Snene, M., Nóvoa, H. (eds.) IESS 2013. LNBIP, vol. 143, pp. 285–291. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)
- Lusch, R.F., Vargo, S.L., Wessels, G.: Toward a conceptual foundation for service science: Contributions from service-dominant logic. IBM Systems Journal 47(1), 7–14 (2008)
- Spohrer, J., Maglio, P.P., Bailey, J., Gruhl, D.: Steps Toward a Science of Service Systems. Computer 40, 71–77 (2007)
- Lemey, E., Poels, G.: Towards a service system ontology for service science. In: Kappel, G., Maamar, Z., Motahari-Nezhad, H.R. (eds.) ICSOC 2011. LNCS, vol. 7084, pp. 250–264. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- Dragoicea, M., Borangiu, T.: A Service Science Knowledge Environment in the Cloud. In: Borangiu, T., Thomas, A., Trentesaux, D. (eds.) Service Orientation in Holonic and Multi Agent. SCI, vol. 472, pp. 229–246. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)
- Dubois, E., Falcão e Cunha, J., Lonard, M.: Towards an Executive Master Degree for the New Job Profile of a Service System Innovation Architect. In: Service Research and Innovation Institute, SRII 2011 Global Conference, San Jose, USA, pp. 30–34 (2011), doi:2011.03.30-04.02
- Spohrer, J., Kwan, S.K.: Service Science, Management, Engineering, and Design (SSMED): Outline and References. International Journal of Information Systems in the Service Sector (IJISSS) 1(3) (2009)
- Vargo, S.L., Lusch, R.F.: Editing Evolving to a New Dominant Logic for Marketing. Journal of Marketing 68, 1–17 (2004)
- Fragidis, G., Tarabanis, K.: Towards an Ontological Foundation of Service Dominant Logic. In: Snene, M., Ralyté, J., Morin, J.-H. (eds.) IESS 2011. LNBIP, vol. 82, pp. 201–215. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- Roelens, B., Lemey, E., Peoels, G.: A Service Science Perspective on Business Modelling. In: The 6th Int. Workshop on Value Modelling and Business Ontology, VMBO 201, Vienna, Austria, February 20-21 (2012), http://vmbo2012.isis.tuwien.ac.at
- Spohrer, J., Anderson, L., Pass, N., Ager, T.: Service science and service-dominant logic. Paper no:2, Otago Forum 2. Academic Papers (2008)
- Barile, S., Polese, F.: Smart service systems and viable service systems: applying systems theory to service science. Service Science 2(1/2), 21–40 (2010)
- Ackoff, R.L.: Towards a system of systems concepts. Management Science 17(11), 661–671 (1971)

- Mora, M., Gelman, O., Cervantes, F., et al.: A systemic approach for the formalization of the information system concept: why information systems are systems. In: Cano, J. (ed.) Critical reflections of information Systems: A Systemic Approach, pp. 1–29. Idea Group, Hershey (2003)
- Mora, M., Raisinghani, M., OConnor, R., Gelman, O.: Toward an Integrated Conceptualization of the Service and Service System Concepts: A Systemic Approach. In: Wang, J. (ed.) Information Systems and New Applications in the Service Sector: Models and Methods, Business Science Reference, pp. 152–172. IGI Global (2011)
- Smith, J.A., Harikumar, J., Ruth, B.G.: An Army-Centric Systems of Systems Analysis Definition. Report ARL-TR-5446, U.S. Army Research Laboratory, Information and Electronic Protection Laboratory (2011), http://www.dtic.mil/cgi-bin/GetTRDoc?AD=ADA538257
- 22. Beer, S.: Brain of the Firm, 2nd edn. John Wiley (1994)
- 23. Espejo, R.: Viable System Model. A Briefing about Organizational Structure (2003), http://www.systemswiki.org/andhttp://www.syncho.com/
- Guarino, N.: Formal Ontology and Information Systems. In: Guarion, N. (ed.) Proce. Of FOIS 1998, Trento, Italy, June 6-8, pp. 3–15. IOS Press, Amsterdam (2008)
- Weske, M.: Business Process Management. Concepts, Languages, Architectures, 2nd edn. Springer (2012)
- 26. Brown, S.: Business Process and Business Functions: a new way of looking at employment. Monthly Labour Review (2008), http://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2008/12/art3full.pdf
- 27. INSEED: Service Science Knowledge Environment (2013), http://sske.cloud.upb.ro/wiki/
- 28. INSEED: Strategic program fostering innovation in services through open, continuous education (2013), http://www.inseed.cimr.pub.ro/

How Open Data Are Turned into Services?

Muriel Foulonneau¹, Sébastien Martin², and Slim Turki¹

¹ Public Research Centre Henri Tudor, 29, av. John F. Kennedy name.surname@tudor.lu
² Paris VIII University, Vincennes-Saint-Denis, France

Abstract. The Open Data movement has mainly been a data provision movement. The release of Open Data is usually motivated by (i) government transparency (citizen access to government data), (ii) the development of services by third parties for the benefit for citizens and companies (typically smart city approach), or (iii) the development of new services that stimulate the economy. The success of the Open Data movement and its return on investment should therefore be assessed among other criteria by the number and impact of the services created based on those data. In this paper, we study the development of services based on open data and means to make the data opening process more effective.

Keywords: Open data, service design, best practices.

1 Introduction

Since 2009 and the rallying of the U.S. government^{1,2} to the openness philosophy, the open data movement has grown remarkably. It has allowed releasing thousands of datasets on the Web from the eGovernment, eHealth and cultural heritage sectors in particular. In Europe, in 2013, a new release of the Public Sector Information directive³ was issued by the European Commission to include in particular cultural heritage data in the public data that has to be made openly accessible by public institutions in Europe.

The Open Data movement however has mainly been a data provision movement. The release of Open Data is usually motivated by:

- 1. government transparency (citizen access to government data),
- 2. the development of services by third parties for the benefit for citizens and companies (typically smart city approach), or
- 3. the development of new services that stimulate the economy (Martin et al., 2013).

¹ Obama B., Memorandum on Transparency and Open Government (Jan. 21, 2009), available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/ freedom-information-act

² Office of Management and Budget's (OMB), Memorandum M-1 0-06, Open Government Directive (Dec. 8, 2009), available at http://goo.gl/LcxbZE

³ Directive 2013/37/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 amending Directive 2003/98/EC on the re-use of public sector information known as the "PSI Directive"

M. Snene and M. Leonard (Eds.): IESS 2014, LNBIP 169, pp. 31–39, 2014.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

The success of the Open Data movement and its return on investment should therefore be assessed among other criteria by the number and impact of the services created based on those data. While many platforms are supported by initiatives dedicated to the creation of services based on open data, so far the development of sustainable services based on open data has been extremely disappointing. In this paper, we study the development of services based on open data and means to make the data opening process more effective. In many cases, services are delivered through applications. We nevertheless use the generic term of services as "a set of deeds and acts performed by or on behalf of an agent for the benefit of a citizen, a business or another agent" as an extension of the definition provided in the Core Public Service Vocabulary⁴.

2 Existing Approaches to Encourage the Creation of Services Based on Open Data

Existing open data initiatives are often accompanied to some extent of actions dedicated to facilitating the creation of services.

2.1 Intellectual Property Rights and Reuse Conditions

The Singapore open data platform⁵ insists on having well documented IPR on each dataset, while the Europeana⁶ initiative has set the Data Exchange Agreement which all data providers have to sign in order to have their data included in the platform. The Data Exchange Agreement specifies the release of all data (metadata in this case) transferred to Europeana with a CC0 license, i.e., the data is in the public domain. The stated objective of this policy is to ensure the lowest possible barrier to reuse and in particular that reusers will not have to address heterogeneous reuse conditions when reusing multiple datasets in conjunction. Nevertheless the enforcement of a single and so open license has created a number of issues with cultural heritage institutions which have invested large resources in the manual creation of these metadata for years. In France in particular, the legislation applicable to cultural heritage metadata was an obstacle; in 2013, the French Ministry of Culture and Communication has therefore launched a study to verify the actual financial revenue that sold cultural data were bringing so as to weigh these revenues in regard with the Open Data release potential.

⁴ Core Public Service Vocabulary 1.01, designed under the auspices of the ISA programme of the European Commission (Interoperability Solution for European Public Administrations), available at http://goo.gl/cThwGX

⁵ Launched in June 2011, http://data.gov.sg brings together over 8600 datasets from 60 government ministries and agencies.

⁶ http://www.europeana.eu/

2.2 Dataset Discoverability

In order to make datasets accessible, Open Data portals at regional, national and international level aggregate metadata on datasets. Many different vocabularies can be used to describe datasets, from VoID to POWDER, the Dublin Core Collection application profile or DDI (Foulonneau, 2012). The current heterogeneity of metadata is clearly an obstacle to their discovery (Martin et al., 2013). The harmonization of metadata, typically through such vocabularies as DCAT⁷ can help the discovery of datasets.

2.3 Training and Support

Generally the release of open data is not sufficient to make them accessible and understandable by reusers. The European Network for Transparency Spending Accountability (ETNA) for instance which promotes a citizen's control over the expenditure of the public sector attempts to make financial information more understandable. Indeed reuse requires technical skills and extensive knowledge of the context of data that are beyond the reach of a large part of the population (Remiti, 2012). They therefore propose to simplify the presentation of the public accounts, open an API to exploit the well-organized data and develop applications, grounded in part on social networks.

In its report for the German Open Data platform (Klessmann & al., 2012), the Fraunhofer FOKUS institute advises the creation of a platform to support reusers and help them reuse the data.

In order to lower the technical barrier as well as the time required to develop a new service, certain data publishers create APIs. In France Logica has been appointed to develop an API that facilitates the development of services based on the open data sets of *data.gouv.fr.* In Singapore, an API provides access to the datasets recorded on the portal. Reusers therefore do not have to address format heterogeneity and the learning curve to reuse open datasets is steeper.

In May 2013, the White House ordered federal agencies to create public APIs that could be used by government and private developers to tap in to data. Furthermore, within Project Open Data⁸, free, open source tools are released on Github to accelerate the adoption of open data practices by providing plug-and-play tools and best practices to help agencies improve the management and release of open data⁹. Anyone, from government agencies to private citizens to local governments and for-profit companies, can freely use and adapt these tools starting immediately (Cohen, 2013).

The World Bank platform is one of the few exceptions and provides various training services. It offers training material to help potential reusers how to get data and to represent data it into maps¹⁰. These first elements do not provide the

⁷ http://www.w3.org/TR/vocab-dcat/

⁸ http://project-open-data.github.io/

⁹ For example, one tool released automatically converts simple spread-sheets and databases into APIs for easier consumption by developers.

¹⁰ http://data.worldbank.org/node/2379

knowledge that may be required for a deeper use of data by advanced re-users data, but represent at least a basis. In addition they may be used for courses in secondary education and prepare students for a pervasive use of public data in the long term.

To acquire more knowledge, service developers can rely on initiatives from third parties, for example the Open Knowledge Foundation, which offers courses on open data¹¹. For stakeholders who may not have extensive technical knowledge but wish to work on the data (e.g. data journalists), it founded a School of data in 2012¹². At a further level, the Open Data Institute and the University of Southampton have developed an academic training focused on open data, including a module named "Consuming open data"¹³.

2.4 Publicizing Datasets

When data producers publish new datasets, they have to make the datasets known to reusers to optimize the chances that reusers will take advantage of datasets. The French National Library for instance has established contacts with the semantic community to make new datasets known so as to facilitate the creation of new services. They publicize on virtual community channels the information and reach potential reusers for their data.bnf.fr datasets.

Many Open Data initiatives include competitions for service creations. Hackathons consist in locking developers, whether citizens, public sector employees, researchers, company programmers or any other interested party to create services in a short amount of times, typically 1 or 2 days. The development can be individual or the result of joint code developed on site. Europeana for instance organized several hackhatons. The Paris city in France has organized an open data competition¹⁴ in collaboration with companies opening their data (e.g., JC Decaux which manages the bicycle service in Paris or the local transportation companies). Off-site competitions can also be organized, such as the Veni, Vidi, Vici competitions organized by the European LinkedUp project to encourage reuse of educational datasets. It is accompanied by monetary prizes (39.500€). Other types of competitions can be organized only for service ideas, such as the Global Service Jam¹⁵ (not specific to data driven services). People compete in teams around the world to propose the best service idea/concept. It does not have to be accompanied by working code however but can be presented as prototypes, slides, videos, animations or any other means that can be uploaded on the Internet.

These actions show the variety of services that can be created based on open datasets. They are effective at raising the awareness of developers and service creators on the potential for reuse of the open datasets. They do not however contribute to the creation of sustainable services and most often services created in these contexts do not lead to the development of actual sustainable services.

¹¹ http://okfn.org/training/

¹² http://schoolofdata.org/

¹³ http://theodi.org/pg-certificate#module2

¹⁴ http://www.paris.fr/mobilierurbain

¹⁵ http://www.globalservicejam.org/

2.5 Ensuring the Creation of Sustainable Services

In order to ensure the creation of sustainable services however the Singapore government organizes co-funding of services. All the same, the European Commission co-funds the development of services to take advantage of geographic information coming from the Galileo satellite¹⁶ and services that reuse open datasets (open access to scientific outcomes experimentation calls in ICT-PSP and services based on open geographic data).

2.6 Publicizing Services to Show Reuse and Encourage Service Usage

Most Open Data portals include a section to show services and applications that use the datasets. The App showroom suggested by the FOKUS report on the Berlin Open Data portal "Anwendungen"¹⁷, the "Apps" section¹⁸ on the data.gov.uk portal, the "Mobile Apps Gallery"¹⁹ section on the data.gov portal, the "Application Showcase" on the Singapore portal²⁰, and the "Application showcase" section²¹ of the World Bank data portal illustrate the systematic addition of a section dedicated to services.

2.7 The Selection of Datasets to Open

In order to identify the datasets to open, it is either possible to investigate which datasets are already available, whose IPR conditions would allow a publication under an open licence, and whose quality is sufficient. However recently Open data promoters are also investigating what citizens and potential reusers are interested in. The FOKUS study advises to launch a survey to collect potential reusers' opinion. In 2013 the French ministry of culture launched a survey for the selection of priority datasets for open data release.

3 Typology of Created Services

It can be difficult to monitor the services created based on open data sets. The World Bank for instance makes its datasets available only through APIs. It is therefore easier to monitor actual reuse of the data. However, most often open data catalogues list datasets that are available for download. The number of downloads can be monitored (Fig. 1). However the effective reuse of the data is more difficult to trace if reusers do not establish a direct contact with the data publishers.

¹⁶ http://www.gsa.europa.eu/galileo-0

¹⁷ http://daten.berlin.de/anwendungen

¹⁸ http://data.gov.uk/apps

¹⁹ http://apps.usa.gov/

²⁰ http://data.gov.sg/AppShowcase/AppList.aspx

²¹ http://data.worldbank.org/developers/application-showcase



Fig. 1. Most popular datasets on the Paris Open Data portal²²

Services created based on Open Data are listed on the UK Open Data portal as well as the Singapore Open Data portal. As of 2013, the data.gov.uk portal lists 301 apps and the Singapore open data portal around 110. On the UK portal in particular, the domains of the application include economy (e.g., Property prize, jobmarket), environment (e.g., Use of renewable energies), transparency (e.g., Availability of governmental financial data with the famous application « Where does my money go? »), society (Criminality map), local services (e.g., best surgery services next to me, postal code where I am, fuel station search), education (e.g., geological layers where I stand), and citizen life (e.g., elections results, « UK arms export licence browser »). On the Singaporean portal, available applications concern mainly navigation and mobility (traffic, maps), Tourism, Environment, Security (Emergency contacts points), Religion (places of worship), Business (Multiple listing of companies registred in Singapore) and open jobs in public administrations.



Fig. 2. Distribution of applications reusing open data sets on data.gov.uk

²² http://opendata.paris.fr/opendata/

Fig. 2 illustrates the domain of the applications created based on datasets from the data.gov.uk portal, while Fig. 3 shows the distribution of the domains themselves. Although categories are not exactly similar, the comparison of both figures shows the discrepancy between the low number of geographic and transportation datasets and the very large proportion of transportation services. Although there is no direct equivalence between the domain of the dataset and the domain of the service that reuses it, this suggests the quite uneven potential of datasets for reuse. While transportation datasets appear to have a high reusability potential, education datasets attract less reusers in proportion of their quantity.

The domain is clearly not the only element to take into consideration when assessing the reusability of a dataset. Nevertheless it should be noted that data opening decisions only recently consulted potential reusers regarding the selection of datasets to open.



Fig. 3. Distribution of datasets by topic on the data.gov.uk portal

4 How Are Datasets Reused?

We investigated 106 UK applications and the way in which they reuse datasets. 78% (83) only reuse a single dataset. As an exception, Sketchmap.co.uk uses 19 datasets. The most reused datasets are Code-Point® Open and the National Public Transport Access Nodes (NaPTAN). However it should be noted that it is sometimes due to application clones. The first application providing information on postal codes being successful, clones have been created and reuse the same dataset. This also suggests that transportation datasets are indeed popular.

Overall, 80% of applications (184/231) are available for free. Others are most often sold for less than 1£. The most downloaded app available via GooglePlay is NHS direct app (medical diagnostic) with more than 100.000 downloads. This application was however created by the same administration which released the data.

In (Martin et al., 2013), we showed the distribution of the formats of open data. A study of visualization applications for open data shows that in most cases the RDF serialization is not used (Atemezing, 2013). Although the popular NaPTAN dataset is available in RDF among other formats, it is impossible to know which format was reused.

5 Evaluation of Open Data Initiatives

The success of open data should be evaluated also according to the usage, audience, and uniqueness of the services, according to the changes it has entailed in the public institutions that have opened their data (e.g., improved data management, increase information sharing culture), the business opportunities it has created, the citizen and business perception of the city (open data as a communication tool on how modern a city or country is), the modification to particular markets it has entailed (e.g., make available traffic data not only to big players such as Google who have their own large scale data collection mechanism but also to smaller players who cannot afford the entry barrier on the market raised by the use of a massive crowdsourcing approach (e.g., NL, ref Stijn) or on the opposite the capitation of all the learners around large institution with widely established reputations, leaving them a large advance on the marketable data (usage data of MooCs sold to recruiters for instance and paid certificates) with which smaller players will never be able to catch up), or the sustainability of the services created, or even the new dialog created with citizens (e.g., open legislation process in the UK).

6 Conclusion

Existing studies suggest that reusers are not really interested in open datasets. It is clearly not a demand driven initiative but rather an initiative of data providers who assume to a large extent and hope for a possible impact particularly in terms of service creation. The inadequacy between the datasets released and the services actually created as well as between the claims of huge potential service creations and the low demand from service creators, particularly companies raise questions. Are reusers aware of the potential reuse of datasets or do not they really need them? Is there an adequacy between the datasets that are of interest to reusers and the datasets? Which are the obstacles to reuse?

Generally is the potential impact of open data in terms of service creation really inflated or are there obstacles to data reuse that have not been sufficiently addressed?

References

- 1. Atemezing, R.: Towards Interoperable Visualization Applications Over Linked Data. In: Talk Given at the 2nd European Data Forum (EDF), Dublin, Ireland (April 2013), http://goo.gl/JhVrax
- 2. Both, W., Schieferdecker, I.: Berliner Open Data-Strategie. Fraunhofer Verlag (2012)
- 3. Cohen, R.: Obama Signs Open Data Executive Order: U.S. Government Data To Be Made Freely Available. Forbes (May 2013), http://goo.gl/sb7cSr
- Foulonneau, M.: Cultural Heritage Collections: From Content Curation to Semantic Services and the Semantic Web. Uncommon Culture 3(5/6) (2012)

- Klessmann, J., Denker, P., Schieferdecker, I., Schulz, S.E.: Open Government Data Germany. Short Version of the Study on Open Government in Germany Commissioned by the Federal Ministry of the Interior (July 2012)
- Martin, S., Foulonneau, M., Turki, S.: 1-5 Stars: Metadata on the Openness Level of Open Data Sets in Europe. In: Garoufallou, E., Greenberg, J. (eds.) MTSR 2013. CCIS, vol. 390, pp. 234–245. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)
- Remiti, F.: European Transparency Network for spending Accountability (ETNA). In: PMOD 2012, Using Open Data: Policy Modeling, Citizen Empowerment, Data Journalism, Brussels (June 2012)

A Classification Framework of Value Co-creation in Electronic and Mobile Services

Garyfallos Fragidis^{1,2}, Dimitri Konstantas¹, and Dimitri Paschaloudis²

¹University of Geneva, Faculty of Economic and Social Sciences, Battelle bâtiment A, 7 route de Drize, CH-1227 Carouge, Switzerland Garyfallos.Fragkidis@etu.unige.ch, dimitri.konstantas@unige.ch ² Technological Education Institute of Central Macedonia, Terma Magnesias, 62124 Serres, Greece {garyf, dim}@teicm.gr

Abstract. The concept of value co-creation provides a new perspective in the research and the operation of service systems. In the literature we can find plethora of references to the significance of value co-creation and the disruptive impact it may have on research, the business practices and the social life. However, we still lack comprehensive frameworks of value co-creation that would help understanding deeply and in a systematic way the characteristics, the dimensions, the methods and the implications of value co-creation. This paper makes a step in this direction by presenting a classification framework for value co-creation in electronic and mobile services. The proposed framework is developed in three dimensions referring to the leading actor in the co-creation process, the domain of activities for value co-creation and the scale of customer participation and proposes ten types of value co-creation activities.

Keywords: value co-creation, service systems, e-services, mobile services, service science.

1 Introduction

The concept of value co-creation refers in general to the active participation of the customer in a variety of activities performed with the support of the service provider, in order to create value collaboratively. The concept of value co-creation has added new dimensions in the research in many fields and it plays today an increasingly important role in science. In information systems, in particular, 'service science' was emerged as a movement for the scientific study of service systems that would challenge and boost service innovations [8]. Service systems are envisioned as a "dynamic value co-creation configuration of resources, including people, organizations, shared information, and technology" [44]. Value co-creation is assumed to be "the primary object of study in service systems" [45]; service science is seen as "the systematic search for principles and approaches that can help understand and improve all kinds of value co-creation" [45], boiled down to "the study of value-co-creation phenomena" [45]. In a similar way, in marketing value co-creation is not

M. Snene and M. Leonard (Eds.): IESS 2014, LNBIP 169, pp. 40–55, 2014.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

anymore restricted to business-to-business collaboration, but it includes also the end user/ consumer [33, 38]. Hence, value co-creation rebalances the focus of interest from the conventional business-oriented approaches (e.g. the unidirectional flow of goods and value from producers to consumers by adjusting, for instance, the marketing mix) to customer-oriented ones (e.g. collaboration with the customer in the different phases of the product life cycle, emphasis on complete solutions for the customer, etc.), reflecting the contemporary spirit of marketing as an 'open' value creation and dissemination procedure [43].

Technology is a key enabler of value co-creation, as it is a typical kind of 'operant resource' [46]. Information technology, especially, is very critical for the development of service systems, as services are information intensive and, therefore, prone to digitalization and electronic provision [42], customization, personalization and aggregation [3]. The Internet, Web platforms and mobile applications provide a basis for collaboration and value co-creation with the customer/ user. Many recent technological trends, quite often summarized under the term 'Web 2.0', are related to the customer/ user empowerment, engagement and participation in the different phases of the production processes and in the creation of value. The European Internet Foundation [12] proposed 'mass collaboration' as the key activity that will potentially shape the world by 2025.

Today there are numerous Web applications and business models that are based on the customer participation and contribution in the development of software or content, the sharing of resources, the initiation of new projects, etc. Mobile technologies and applications are seen today as the most fast-forward segment of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT). Mobile services are characterized by increased personalization (as mobile applications are usually personal) and context awareness. Both these characteristics are important in value co-creation, rendering mobile services a fertile ground for value co-creation.

By preserving a primary role for the customer, value co-creation provides a very challenging concept for the development of innovative applications and business models, especially in the era of thriving of social networks, mobile services and other user-oriented technologies. In the literature we can find plethora of references to the significance of value co-creation and the disruptive impact it may evoke on the technological progress, the business practices and the social life in general.

However, value co-creation is a multifaceted concept that encompasses many different aspects of customer participation, directly or indirectly. Hence, different people tend to attach to value co-creation (very) different meanings, which contribute to the complexity and sometimes the vagueness of the term and may cast doubt on its potential to redefine the role of the customer and introduce new business and social models. Gronroos [14] points out the metaphorical use of the term in many cases, aiming to emphasize the importance of the customers in the value creation process. But he [14] warns that sometimes, when a term becomes too broad and tends to be used to describe or explain almost everything, it runs the risk of becoming empty of meaning. Others have also pointed out the difficulties in the analysis of value co-creation [35] and the need for further study requires further study [45].

The rational for this paper comes from the limited understanding and the lack of methods for the analysis of value co-creation processes. In particular, we still lack comprehensive frameworks of value co-creation that would help understanding deeply and in a systematic way the characteristics, the dimensions, the methods and the implications of value co-creation. The paper aims to make a step in this direction by providing a framework for value co-creation that emphasizes on electronic and mobile services. The proposed framework distinguishes the key types of value co-creation, the key roles of actors and the potential for collaboration. Electronic and mobile services and applications are used to explain the types of value co-creation.

The rest of the paper is structured as such: in section 2 we review the literature to analyse the concept and the characteristics of value co-creation and the basic ways with which it is manifested; in addition we review the characteristics of value co-creation in ICT, in e-services and mobile services and applications. Based on the review of the literature, we propose in section 3 a framework for value co-creation in electronic and mobile services and we analyze the types of value co-creation. In section 4 we provide examples of electronic and mobile services and application to clarify some aspects of the proposed framework. The paper finishes with the insights and implications of the research, the conclusions and directions for future research.

2 Literature Review

2.1 The Concept of Value Co-creation

Value co-creation is extensively studied in the service marketing and management literature. A major contribution in the discussion of value co-creation comes from the Service Dominant (S-D) logic [46, 47, 48], which is assumed to provide also the theoretical foundations for the study of service systems [45]. In S-D Logic value co-creation is 'a positive condition', as value is manifested as 'value in use' and 'value in context' that is always co-created in collaborative networks between the customer and other economic and social actors. In particular, the value is not created until the customer integrates and applies the resources of the provider(s) with other proprietary resources that exist in his/her context. Thus, value is uniquely co-created at a given place and time and is 'phenomenologically' determined by the customer [48], based on prevailing circumstances and the existing resources and capabilities.

S-D logic views the customer not as a buyer of output with embedded value, created by the firm, but as an integrator of inputs/ resources provided by the firm, together with other proprietary (knowledge and skills) and external resources to create value. Firms cannot create and deliver value by themselves, but they can only make value propositions and provide service as input to the value co-creation process; if the proposition is accepted, value is co-created, in concert with the customer and possibly other economic and social actors. In S-D logic, all economic and social actors are resource integrators and the distinction between the producer and the consumer is void. The role of the customer in value co-creation is fundamental and it is performed by providing his/her resources (e.g. knowledge and skills), integrating resources or simply providing the context for the creation of value.

From a practical point of view, it is possible to develop services with various levels of customer input and participation. Meuter & Bitner [32] suggest that the degree of user involvement in co-production of services can be aligned on a continuum between firm production, joint production and customer production. In a similar way, Gronroos [14] suggests that value co-creation exists only in the joint activities between the customer and the provider, while both the customer and the provider can also follow their own value creation processes.

In general, the value co-creation processes can be characterized by a variety of factors, such as the identity of the customer (e.g. business, individual, group, etc.), the roles of the provider and the customer (e.g. initiator, contributor, process director, etc.) and the activities the customer performs (e.g. production, design, refinement, finishing, selection, feedback, etc.), the kind of value/ benefit created (e.g. economic or social value, personalization, complete solution, etc.), allocation and the recipient of value (e.g. self, another, the provider or the society), the ways of interaction (e.g. face-to-face, technology-mediated, etc.), the motivation of participation, etc.

In the literature we can distinguish the following key ways of participation and collaboration with the customer for the co-creation of value: co-production, open innovation, customization, personalization and integration. Each of these ways has certain attributes that make it suitable to certain processes, situations and value co-creation goals, while they are inappropriate for others.

Co-production refers in general to the participation of the customer in some phase(s) of the production process as 'partial employee' [6] or 'partial marketer' [16] for the execution of some tasks related usually to the design, the production of the core offering, the assembly, the finishing, the transaction, the delivery or the consumption. Hence, co-production is related to the direct contribution of labor by the customer [30, 37], such as in self-service operations. Besides, co-production emanates a producer-oriented view of customer involvement [35]. In S-D logic, value co-creation and co-production are related in a nested scheme, with the latter being defined as a way of value co-creation, in which "the customer participates directly in the firm's production process somehow" [47]; in addition, co-creation refers mostly to the usage/consumption stage, while co-production refers to the production process. Co-production is largely supported by ICT [32], such as ATMs, web platforms or other online and mobile applications that permit and enable the customer to execute some steps of the production and transaction processes.

In new product development, co-creation is related to co-innovation or open innovation. Open innovation [7] is based on the assumption that innovation can derive from the combination of internal and external ideas and resources; it refers, hence, to opening up the innovation process to customers, communities of users and partner companies. A good reason to do it is the acknowledgement that customers know more than the producer about their needs, their context, their constraints and their desired outcomes. 'Lead customers/users' [19] especially can envision uses and needs and help co-designing ways to support in attaining their needs. The degree of 'openness' of the innovation process can range from totally open to totally closed [20].

Individualized marketing refers to adjusting a product/ service prototype or even re-designing it to bring it closer to the preferences and needs of the customer. With regard to the role of the customer in these activities and value co-creation, we can distinguish the concepts for customization and personalization. Customization allows tailoring a standardized business offering and making a 'custom' version of it that fits better to the customer on an individual basis [26]. Customization is related in most cases to providing a (short) list of choices to the customer and allowing him/her making his/her choices accordingly. In other words, it can be seen as 'a la carte' selection [10]. In the literature the term 'mass customisation' is widely used and it can reveal better the character of this function. Customization is mostly related to (tangible) products and to manufacturing processes, whereas customization in services is studied only marginally. Kannan and Healey [21] explain that in services the customer participates always in the value creation process to develop an individualized offering.

Personalisation aims to allow modifying and adapting an offering by adding or enhancing or altering its features to meet better the customer needs. The relationship between personalisation and customization is widely discussed in the literature, not always leading to consensus. Prahalad and Ramaswamy [39] consider customization as provider-guided procedure, with the provider designing an offering in a way to fit after some adaptation to a variety of customer preferences, while in personalization the key role goes to the customer, who designs, forms and co-creates an offering that meets his/her preferences; the difference, in other words, is between selecting from a wide range of options and creating your product or service. Kumar [27] suggests that personalization fits better to services and e-business processes.

Integration refers to the combination of inputs and resources from various origins for the creation of (enhanced) value. Integration is necessary because of the complexity of needs, which cannot be met by atomic resources elements and simple services. All economic activities are based on the integration of resources, competencies skills and specialisations. In S-D logic [48], all economic actors, including the customer, are resource integrators. Hence, the customer is not a buyer or consumer, but an integrator of inputs to co-create value. The inputs in the value co-creation process may originate from firms, peers and other stakeholder, as well as they can be self-contribution of the customer himself (e.g. personal skills, possesses resources, etc.). In many cases resource integration takes place in networks, such as 'value constellations' [33] and 'value networks' [30].

2.2 Value Co-creation in Electronic and Mobile Services

ICT has great effect on the integration of resources and the opportunities for value cocreation. First of all, in electronic services value is indeed manifested as 'value in use', as a part of the interaction with the service provider and the technological media used, according to the intentions and the skills of the customer. Normann and Ramirez [33] proposed the term 'density of value' to describe the potential of products and services for value creation. The density of value depends of the information and knowledge capacity that exists about the additional uses the product may has, the capacity for integration with other resources and the possibility for the creation of added value. With ICT, the density of value of all products, especially the digital and digitized ones, increases, creating more opportunities for value co-creation. Mashups, for instance, is a good example of the increased density of value of digital resources and the added value they may provide.

ICT affects also significantly the opportunity for customer participation in value creation processes. The Internet, the Web and especially certain technologies and applications related to the Web 2.0 (social media, social software/ computing, etc.) provide several new ways of interaction with the providers, peers and other stakeholders. Social media allow the creation and exchange of user generated content, defined as the sum of all ways in which people make use of social media [23]. The social media landscape includes social networks (generic or specialized), content development communities, media sharing sites, blogs and micro-blogs, social news sites, social bookmarking sites, real-time and presence aware sites, virtual game worlds and virtual social worlds. Social computing empowers individual users with relatively low technological sophistication in using the Web to manifest their creativity in the development of content, to engage in social interaction, contribute in social projects, share content, disseminate information and collaborate in building new applications [34].

Kasper, Koleva and Kett [24] defined five types of social media activities for companies that reflect on the opportunities for customer participation and value cocreation: content development, interaction/ dialog with the customers, listening to the customers, application development (for the customers and potentially by the customers) and networking for maintaining relationships with the customers and stakeholders. Kietzmann et al. [26] describe seven types of attributes of social media that represent specific aspects of the user experience: identity, conversations, sharing, presence (related to the situation and location of the user), relationships, reputation and groups (communities). Linders [28] provides a typology for citizen co-production patterns in social media; the co-production types derive the key roles of the actors on the one dimension (provider and beneficiary) and the stages of service delivery on the other (planning and design, execution, monitoring and evaluation).

Mobile technologies and applications are today at the crest of technological progress; besides they exercise great impact on the social practices. As a result, many of the Web-based applications acquire mobile characteristics and are offered as mobile services and applications, i.e. services and applications that can be accessed and used with mobile technologies and with a mobile appliance. For example, we speak for mobile software computing [29], mobile social media [22], etc. Notice, however, that mobile technologies are not simply an alternative to other physical and online services, but they provide new types of value, new ways for value configuration and the potential for more added value [3]. For example, Verkasalo [49] argue that mobile services provide more value when people are commuting.

The key advantages of mobile services (and their differentiation factors from other e-services and physical services) are often summarized in: ubiquity, localization, personalization, contextualization [17, 29]. In mobile services value is also created as 'value in use', such as with electronic services. Moreover, the use –and consequently value– is manifested in a specific situation in a contextual and idiosyncratic way, that is adapting to environmental conditions and personal traits and preferences.

The idiosyncratic character of mobile services stems largely from the individual use of mobile appliances (i.e. mobile phones are strictly personal and the common use with others is usually avoided). Accordingly, mobile services can be personalized to individual customers and adjusted to user-specific circumstances. In many cases mobile services are provided based on the profile of the user [50]. In mobile applications the centre of the interaction is always the user; user interactions can be focused on the content (user-content), other users (user-user) or content and other users simultaneously (user-user-content [9]. In addition, mobile services can serve the requirements for 'situation dependent services', that is services that significantly depend on the customer's situation and his/ her individual needs [1].

Cortimiglia, Renga and Rangone [9] propose a classification that contains five categories: dynamic content applications, social content applications, social network applications, social matching applications, and social communication applications; the distinction between these application types is not clear-cut, as they tend to mix and share characteristics. Heinonen and Pura [17] suggest that mobile services are formed by the consumption setting, the context, the social setting and the relationship.

2.3 Related Work

In the literature we can find some other related work for the classification of certain aspects of value co-creation. For instance, Roser et al. [40] suggest a 'co-creation family of concepts' that include open innovation, mass customisation, user-generated content, co-production, mass-collaboration and collaborative innovation. Frow el al. [13] describe different types of value co-creation, such as co-conception of idea, co-design, co-production, co-promotion, co-pricing, co-distribution, co-consumption, co- maintenance, co-disposal, co-outsourcing, co-creation of meaning, and co-experiencing. Piller, Ihl and Vossen [36] suggest a typology of methods of co-creation, with an emphasis on open innovation with customers, that is based on three dimensions, addressing the customers' autonomy in the process, the nature of the firm-customer collaboration (dyadic versus community based), and the stage of the innovation process. Related work for the classification of operant and operand resources is provided by Arnould et al. [2], who focus on the consumers, and Baron and Warnaby [5], who focus on organizations.

3 A Proposed Classification Framework of Value Co-creation in Electronic and Mobile Services

It this section we propose a classification framework for value co-creation in electronic and mobile services/applications. The conceptualization of the framework derives from the review of the literature on value co-creation in general and in particular on value co-creation in electronic and mobile services and applications, as it was presented in the previous section. The proposed framework is depicted in fig. 1.

3.1 The Structure of the Framework

The proposed classification framework of value co-creation in electronic and mobile services is developed along three axes:

- The leading partner in the value co-creation process.
- The domain of the value co-creation.
- The scale of user participation.

Value co-creation is about the collaboration of the customer and the provider in the creation of value. The initiative for this, as well as the effort required, is not usually equally balanced between these two actors. Moreover, certain types of co-creation or certain practices are inclining towards the one of the two actors. For instance, as presented in the previous section, co-production and customization are supposed to be producer-oriented processes, while personalization is regarded as customer-oriented; open innovation and integration can be either provider-oriented or customer-oriented, according to the specific environment in which they take place. For this, we suggest that a classification framework is necessary to take into account who has the leading role in the processes.



Fig. 1. A Proposed Classification Framework of Value Co-Creation in Electronic and Mobile Services

Value co-creation can refer to different domains of activities. The proposed classification framework includes five domains of value co-creation activities:

- Co-production
- Content co-development
- Co-innovation
- Co-design
- Integration

Co-production is the execution of some tasks by the customer, who substitutes, complements or enhances the service provider in the service production and delivery processes. It usually occurs with the provider offering a platform for collaboration and the customer participating and contributing -either voluntarily or necessarily- in order to achieve personal objectives, support the provider in the execution of his tasks or improve the characteristics of the service.

Content co-development refers to certain activities related to the production and dissemination of content. One can argue that content it the outcome of some kind of co-production process; however, the uniqueness of its nature and its pre-dominance in electronic services and especially social media applications suggest including content as a separate domain of value co-creation. This will give us the chance to study content development as a separate domain of value co-creation activities, to analyze its underlying attributes and discern its differences from value co-creation in other domains.

Co-innovation refers to the activities performed for the development of a new service or application, or the improvement or enhancement of existing ones with new features; such activities move beyond the regular/ core product development processes and they may cover all the phases of the product life-cycle, from idea generation, to design, to marketing and after sales services.

Co-design refers to making decisions for the features of a service or application in order to bring it closer to the customer's preferences and needs. The customer sets the (new) requirements of the service or application and the provider adjusts it. So, in co-design the customer does not participate in the production process, which remains the job of the provider.

Integration refers to the aggregation of services and applications, either from the same or from different providers, and their functional integration in a new service composition or a service sequence. Service integration becomes necessary because of the complexity of customer's needs, that cannot be met frequently by simple, atomic services.

The third axis refers to the scaling of customer participation in the value cocreation processes. On the one hand, we can have binary relationships between one customer and one provider; on the other hand, we can have multilateral relationships with more than one customers and providers that form and participate in value networks or service ecosystems. The proposed framework reflects the possibility to have many customers participating in the value co-creation process. We distinguish between one-to-one relationships with the provider and one-to-many relationships; in the latter case we can have 'peers' (only) participating in a small scale and 'familiar' value co-creation process, as well as the wider community participating in a large scale and open value co-creation process. In all cases it is supposed that one or many providers can participate.

3.2 Types of Value Co-creation

The framework results in the following types of value co-creation, which derive from the two basic dimensions, the identity of the leading partner in the value co-creation process and the domain of the value co-creation activity; the third axis, peers and community participation, provides depth in the framework, but does not change in the first place the types of value co-creation.

In *co-production* we have two types of value co-creation: 'self-service' (provideroriented) and 'do-it-yourself' (customer-oriented).

- In self-service the customer executes some activities/ tasks that are normally performed by the supplier, without much freedom to deviate from the procedure and redesign the activities or the outcome. An example of selfservice is the web/ mobile banking or the e-government services, in which the customer operates in a strictly pre-defined environment and follows specific instructions in order to receive specific services.
- In *do-it-yourself*, on the contrary, the customer receives input from the provider and he/she transforms it into a valuable outcome, according to his/her preferences and needs. In e-commerce, for instance, the customer receives information and he is free to choose, revise and receive electronic services according to his preferences and needs. The customer receives the platform/ infrastructure, as well information and incentives, but operates then according to his/her judgment.

In *content co-development* we have 'inquiry' (provider-oriented) and 'content development and sharing' (customer-oriented); 'feedback' can be included here as a third, intermediate type, that can be either customer-oriented or provider-oriented, according to the way it is performed.

- Inquiry is a customer-initiated activity, in which the provider responds to the customer request by offering specific content or service. Hence, even if the customer initiates the process, the provider is the key performer. Submitting an inquiry e-form to receive back a service or transmitting the customer's location in a location-aware service/ application are examples of this type of value co-creation.
- Content development and sharing refers to the activities of the customer for the development, adaptation, dissemination and sharing of content; it takes place after the initiative of the customer and it is usually a creative process. Participation in social media, such as social networks, forums, wikis and blogs are typical examples of this type of value co-creation. Notice that content development and sharing are taken here together, however they are not necessarily combined (e.g. content development for personal use or sharing without previous personal development effort).
- Feedback is an activity of the customer, who expresses opinion and judgment for a service received. Feedback can be customer-oriented, when the customer is free to express his/her opinion in a free style, such as in review and recommendation systems. On the contrary, feedback is provider-oriented when the customer is asked to answer specific questions set by the provider, such as in rating systems. The type of feedback is important to understand that it is usually the exact setting that makes a type of activity customer-oriented or provider-oriented, rather than absolute, pre-defined criteria.

In *co-innovation* we have two types of value co-creation: 'new service development' (provider-oriented) and 'idea generation' (customer-oriented).

- In new service development the customer participates in certain phases of the development process, such as testing a prototype (e.g. beta testing), contributing to the production process (e.g. in software development communities) or in marketing activities (e.g. in co-branding). These activities are developed in a platform or in general a setting created by the provider and the customer is required to follow certain guidelines and rules.
- In *idea generation* the customer uses a platform for the expression of his/her ideas, imagination, creativity regarding new products, new features, new processes and new uses or the improvement of existing ones. It is not only that the customer operates in a more flexible environment, but most of all he/she provides the input.

In the *co-design* of a service's features through an adaptation and modification process, we distinguish between 'customization' (provider-oriented) and 'personalization' (customer-oriented).

- In *customization* the provider offers a standardized, but modularized service that can be modified in a small range of its features. Hence, the customer is free to adjust some limited aspects of the service (the ones decided by the provider) to bring it closer to his/her preferences. A typical example of customization is the configuration of certain applications and services to the user profile or the uses and preferences of the customer. Here the user has to select from a pre-defined list of alternatives the one that is better for him/her.
- In *personalization*, on the contrary, the customer is quite free to design a new service that meets his/her preferences and needs by modifying even the core attributes of the service in certain cases. The use of APIs that modify the attributes, the execution or the delivery of the service into the personal choices of the user is an example of personalization.

In *integration* we distinguish between 'packaging' (provider-oriented) and 'self-acting integration' (customer-oriented).

- In packaging the integration of services is decided by the provider, who proposes comprehensive solutions, that include many separate service elements. In software applications and services the provider may offer some alternative packages of solutions, which include different features and complementary options.
- In self-acting integration the customer decides for the services that will compose the offering, sometimes by collecting inputs from a network of providers and other stakeholders, and he/she may also add proprietary inputs (resources, knowledge, skills, etc.) and perform supplementary tasks for the composition of the final service. In software applications and services, the user may collect and combine services from different providers to develop particular solutions that meet unique needs.

4 Insights and Research Implications

The classification framework for electronic and mobile services suggests that ICT can be used to support all the spectrum of value co-creation activities, beyond the software and content development activities. ICT, hence, serves as an enabling technology and operant resource for value co-creation. We can see also that in parallel to the typical value co-creation activities of the physical world we can have value cocreation activities that take place with the use of electronic and mobile services. For instance, with regard to co-production, self-service and do-it-yourself are typical value co-creation activities of the physical world, but they refer also to value cocreation with the use of electronic and mobile services. In addition, many value cocreation activities in the physical world are supported, enabled and implemented with the use of electronic and mobile services. For instance, with regard to integration, a travel agent can propose a full vacation package (transportation, accommodation, food services, entertainment services, etc.) or the customer may receive information, decide, perform (make exchanges) and coordinate all the activities by himself.

We can also infer that the use of electronic and mobile services is always related to value co-creation. It is not just that value co-creation is assumed to be a normative phenomenon, as Vargo and Lusch [48] argue. Moreover, it is that in electronic services we have always interaction between the customer and the service provider, either as a company or simply as a platform, as suggested by Gronroos [14]. In the setting of automated processes, moreover, the initiating as well as the primary role in the interaction with the electronic platform is assigned to the customer. Based on this, one could argue that the benefit/ value provided to the customer of electronic and mobile services is the opportunity for value co-creation.

The proposed framework helps to understand better the characteristic and the differences of the one type of value co-creation from the other, which otherwise may seem vague or even confusing. First of all, some business models tend to combine more than one types of value co-creation, making it a multifaceted process; Trip Advisor, for instance, supports inquiry, feedback and content development/ sharing, while value co-creation takes place in a do-it-yourself style supporting also self-acting integration of services. In addition, some business models may provide different options for value co-creation activities. For instance, some companies may allow their customers to adapt the services to their preferences, either by choosing from the existing patterns (personalization) to produce personalized outcomes. Similar services can be related to different value co-creation activities along all the three axes. For instance, different business models for open innovation and crowdsourcing platforms may emphasize on 'idea generation', 'new service development', 'content development and dissemination', 'do-it-yourself', etc.

5 Conclusions

Value co-creation provides a very challenging concept for the development of innovative applications and business models, especially in the era of thriving of social networks, mobile services and other user-oriented technologies. The paper proposes a framework for value co-creation in electronic and mobile services that can help better understanding what value co-creation is, how to implement it and how to engage the customer in value co-creation processes in different situations and for different purposes. The proposed framework can serve also as an orientation map for the companies that intend to develop value co-creation practices or they want to expand or alter the existing ones. For instance, companies could move from provider-oriented to customer-oriented value co-creation practices or move to the one to another domain of value co-creation. The framework can be used also for the analysis of existing services and value co-creation processes, the understanding of the way the customer is engaged and the recognition of the reasons they succeed or fail.

The proposed framework is based on the finding of the review of the literature; it is developed in a structured approach, along three axes referring to the leading role in the value co-creation process, the number of participants and the domain of value cocreation; previous similar works do not follow a similar methodology. In addition, similar works in electronic and mobile services focus on their general characteristics and they overlook the issue of value co-creation.

Future research should validate in a systematic way the proposed classification framework. The identification and mapping of specific value co-creation practices as examples and case studies should explain better the characteristics of the types of value co-creation and their relationship and will allow the development of specific value co-creation practices that are suitable for each value co-creation type. Future work could also provide a methodology for relating value co-creation types to specific circumstances and goals.

Acknowledgments. This research is implemented in the project "ACCESS: Models and Methods for Value Co-Creation in Service Ecosystems" through the Operational Program "Education and Lifelong Learning" and is co-financed by the European Union (European Social Fund) and Greek national funds. The authors would like to thank the other members of the research team, Konstantinos Tarabanis and Adamantios Koumpis, for their suggestions.

References

- Amberg, M., Wehrmann, J.: A Framework for the Classification of Situation Dependent Services. In: 8th Americas Conference on Information Systems Proceedings, Dallas, USA (2002)
- Arnould, E.J., Price, L.L., Malshe, A.: Toward a cultural resource-based theory of the customer. In: Lusch, R.F., Vargo, S.L. (eds.) The Service-Dominant Logic of Marketing: Dialog, Debate and Directions, pp. 320–333. ME Sharpe, Armonk (2006)

- Bakos, Y.: Towards Friction-Free Markets: The Emerging Role of Electronic Marketplaces on the Internet. Communications of the ACM 41(8), 35–42 (1998)
- Baldauf, M., Dustdar, S., Rosenberg, F.: A survey on context-aware systems. International Journal of Ad Hoc and Ubiquitous Computing 2(4), 263–277 (2007)
- Baron, S., Warnaby, G.: Value Co-Creation from the Consumer Perspective. In: Service Systems Implementation, pp. 199–210. Springer (2011)
- Bitner, M.J., Faranda, W.T., Hubbert, A.R., Zeithaml, V.A.: Customer contributions and roles in service delivery. International Journal of Service Industry Management 8(3), 193– 205 (1997)
- Chesbrough, H.W.: Open Innovation: The New Imperative for Creating and Profiting from Technology. Harvard Business School Press, Boston (2003)
- Chesbrough, H., Spohrer, J.: A research manifesto for services science. Communications of the ACM 49(7), 35–40 (2006)
- Cortimiglia, M., Renga, F., Rangone, A.: A Classification Schema for Mobile-Internet 2.0 Applications. In: Obaidat, M.S., Filipe, J. (eds.) ICETE 2009. CCIS, vol. 130, pp. 126– 138. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- 10. Da Silveira, G., Borenstein, D., Fogliatto, F.S.: Mass customization: Literature review and research directions. International Journal of Production Economics 72(1), 1–13 (2001)
- Dey, A.K.: Understanding and using context. Personal and Ubiquitous Computing 5(1), 4– 7 (2001)
- European Internet Foundation: The Digital World in 2025: Indicators for European Action (2009), https://www.eifonline.org/component/attachments/ attachments/57.html?task=download
- Frow, P., Payne, A., Storbacka, K.: A conceptual model for value co-creation: designing collaboration within a service system. In: Proceedings of 39th EMAC Conference, June 1– 4, Sage, Copenhagen (2010)
- Grönroos, C.: Value co-creation in service logic: A critical analysis. Marketing Theory 11(3), 279–301 (2011)
- Gummerus, J., Pihlström, M.: Context and Mobile Services' Value-in-Use. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services 18(6), 521–533 (2011)
- Gummesson, E.: Marketing-orientation revisited: the crucial role of the part-time marketer. European Journal of Marketing 25(2), 60–75 (1991)
- Heinonen, K., Pura, M.: Classifying Mobile Services. Proceedings of Helsinki Mobility Roundtable. Sprouts: Working Papers on Information Systems 6(42) (2006), http://sprouts.aisnet.org/6-42
- Hilton, T., Hughes, T.: Co-production and self-service: The application of Service-Dominant Logic. Journal of Marketing Management 29(7-8), 1–21 (2013)
- 19. Hippel Von, E.: Democratizing Innovation. MIT Press, Cambridge (2005)
- Von Hippel, E.: Open User Innovation. Handbook of the Economics of Innovation 1, 411– 427 (2010)
- Kannan, P.K., Healey, J.: Service Customization Research: A Review and Future Directions. In: Service Science: Research and Innovations in the Service Economy, pp. 297–324 (2011)
- Kaplan, A.M., Haenlein, M.: Toward a parsimonious definition of traditional and electronic mass customization. Journal of Product Innovation Management 23(2), 168–179 (2006)
- 23. Kaplan, A.M.: If you love something, let it go mobile: Mobile marketing and mobile social media 4x4. Business Horizons 55(2), 129–139 (2012)

- 24. Kasper, H., Koleva, I., Kett, H.: Social Media Matrix. Common Value Management 9 (2012)
- Kietzmann, J.H., Hermkens, K., McCarthy, I.P., Silvestre, B.S.: Social media? Get serious! Understanding the functional building blocks of social media. Business Horizons 54(3), 241–251 (2011)
- Kotler, P.: From mass marketing to mass customization. Strategy & Leadership 17(5), 10– 47 (1989)
- Kumar, A.: From mass customization to mass personalization: a strategic transformation. International Journal of Flexible Manufacturing Systems 19, 533–547 (2007)
- Linders, D.: We-Government: an anatomy of citizen coproduction in the information age. In: Proceedings of the 12th Annual International Digital Government Research Conference: Digital Government Innovation in Challenging Times, pp. 167–176. ACM (2011)
- Lugano, G.: Mobile Social Software: Definition, Scope and Applications. In: eChallenges Conference 2007, The Hague, Netherlands, pp. 1434–1441 (2007)
- Lusch, R.F., Vargo, S.L., Tanniru, M.: Service, Value Networks and Learning. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science 38, 19–31 (2010)
- Maglio, P.P., Spohrer, J.: Fundamentals of service science. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science 36, 18–20 (2008)
- 32. Meuter, M.L., Bitner, M.J.: Self-service technologies: extending service frameworks and identifying issues for research. Marketing Theory and Applications 9, 12–19 (1998)
- Normann, R., Ramirez, R.: From value chain to value constellation: designing interactive strategy. Harvard Business Review 71(4), 65–77 (1993)
- Parameswaran, M., Whinston, A.B.: Social Computing: An Overview. The Communications of the Association for Information Systems 19(37), 762–780 (2006)
- 35. Payne, A., Storbacka, K., Frow, P.: Managing the co-creation of value. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science 36(1), 83–96 (2008)
- Piller, F.T., Ihl, C., Vossen, A.: A Typology of Customer Co-Creation in the Innovation Process (2010), http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1732127
- 37. Pinhanez, C.: Services as Customer-Intensive Systems. Design Issues 25(2), 3–13 (2009)
- Prahalad, C.K., Ramaswamy, V.K.: Co-opting Customer Competence. Harvard Business Review 78(1), 79–87 (2000)
- Pura, M.: Linking perceived value and loyalty in location-based mobile services. Managing Service Quality 15(6), 509–538 (2005)
- 40. Roser, T., Samson, A., Humphreys, P., Cruz-Valdivieso, E.: Co-creation: New Pathways to Value: An Overview. Promise & LSE Enterprise (2009)
- 41. Rowley, J.: An analysis of the e-service literature: towards a research agenda. Internet Research 16(3), 339–359 (2006)
- Rust, R.T., Lemon, K.N.: E-service and the consumer. International Journal of Electronic Commerce 5, 85–102 (2001)
- Sheth, J.N., Uslay, C.: Implications of the revised definition of marketing: from exchange to value creation. Journal of Public Policy & Marketing 26(2), 302–307 (2007)
- Spohrer, J., Maglio, P.P.: The emergence of service science: Toward systematic service innovations to accelerate co-creation of value. Production and Operations Management 17, 1–9 (2008)
- Spohrer, J., Maglio, P.P.: Toward a Science of Service Systems Value and Symbols. In: Handbook of Service Science. Service Science: Research and Innovations in the Service Economy, pp. 157–194. Springer (2010)

- 46. Vargo, S.L., Lusch, R.F.: Service-dominant logic: continuing the evolution. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science 36(1), 1–10 (2008)
- 47. Vargo, S.L., Lusch, R.F.: Evolving to a new dominant logic for marketing. Journal of Marketing 68, 1–17 (2004)
- Vargo, S.L., Lusch, R.F.: Service-dominant logic: reactions, reflections and refinements. Marketing Theory 6(3), 281–288 (2006)
- 49. Verkasalo, H.: Contextual patterns in mobile service usage. Personal Ubiquitous Computing 13(5), 331–342 (2009)
- 50. Weißsenberg, N., Gartmann, R., Voisard, A.: An ontology-based approach to personalized situation-aware mobile service supply. Geoinformatica 10(1), 55–90 (2006)

Transition and Delivery Challenges of Retained Organizations in IT Outsourcing

Marius Goldberg, Axel Kieninger, Gerhard Satzger, and Hansjörg Fromm

Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Karlsruhe Service Research Institute, Englerstr. 11, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany Marius.Goldberg@partner.kit.edu, {Axel.Kieninger,Gerhard.Satzger,Hansjoerg.Fromm}@kit.edu

Abstract. Outsourcing their IT is a difficult endeavor for many enterprises. Remaining IT organizations often face a multitude of challenges but lack the necessary capabilities for managing the outsourced services. In this paper, we provide rankings of these challenges with regard to the implementation of retained organizations and their daily business. While the most critical issues arise at the interface with the service provider, the interfaces with the own business units are problematic as well. Our findings reveal that particularly the early involvement of the own business units and the development of sufficient awareness of upcoming changes are key success factors. Our research is based on the results of an extensive explorative study. With our work, we lay the basis for a better understanding of the transition challenges of retained organizations and, thus, a mature implementation and operation of these.

Keywords: IT Outsourcing, Retained Organization, IT Organization, Outsourcing Relationship, Service Management, Transition.

1 Introduction

IT Outsourcing has become an established business model and should reach a world wide volume of \$288 billion in 2013 [1]. Despite all efforts, it is still a challenging business and many outsourcing clients have difficulties in managing its various aspects [2]. Particularly, the ongoing management of service providers is a key challenge [3]. Accordingly, Tramacere [4] recommends outsourcing clients to focus on improving provider management.

During the outsourcing project, client and provider form a service system. Once the delivery responsibilities have been transferred to a service provider, the "retained organization" – the parts of the client's former IT department that are not outsourced [5] – performs the provider management. Forming the key interface with the provider, its role shifts from a delivering to a managing one [6]. Although academic literature has analyzed capabilities needed for the management of IT (e.g., [5–6]), retained organizations often lack the necessary ones [7]. Urbach and Würz [8] argue that further research regarding the implementation of retained organizations is needed.

In order to identify insufficiently built capabilities and, thus, ensure outsourcing success, the understanding of the specific challenges of retained organizations is of great importance. Our literature review, however, revealed that research regarding these challenges is still sparse and a clear and comprehensive understanding of these does not exist. This knowledge, however, would provide a solid basis for a mature implementation and operation of retained organizations [9]. Further research is needed to obtain meaningful insights into this important topic.

The contribution of our work is twofold: We provide rankings of the challenges in two lifecycle phases of retained organizations, namely transition and delivery. We will learn that the most critical issues arise at the interface with the service provider. However, the retained organization's interfaces with the own business units are highly problematic, too. In addition, we test three hypotheses that are derived from a number of expert interviews: We examine how (1) the clients' awareness of upcoming changes, (2) their sufficient technical expertise, and (3) the involvement of their business units do impact the problems of retained organizations and whether they are, indeed, success factors. Our analysis reveals that especially clients who sufficiently involve their business units and who develop a high awareness of upcoming changes achieve significantly better results. That way, we provide important insights for outsourcing clients and identify research problems to be addressed in the future.

Our research is based on the results of an extensive explorative study. It consists of a preliminary literature review, a qualitative study followed and a principal quantitative study. We had the opportunity to conduct this study in cooperation with a major IT outsourcing provider. All participants of our study are working in key roles of the provider-side interfaces and have long-standing experience with IT outsourcing for a variety of clients. All results gathered are based on their insights and broad knowledge. We are convinced that these IT outsourcing experts are best qualified to state the most important and typical challenges of retained organizations.

The following section gives an overview about retained organizations and the key literature covering them. Next, we describe our research methodology and discuss the research sample and data examined, before we present the key findings of our quantitative study and statistically test hypotheses. Finally, we conclude the paper discussing key findings, limitations and topics for future research.

2 The Retained Organization

In the context of an outsourcing project, the retained organization forms the key interface between client and provider. It consists of those parts of the former IT department that are not outsourced [5]. Naturally, the role and responsibilities of this organizational unit fundamentally differ from the former ones: The focus shifts from the delivery to the management of IT services (see Fig. 1) [10].

The key responsibilities of retained organizations are to manage and govern the outsourcing project. This includes the management of the provider as well as the demand of the own business units. Regarding the governance of the outsourcing project, retained organizations are responsible for the outsourcing relationship, the mitigation of risks and the continuous alignment of business and IT [5][6][10].

Many contributions to the ongoing discussion regarding the client's outsourcing organization are based on Willcocks et al. [7]. In their work, the authors describe a framework of core IT capabilities needed to successfully govern and manage IT. It has repeatedly been tested in research and applied to retained organizations (e.g., [6][10]). Originating from this framework, research defined the organizational design of retained organizations and their interactions with the provider and business units.



 \leftarrow Demand Management $\rightarrow \leftarrow$ Provider Management \rightarrow

Fig. 1. The basic role of retained organizations (based on Gewald and Helbig [10])

Gewald and Helbig [10] propose a governance model for managing outsourcing partnerships. Their framework establishes key relationships on the strategic, functional and operational level. Literature also describes the organizational structures of retained organizations as well as its basic processes and roles (e.g., [10–12]). In particular, Urbach and Würz [8] propose a comprehensive management framework for steering outsourcing providers.

2.1 Lifecycle Phases of Retained Organizations

An outsourcing project can be split into five distinct phases that as a whole are referred to as the outsourcing lifecycle (e.g., [12–14]): pre-deal, contractual, transition, delivery and exit phase. In terms of retained organizations, we distinguish the following four phases that overlap with the phases of the outsourcing lifecycle: design, transition, delivery and exit (see Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. The lifecycle phases of retained organizations

According to Cullen et al. [13] as well as our interviews, the design of retained organizations is usually shaped both during the pre-deal as well as the contractual phase. Therefore, in our study, we combine these two phases to a single design phase. During this phase, outsourcing clients define the organizational design of their

retained organization. Within the transition phase, clients execute the plans made during the design phase. They implement structures, communicate changes and prepare their employees for the new situation. When the transition is completed, the outsourcing project enters the delivery phase and the retained organization takes over the main responsibility for the outsourcing project on the client side managing it according to the outsourcing contract. When the outsourcing relationship ends, the retained organization is dissolved in the exit phase or – if the outsourcing deal is continued with a different provider – is re-designed in another design phase [12–14].

3 Research Methodology

In the remainder of this chapter, we outline the research approach followed. We carried out an explorative study to gain a better understanding of the challenges of retained organizations. Our staged research approach consisted of a comprehensive literature review, a preliminary qualitative and a principal quantitative study.

In this paper, we investigate challenges of retained organizations. Our quantitative study assessed these in retrospect asking our participants which challenges posed problems to the client. Hence, we use the words problem and challenge quasi-synonymously when talking about the same things from different perspectives.

3.1 Literature Review Regarding Challenges of Retained Organizations

An initial literature review revealed that no comprehensive view regarding challenges of retained organizations does exist. Based on existing literature on related topics such as IT outsourcing, organization design and IT transformation, we derived an initial set of challenges for our study. Our literature review followed the methodology proposed by Webster and Watson [15] along with an extensive forward and backward search without temporal restriction.¹ This initial search discovered about 160 papers. In an abstract based examination, we identified those papers that specifically deal with challenges, problems and risk. We further reviewed these papers in a careful perusal selecting papers that promised insights into our research topics. Finally, we selected 25 papers as a basis for the ex ante definition of challenges.

In a grounded coding analysis that followed the approach introduced by Jerayaj et al. [16], we systematically extracted relevant challenges from the 25 papers. The initial list consisted of 52 individual challenges. This initial set of challenges was the basis for the subsequent qualitative study.

3.2 Qualitative Study

In the qualitative study, we ran a series of in-depth interviews with a group of experts. The qualitative study pursued two main goals: validating and refining our list of

¹ We used Google Scholar for our research with combinations and variations of the following keywords: IT outsourcing, retained organization, risk, success, outsourcing organization, provider management, IT transformation, organizational change.

challenges identified in the literature as well as deriving basic hypotheses from the interviews. The qualitative research methodology is based on Gläser and Laudel [17].

Based on the insights of two initial design interviews, we decided to select the interviewees based on a predefined profile from the following three key roles on the provider side of the outsourcing relationship that have direct insight into the client's retained organization [12][14]:

- *Transition Managers* lead the transfer of the client's outsourced IT services and are involved in the setup of joint processes and structures.
- Account or Contract Managers are owner of all strategic activities for the outsourcing contract and responsible for its ongoing management.
- *Delivery Managers* are responsible for the overall management of the delivery activities of an outsourcing engagement.

Transition Phase Challenges	
Alignment of expectations	• Ensuring the retained staff understands or
• Appropriate communication with staff or	lives its new roles
other stakeholders	• Fears and rumors
Changing of mindsets	Resistance among staff or other
Changing of processes and ways of	stakeholders
working	Sufficient motivation of affected staff
• Ensuring sufficient contract knowledge in	 Transformation of organization and
retained organization	governance structure
Delivery Phase Challenges	
• Appropriate communication with the	Provider lacked understanding of client's
service provider	business
• Determination of business requirements	• Provider not informed about the client's
• Difficulties with performance measurement	business strategy
 Getting different sub-contractors and 	Retained organization missed major shifts
suppliers to work together	and new trends in the company
Endless cost-service debates	 Too incomplete outsourcing contract
 Lack of partnership and trust 	 Too inflexible outsourcing contract
• Misunderstandings about scope of services	• Too high staff turnover
• Neglecting long-term strategy and getting	• Translation of service requirements into
caught in fire-fighting	service requests

Table 1. The 25 transition and delivery challenges of retained organizations

In total, we surveyed two *Transition Managers*, four *Account or Contract Managers* and four *Delivery Managers*. The semi-structured interviews were held with an interview schedule, digitally recorded and transcribed. The interviewees exploratively described the typical challenges of retained organizations and validated our initial set of challenges extracted from literature. Subsequently, we analyzed the transcripts in a grounded coding approach [18] gradually eliminating redundant and

aggregating similar challenges. The result was a total of 25 transition and delivery challenges that we used as the basis for our main quantitative study (see Table 1). In addition, we asked the interviewees for common mistakes and success factors. From these, we derived hypotheses a selection of which we test in Section 5.

3.3 Quantitative Study

In our main quantitative study, we assessed the 25 challenges as well as success factors identified beforehand. We decided to carry out the questionnaire with the same roles we interviewed in the qualitative. The questionnaire consisted of five sections using closed, prompted and pre-coded questions [19–20].

At the beginning of the questionnaire, we asked each participant to select only one of their outsourcing projects and answer the questionnaire based on this specific project. They had to take part in this project in their current role and should consider it typical according to their experience. Due to this condition, we are now able to relate the success factors to specific challenges and evaluate their impact in that project.

The first section consisted of general and screening questions about the participant, the chosen outsourcing project and the client. These questions included the success factors that we identified in the qualitative study (see Section 5).

The two main questionnaire sections aimed to rank the 25 challenges (see Table 1) related to the retained organization in the transition and delivery phase. We used 4-point Likert scales [19–20] to rank the challenges of the selected client on a verbalized scale ("Minor problem", "Tending towards minor problem", "Tending towards major problem" and "Major problem") in retrospect.

3.4 Research Sample and Data Collected in the Quantitative Study

In total, we received 37 completed questionnaires. Targeting 125 participants, we had a response rate of about 30%. In total, ten account or contract managers, 24 delivery managers and three transition managers participated in the study.

We explicitly tried to identify common challenges that clients are facing. As no clear pattern exists that might elicit which type of companies in terms of size or industry are likely to outsource [2], we aimed to collect a broad basis in order to abstract from industry and size specificities. The selected projects cover virtually all different types of industry and client company sizes. The company sizes are spread from small companies with under 50 employees to corporations with more than 100.000. Most of the investigated companies had between 1.000 and 10.000 employees (see Fig. 3 and Fig. 4).

Regarding contract volumes, the major part of responses is concentrated on small to medium sized deals with a total contract volume between $\notin 10$ million and $\notin 100$ million. But, responses range from very large (more than $\notin 500$ million) to very small (under $\notin 10$ million) outsourcing deals (see Fig. 4).



Fig. 3. Sizes of the investigated client companies and contract volumes (N=37)



Fig. 4. Industries of the investigated client companies (N=37)

4 Findings and Analysis of the Study Results

The following chapter presents the results of our quantitative study. We will outline the findings regarding the transition and delivery challenges of retained organizations. We provide and discuss rankings of the top five challenges of each phase selecting them based on the share of participants ranking them as major problem.

4.1 Transition Phase Challenges of Retained Organizations

During the transition phase, clients – among other things – implement structures of their retained organizations and communicate the changes. The five top challenges of the transition revealed by our study are depicted in Fig. 5.

In our study, the most significant challenge in the transition phase is the *changing of mindsets*. The challenge has been described in organizational change management and outsourcing literature (e.g., [21–22]). Our interviewees particularly emphasized the clients' difficulties to understand the service nature of outsourcing.

34% of the study participants perceived the *changing of processes and ways of working* as a major challenge. It is closely related to the changing of mindsets. According to our interviewees, client employees often tend to keep working the same way they were used to. However, outsourcing requires clients to adapt IT processes and their internal behavior to the new situation (e.g., [13][22]).

Another challenge that is widely recognized in outsourcing as well as organizational change literature is the *appropriate communication with staff or other stakeholders* (e.g., [21-22]). It is ranked third with major problems in about 24% of the outsourcing projects in our study.



Major challenge
Tend towards major challenge

Fig. 5. The five major challenges of the transition phase

Our interviewees mentioned that clients often fail in *ensuring sufficient contract knowledge in the retained organization*. Their staff often is not sufficiently familiar with the contents of the outsourcing contract. The challenge had been added in our qualitative study and we identified it as the fourth top challenge. According to our interviewees, the personnel defining the outsourcing contract often are not part of the retained organization and fail to sufficiently transfer their knowledge.

The *alignment of expectations* is the fifth top challenge. If we take into account the answers of participants that tended towards major problems, however, it would be top ranked at 76%. Willcocks and Craig [22] found that unrealistic expectations are a major difficulty and our interviewees also agreed that many outsourcing relationships suffer from unaligned expectations.

For the transition phase, we identified the five major challenges described above as most important. Interestingly, all five address "soft changes" involving people and their behavior. These are usually addressed in organizational change management approaches [21]. The importance of organizational change in the context of technology changes has been frequently acknowledged in literature (e.g., [21][23]) and is supported by our findings.

The remaining five challenges of this phase (see Table 1) are less critical. However, they cause major problems for 3% to 20% of the outsourcing clients, as well.

4.2 Delivery Phase Challenges of Retained Organizations

During the delivery phase, the retained organizations take over the main responsibility for the outsourcing project on the client side. The top challenges of this phase are depicted in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6. The five major challenges of the delivery phase

With 26%, *endless cost-service debates* is ranked second. We think that it is closely related to the scope misunderstandings. It means discussions about how much the client has to pay for a specific service covered by the contract and whether it has been delivered completely. Literature mentioned the challenge (e.g., [24]) and we encountered it in several of our interviews.

Amongst the top three challenges is *determination of business requirements*. This issue is directly connected to the fourth challenge – *translation of service requirements into service requests* – that 17% of the outsourcing clients seem to have major problems with. Literature addresses both the determination of services' impact on business operations and selection of cost-optimal service solutions (e.g., [25–26]).

With 14%, the fifth top challenge is *too high staff turnover*. In our interviews, the challenge was less prevalent. However, Beulen [27] described it in his work and our study confirms that it is amongst the top challenges for retained organizations in the delivery phase.

The two top ranked challenges arise at the interface with the provider. But, our findings also emphasize the importance of the interfaces of retained organizations with the own business units. The retained organization needs the capabilities to sufficiently understand and interpret business requirements and the technical ability to formulate adequate technical specifications. Hence, the demand side of a retained organization plays an important role in the outsourcing relationship and clients need to place more emphasis on this interface.

In conclusion, we denote the issues mentioned above as the five major challenges of retained organizations during the delivery phase of an outsourcing deal. The other challenges (see Table 1) are not seen that critical in comparison. Nevertheless, 19% to 40% of the participants at least tend towards considering them as major problems.
5 Evaluation of Statistical Hypotheses

In this section, we will test three hypotheses that we derive from the interviews of our qualitative study. First, we shortly outline the statistical methods we apply. Then, we introduce and test the three hypotheses. Finally, we discuss the results.

5.1 Evaluation Approach and Statistical Methods

We will now introduce the methods we apply to test the three hypotheses. To evaluate the impact of the success factors, we create an index of the challenges for each phase. The indices combine multiple items into one unweighted additive indicator [28]. That way, we obtain a measure for the severity of problems of a whole phase.

To ensure that the selected variables actually represent the aggregated index, we test each index for its reliability based on its discriminant coefficients (D) and Cronbach's alpha (C) [28]. The discriminant coefficient is a measure for the unidimensionality of the variables that we accept if D > 0.3 [29]. Cronbach's alpha evaluates the reliability of the index whereby C > 0.7 is considered good [30].

To evaluate the hypotheses, we test whether clients who performed well in a success factor have significantly fewer problems than those who did not. In order tTo not interpret the difference between the ordinal Likert items, we consider both affirming items in our tests. We create two partitions for each test grouping the responses according to the value of the respective index as depicted in Table 2. For example, group 1 in partition (a) only includes participants that clearly affirm whereas partition (b) also includes participants that tended towards the affirmative.

	Group 1	Group 2
Partition (a)	"Yes"	"Tending towards yes", "Tending
		towards no" and "No"
Partition (b)	"Yes" and "Tending towards yes"	"Tending towards no" and "No"

Table 2. Partitions for each test

For both groups, we will calculate its median and test for statistically significant differences between the underlying distributions at the .05 level applying the Mann-Whitney U-test. This non-parametric test is used to test whether the medians (M) of two samples are significantly different. It can be used if two samples are independent and at least ordinal – which is the case for Likert scales [31]. Hence, we test the following statistical hypothesis for each hypothesis and each partition:

$$H_0: M_{Group_2} \le M_{Group_1}; H_1: M_{Group_2} > M_{Group_1}$$
(1)

5.2 Findings of the Quantitative Study and Hypotheses Definition

In our ten expert interviews, three success factors were mentioned most frequently: (1) the retention of sufficient technical expertise, (2) the involvement of business units

in strategic decisions and (3) the client's awareness of the upcoming changes. To cover different aspects of factor (3), we evaluated it with three separate (see justification below). Hence, we assessed the level of the three success factors with a total of five questions in our questionnaire (see Fig. 7). The hypotheses introduced below relate these factors to the challenges of the transition and delivery phase to evaluate their impact.



Fig. 7. Assessment of success factors

Hypothesis 1. Clients who retain sufficient technical expertise in their retained organization have fewer major problems in the delivery phase.

An important task of the retained organization is to translate business requirements into service requests and to technically evaluate proposals of the provider. In order to do so, it usually needs a sufficient amount of technical expertise. Our interviews and literature (e.g., [7]) frequently identified the lack of technical expertise as a cause for delivery problems of retained organizations. About half of our study participants at least tend towards assuming insufficient technical expertise of their client whereas 25% affirm it.

Hypothesis 2. Clients who sufficiently involve their business units in strategic outsourcing decisions have fewer major problems in the delivery phase.

One of the responsibilities of retained organizations is to manage the business demand and to ensure business and IT alignment (e.g., [14]). IT outsourcing often adversely impacts business and IT alignment [32]. Our interviewees mentioned the positive effect of the early involvement of the business units in strategic outsourcing decisions on alignment. Hence, it should reduce problems during service delivery. The insufficient involvement of the business units in strategic outsourcing decisions was observed very often in our quantitative study: 66% of respondents tend towards and 26% clearly observed it.

Hypothesis 3. Clients who are aware of the upcoming changes have fewer major problems in the transition and the delivery phase.

The hypothesis reflects the expectation that clients with a higher awareness of the upcoming changes should be able to better assess risks and prepare mitigating actions (e.g., [21][23]). This should reduce problems in the course of the outsourcing project. We captured the client's awareness of the upcoming changes with three questions. Our interviewees described three different facets that we assessed individually: (1) Clients underestimate the complexity of outsourcing, (2) they underestimate upcoming challenges and (3) they misjudge the retained organization's importance. Our findings suggest that the majority of the clients were not sufficiently aware of these changes. 49% of our participants at least tend towards an unawareness of the challenges associated with setting up a retained organization; likewise, 54% think that their client did not fully realize the importance of a retained organization. 62% observed that their client underestimated the complexity of the outsourcing deal.

5.3 Calculation of Indices

To have a unified measure that represents the problems of a whole phase, we create an index of the challenges for each phase. This allows us to evalute the impact of the three success factors on a phase as a whole. We do the same for the three questions that assess the client's awareness of the upcoming challenges.

The index of the transition phase and the index that combines the three questions regarding the client's awareness of the upcoming changes are both uni-dimensional and reliable. In the delivery phase, we had to exclude three challenges because of their low discriminant coefficient (*retained organization missed major shifts and new trends*, D = 0.1) and Cronbachs alpha (*provider lacked understanding of client's business* and *difficulties with performance measurement*). The index consisting of the remaining twelve challenges is also uni-dimensional and reliable (see Table 3).

Index	С	D
Transition challenges	0.88	$0.56 \le D_x \le 0.81$
Delivery phase challenges	0.80	$0.34 \le D_x \le 0.74$
Awareness of the upcoming challenges	0.72	$0.79 \le D_x \le 0.81$

Table 3. Indices for the evaluation of statistical hypotheses

5.4 Hypotheses Evaluation and Interpretation

We will now test the three hypotheses. For each hypothesis we will evaluate the medians of the chosen groups and partitions for significant differences in the underlying distributions.

Hypothesis 1 postulates that retained organizations with sufficient technical expertise have fewer major problems in their daily business. Accordingly, we test the technical expertise of the retained organizations against the index of the delivery phase both for partition (a) and (b) in the delivery phase. For both partitions, there is no statistically

significant difference between the underlying distributions (see Table 4). Clients with sufficient technical expertise in their retained organization did not have significantly fewer major problems. Thus, we cannot reject the two null hypotheses.

Consequently, based on our data, we are unable to state whether clients with sufficient technical expertise in their retained organization have fewer major problems. The hypothesis, however, has received strong support in past literature (e.g. [7][27]). We think that technical expertise is highly important, but in our cases other factors seemed to have more significant impacts.

	Partition	Phase	Mean rank	Significance
Hypothesis 1	Partition (a)	Delivery	14.5 < 19.2	.116 (-)
	Partition (b)	Delivery	15.7 < 21.1	.062 (-)
Hypothesis 2	Partition (a)	Transition	7.5 < 17.8	.020 (+)
		Delivery	6.0 < 19.6	.007 (++)
	Partition (b)	Transition	11.8 < 19.0	.011 (+)
		Delivery	9.9 < 22.2	.000 (++)
Hypothesis 3	Partition (a)	Transition	10.3 < 20.1	.006 (++)
		Delivery	11.1 < 21.0	.007 (++)
	Partition (b)	Transition	15.4 < 19.7	.104 (-)
		Delivery	14.6 < 22.8	.010 (++)

Table 4. Results of the statistical tests for the three Hypotheses

With *Hypothesis 2*, we evaluate whether clients that sufficiently involved their business units in the strategic outsourcing decisions had fewer major problems in the transition as well as the delivery phase (see Table 4). The Mann-Whitney U-test is significant at the .01 level for the delivery phase and at the .05 level for the transition phase for both partitions. Accordingly, there is a statistically significant difference between the underlying distributions and we reject the both null hypotheses.

The adverse impact of outsourcing on the level of business and IT alignment had already been observed in literature (e.g., [32]). Our results emphasize the importance of alignment measures during the implementation of retained organizations. In particular, clients should involve their business units in strategic outsourcing decisions. These findings are also supported by the work of Beulen [14].

For *Hypothesis 3*, we evaluate if clients with a higher awareness of the upcoming changes achieve better results both during the transition and the delivery. Hence, we test the index that describes the client's awareness of the upcoming changes against the two indices we calculated for the two phases. Our findings suggest that there is a statistically significant difference between the underlying distributions for partition (a): Clients who are aware of the upcoming changes have fewer major problems in the transition and delivery phase. Both Mann-Whitney U-tests are highly significant at the .01 level. Partition (b) includes clients that are somewhat aware of the upcoming changes. These clients still have significantly fewer major problems in the delivery phase at the .01 level. The Mann-Whitney U test is not significant for transition phase even at the .05 level, though (see Table 4).

We infer that the null hypotheses of these three of the four statistical tests are too unlikely to be correct and reject them, accordingly. For partitioning (b) of the transition phase, the median is also smaller for clients that had a higher awareness, but the difference is not statistically significant. Nevertheless, we conclude that clients who are aware of the changes ahead have fewer major problems in both phases.

6 Conclusion

In this paper, we presented the findings of our explorative study. A literature review, multiple initial interviews and an extensive quantitative study helped us to develop a clearer picture of the retained organization and its challenges. Based on the data collected, we identified and discussed the five major challenges of the transition and the delivery phase. Second, we tested three hypotheses derived from our interviews. Our findings provide further insights for researchers and practitioners.

Generally, our study outlines the high importance of mature retained organizations that are a crucial factor for outsourcing success. Outsourcing clients should not neglect the timely implementation of their retained organization.

We uncovered that the most critically ranked challenges during the delivery phase arise at the interface with the provider. Our analysis, however, revealed that the interfaces with the own business units were a source of major problems, too. Hence, clients should pay more attention on the establishment of these interfaces. For example, clients should take the necessary measures to ensure a high level of business and IT alignment from the outset of the outsourcing project. In this matter, we identified the early involvement of the own business units in strategic outsourcing decisions as a success factor.

During the transition phase, the challenges that are ranked highest in our study concern the human factor during the implementation. This indicates the need for appropriate organizational change activities. In particular, a thorough upfront assessment of the changes and challenges brought about by the implementation of retained organizations seems to be a key success factor. Outsourcing clients should recognize the importance of retained organizations and the complexity of setting it up. They should appropriately invest in their own organization.

In the following, we will critically discuss the limitations of our research. The first part of our explorative research consisted of two design interviews and a qualitative study with ten experts. In the interviews, we had a large consensus regarding the key challenges. Therefore, we think that the ten expert interviews in combination with the literature review are a good basis for the principal study. In the quantitative study, we were only able to acquire a sample size of 37 people. Nevertheless, the amount is sufficient for the descriptive analyses and the statistical evaluations of this paper [33].

Perhaps, a point of criticism might concern the decision to question representatives of only one outsourcing provider rather than client employees that are actually working in a retained organization. However, the participants of our interviews and questionnaire were outsourcing experts. They were selected based on a predefined profile (see section 3.2) to ensure their deep understanding of outsourcing relationships. They can, thus, draw on a long-standing experience with outsourcing and different retained organizations – whereas a client employee usually only has experience with one outsourcing project and the problems of this specific situation. We think that the outsourcing experts were best qualified to state the most important and typical challenges based on their broad experience.

In our study, we identified several aspects that we could not cover in this work that further research should investigate. We saw that outsourcing clients often fail to appropriately implement their retained organizations in the transition phase. In this phase, the decisions and plans of the design phase are executed. In this paper, we did, however, not elaborate on challenges of the design phase. In future works we will discuss how this phase is interrelated with the transition and the delivery phase.

As discussed above, we carried out this work with a major outsourcing provider and key roles on the provider side of the outsourcing project. We are confident that the challenges identified are the typical challenges of retained organizations. However, to further evaluate and support the results of our research, we will discuss them in detail with client representatives.

Additionally, we found that particularly the interfaces of retained organizations with the own business units are an issue in many outsourcing engagements that can lead to severe problems impacting the whole outsourcing project. Future research should, therefore, lay more emphasis on internal governance and organizational structures of retained organizations with their own business units.

References

- Britz, B., Young, A., Ng, F., Tramacere, G., Toombs, D., Bell, W., Blackmore, D., Roy, A., Tenneson, C., Petri, G.: Forecast Analysis: IT Outsourcing. Worldwide, 2Q13 Update. Gartner Research (2013)
- Lacity, M.C., Khan, S.A., Willcocks, L.P.: A Review of the IT Outsourcing Literature: Insights for Practice. The Journal of Strategic Information Systems 18, 130–146 (2009)
- Unterharnscheidt, P., Kieninger, A.: Service Level Management Challenges and their Relevance from the Customers' Point of View. In: 16th Americas Conference on Information Systems, Paper 540, Lima (2010)
- 4. Tramacere, G.: Hype Cycle for IT Infrastructure and Outsourcing Services. Gartner Research (2012)
- 5. Kern, T., Willcocks, L.P.: The Relationship Advantage: Information Technologies, Sourcing, and Management. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2001)
- Willcocks, L., Feeny, D., Olson, N.: Implementing Core IS Capabilities: Feeny-Willcocks IT Governance and Management Framework Revisited. European Management Journal 24, 28–37 (2006)
- Urbach, N., Würz, T.: How to Steer the IT Outsourcing Provider. Business & Information Systems Engineering 4, 247–259 (2012)
- 8. Ambrose, C., Huntley, H.: Outsourcing Trends, 2011-2012: Get More From Vendor Management. Gartner Research (2012)
- Gewald, H., Helbig, K.: A Governance Model for Managing Outsourcing Partnerships: A View from Practice. In: 39th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, vol. 8, p. 194c. IEEE, Hawaii (2006)
- 10. Beulen, E., Ribbers, P., Roos, J.: Managing IT Outsourcing: Governance in global partnerships. Routledge, New York (2006)
- de Jong, F., van Hillegersberg, J., van Eck, P., van der Kolk, F., Jorissen, R.: Governance of Offshore IT Outsourcing at Shell Global Functions IT-BAM Development and Application of a Governance Framework to Improve Outsourcing Relationships. In: Oshri, I., Kotlarsky, J. (eds.) Global Sourcing 2010. LNBIP, vol. 55, pp. 119–150. Springer, Heidelberg (2010)

- Cullen, S., Seddon, P., Willcocks, L.P.: Managing outsourcing: the life cycle imperative. MIS Quarterly Executive 4, 229–246 (2005)
- Beulen, E., Tiwari, V., Van Heck, E.: Understanding transition performance during offshore IT outsourcing. Strategic Outsourcing An International Journal 4, 204–227 (2011)
- 14. Webster, J., Watson, R.T.: Analyzing the past to prepare the future. MIS Quarterly 26, xiii–xxiii (2002)
- 15. Jeyaraj, A., Rottman, J.W., Lacity, M.C.: A review of the predictors, linkages, and biases in IT innovation adoption research. Journal of Information Technology 21, 1–23 (2006)
- Gläser, J., Laudel, G.: Experteninterviews und qualitative Inhaltsanalyse als Instrumente rekonstruierender Untersuchungen. VS, Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, Wiesbaden (2010)
- Zhang, Y., Wildemuth, B.M.: Qualitative analysis of content. In: Wildemuth, B.M. (ed.) Applications of social research methods to questions in Information and Library Science, pp. 308–319. Libraries Unlimited, Westport (2009)
- 18. Oppenheim, A.N.: Questionnaire design, interviewing, and attitude measurement. Continuum, London (1992)
- 19. Bradburn, N.M., Sudman, S., Wansink, B.: Asking Questions The Definitive Guide to Questionnaire Design. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco (2004)
- 20. Jørgensen, H.H., Owen, L., Neus, A.: Making Change Work. IBM Global Services (2008)
- 21. Willcocks, L.P., Craig, A.S.: The Outsourcing Enterprise: Building core retained capabilities. Logica (2007)
- Jetter, M., Satzger, G., Neus, A.: Technological Innovation and Its Impact on Business Model, Organization and Corporate Culture – IBM's Transformation into a Globally Integrated, Service-Oriented Enterprise. Business Information Systems Engineering 1, 37–45 (2008)
- Willcocks, L.P., Lacity, M.: Survey of IT outsourcing experiences in US and UK organizations. Journal of Global Information Management 8, 5–23 (2002)
- Kieninger, A., Berghoff, F., Fromm, H., Satzger, G.: Simulation-Based Quantification of Business Impacts Caused by Service Incidents. In: Falcão e Cunha, J., Snene, M., Nóvoa, H. (eds.) IESS 2013. LNBIP, vol. 143, pp. 170–185. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)
- Kieninger, A., Straeten, D., Kimbrough, S., Schmitz, B., Satzger, G.: Leveraging Service Incident Analytics to Determine Cost-Optimal Service Offers. In: Wirtschaftsinformatik Proceedings 2013, Paper 64, Leipzig (2013)
- Beulen, E.: The management of global sourcing partnerships: Implications for the capabilities and skills of the IS function. In: First Information Systems Workshop on Global Sourcing, JIT 06–208, Val d'Isère (2007)
- 27. Salkind, N.J.: Encyclopedia of Research Design. Sage, London (2010)
- Schnell, R., Hill, P.B., Esser, E.: Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung. Oldenbourg, Munich (1993)
- 29. Atteslander, P., Cromm, J.: Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin (2003)
- Balnaves, M., Caputi, P.: Introduction to Quantitative Research Methods. Sage, London (2001)
- Silvius Gilbert, A.J., Turkiewicz, J., Keratsinov, A., Spoor, H.: The relationship between it outsourcing and business and it alignment: An explorative study. Computer Science and Information Systems 10, 973–998 (2013)
- 32. Sekaran, U., Bougie, R.: Research Methods for Business: A Skill Building Approach. John Wiley and Sons, New York (2010)

Servitization – Its Raise through Information and Communication Technologies

Natalia Kryvinska^{1,2}, Sebastian Kaczor¹, Christine Strauss¹, and Michal Greguš²

¹ Department of e-Business, School of Business, Economics and Statistics, University of Vienna, Oskar-Morgenstern-Platz 1, 1090 Vienna, Austria ² Department of Information Systems, Faculty of Management, Comenius University in Bratislava, Odbojárov 10, 820 05 Bratislava 25, Slovakia {natalia.kryvinska,christine.strauss}@univie.ac.at, sebastian.kaczor@gmx.at, Michal.Gregus@fm.uniba.sk

Abstract. The main challenge about dealing with servitization arises from the fact that one has to consider several diverging research disciplines, comprising of service science, manufacturing and operations management equally. Besides, contemporary economic environments are influenced by rapid development of information and communication technologies in different spheres. Thus, the servitizing companies are increasingly confronted with several substantial challenges on the implementation of novel ICT applications, which in turn may be a promising approach to exploit its capabilities to generate competitive advantage. Accordingly, first we discuss the fundamental impact of emergent ICTs on business models and customer behavior. Next, we examine the dedicated implications on the servitization sourced from ICT capabilities. Besides, a brief overview of current implementations is given, which in turn needs to be further broadened. Finally, potentially-valuable research directions, since the paper is a primary step in our research on the ICT and servitization inter-relationing, are proposed.

Keywords: Servitization, Service Science, ICT (Information Communication Technologies), e-Business, Product Service Systems (PSS).

1 Introduction

The emergence of fast and powerful information and communication technologies (ICT) like the Internet with its vast reach and multimedia capabilities constitutes a leading role in terms of improving existing business models and the enhancing the appearance of new ones [1]. In addition this development accounts likewise for considerable effects regarding the appreciation of manufactured goods and therefore enhances new forms of Product Service Systems (PSS). Consequently, the appropriate application of these technologies and the corresponding exploitation of their benefits constitutes an elementary competitive necessity $[2 \div 4]$. Since the approach and the inherent information capabilities of the Internet are accessible for everyone, especially customer, the initial subsequent subsection examines the implications on their resulting behaviour and supremacy. In fact, the novel information and communication capabilities equally affected business operations, which is examined in the 2nd subsection concerning e-Business.

M. Snene and M. Leonard (Eds.): IESS 2014, LNBIP 169, pp. 72-81, 2014.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

1.1 The Changing Role of Customers

Customers, who utilize the capabilities of novel ICT, are actually faced with a confusing paradox, since they are accompanied with increasing number of choices that finally yield less satisfaction yet. This circumstance originates from the fact that "(...) the role of the consumer in the industrial system has changed from isolated to connected, from unaware to informed, from passive to active" [4, p.1]. This statement actually reflects the situation about the increasing power and supremacy of customers which constitutes on their escalating information knowledge and business transparency [3, 5, 6]. Accordingly, [4] identified five different impacts, which are consolidated in Table 1 below and finally mirror this development perfectly.

Information Access	 Access to matchless vast amount of information and knowledge Compiling more informed decisions
Global View	 Access to information on firms, products, prices, performance and customer reviews from all around the world Therefore limiting possibilities for multinational firms in varying offerings and performances
Networking	 Thematic consumer communities sharing beliefs and experiences without geographic barriers Changing traditional top-down patterns of marketing communications
Experimentation	 Possibility of experimenting with and developing on digital products Enhances co-development
Activism	 Under the protection of anonymity people are embolden to speak out in digital communities Enhances unsolicited feedback

Table 1. Impacts on Customer Behavior (own illustration according to [4])

Consequently, the Internet with its novel information and communication technologies provides the customer with more (1) *information access* to enormous amounts of information and knowledge to make more informed decisions. Next, the Internet allows finally a (2) *global view* about firm's products, prices and performance reviews, which therefore limits the freedom to vary the price or quality level in different regions. Another impact is constituted by the possibility of (3) *networking* among consumer to share beliefs, ideas and experiences. Finally, emerging ICTs allow (4) *experimentation* with new technologies and enhances as well as (5) *activism* among customer communities to embolden others to act and speak out, which may result in unsolicited feedback [4]. Since the novel opportunities, stemming from increasing performance levels in ICT, also affect other spheres, the subsequent section introduces the implications on business models.

1.2 e-Business

The emergence of ICT likewise affected priorities in businesses by shifting importance from products to information, which tempts several companies to transfer their business to the Internet and conduct business relationships via novel digital ICT channels. Consequently, the term e-Business arose, which embodies the initiation, agreement and execution of business processes via digital channels of ICT, in order to enhance mutual value creation [7]. In fact, this implicates that information finally replaces inventory constituting on the stepwise replacement of physical goods by digital products [1]. In order to provide a guideline towards the transition to an e-Business organization, [6] suggested a certain roadmap to approach this subject. Although, the detailed elaboration of this matter definitely would go beyond the scope of this paper, nevertheless the merely fundamental finding bears considerable knowledge. Thus, the successful transformation towards e-Business is based on the deliberate alignment of the constituted business with the appropriate technology [6]. Finally, there are nine generic business models that may occur in e-Business [8]. In order to provide a brief overview about this sphere within this paper, the subsequent Table 2 illustrates their main characteristics and approaches.

Brokerage	• Bring buyers and sellers together and facilitate transactions				
	Charge tee or commission for each transaction enabled				
	• Extension of the traditional media broadcast model				
Advertising	• Website (=broadcaster) provides content and services mixed with				
Advertising	advertising messages in the form of banner ads				
	Banner ads may be major or sole source of revenue				
	• Collecting valuable data about consumers and their consumption				
Infomediary	habits				
momedialy	• Selling data in order provide information to target marketing				
	campaigns				
Manahant	Wholesaler and retailer of goods and services				
Werchant	• Sales based on list prices or auctions				
	• Reach buyers directly and thereby compress the distribution				
Manufaaturar	channel				
Wanufacturer	• Based on efficiency, improved customer service and a better				
	understanding of customer preferences				
	• Providing purchase opportunities wherever people may be				
Affiliate	surfing, by offering financial incentives to affiliated partner sites				
	Pay-for-performance model				
	• Viability based on user loyalty				
Community	• Revenue tied to contextual advertising and subscriptions for				
Community	premium services				
	One of the more fertile areas of development				
Subscription	 charged a periodic fee to subscribe to a service 				
I Itility	• combinations of free content and "premium" with costs				
Ounty	• "on-demand" model based on metering usage ("pay as you go")				

Table 2.	Generic	Business	Models or	1 the	Web (c	own ill	lustration	according	to [8	81)
I abic 2.	Ouncine	Dusiness	mouchs of	i uic	1100 ((Jwn m	lusuation	according	to fe	oj)

2 Impact on Servitization

Since the recent emergence of fast and powerful information and communication technologies (ICT) affected existing business models significantly, this also should be examined concerning the applications in servitization. Consequently, the subsequent section initially elaborates the role ICT within the servitization approach and proceeds with its novel enabled applications and capabilities. Finally, a brief framework which identifies possible opportunities regarding servitization will be elaborated.

2.1 The Role of ICT in Servitization

According to the section above e-Business deals with tangible products as well as digital ones and services for sure, as long as they are handled and sold via ICT channels [7]. Regarding this, the research work presented here identified two diverging possibilities on how ICT can be part of servitization and therefore enhance and support it. The first case considers the digital product itself as "lynchpin" of the offering, which constitutes value to the customer through its usage. In fact, this idea refers to the concept of S-D logic, since its value proposition stems from the intangible usage of a product and not its ownership [9]. Consequently, the paper suggests naming this assignment of ICT "Product Delivery". In contrast the integral part of the servitization offering also could be there, as well intangible service that is conducted on digital or tangible products. Accordingly, this idea would reflect the one of the typical servitization options consisting of an integration-oriented, productoriented, service-oriented, use-oriented or result-oriented product-service-system [10, 11]. Since this idea focuses on the execution of the service, the paper suggests naming this assignment of ICT "Service Delivery". In order to enhance the understanding of these ideas the following section provides each with a certain application regarding the role of ICT either as "Product Deliverer" or "Service Deliverer".

Regarding ICT as "Product Deliverer" one can illustrate this by concerning current developments in the music industry. Consequently, this industry is faced with the transition from a tangible product (e.g. CD) to an intangible service, thereby applying a new business model corresponding to the latest purchasing behaviors of customers, which is offered and distributed over digital portals [12]. In fact, the traditional business model, which relied on physical distribution, remains useless since the advent of the Internet and the exploding popularity of downloading digital music [13]. Furthermore, the value proposition of digital music may be additionally enhanced by its wider availability and greater interactivity among social media. Consequently, new business models established where customers either pay-as-they-go, pay for each downloaded track (such as Apple's iTunes) or pay-monthly to gain access to an allotted music service portal (such as Spotify) [12]. Hence, the digital channels of novel ICT enable the delivery of the product, which in a row embodies the value proposition through its consumption.

The second role of ICT in servitization is manifested as "Service Deliverer", whereupon ICT enables the execution of the servitization offering. This can be illustrated by a common case considering the application in remote diagnostics, where

complex manufactured products are monitored via sensors that finally provide essential information to the supplier regarding necessary maintenance intervals [14]. Consequently, ICT enables and enhances possibilities in providing remote support or standardized operating processes in companies operating in geographically distributed networks [2]. In fact, companies have to establish therefore new business models like outcome-based contracting [15, 16], which most prominent case is that introduced by Rolls Royce in the aeroplane industry called "Power-by-the-hour[®]", where the customer doesn't buys an engine but guaranteed flying hours [17]. Hence, the digital channels of novel ICT even enable the possibility regarding the servitization offering and furthermore conduct the delivery of this service. Consequently, the next section examines the function of ICT as enabler concerning certain servitization offerings.

2.2 ICT as Enabler of Servitization

First, the attention should be drawn on the denomination of it, since ICT is designated as "Enabler" of servitization, which may cause considerable disagreement amongst other researchers. In fact, a lot of other authors declare ICT as "Driver" of servitization [2, 3, 5, 18, 19], which induces a more intensive examination with this matter. Regarding drivers of servitization, literature agrees that the most distinctive ambition driving servitization is reflected by the desire to handle decreasing margins of manufacturing and selling goods [10, 20, 21]. Since the service industry embodies higher margins than selling goods, the financial driver of servitization constitutes of applying corresponding services in order to exploit these ones $[22 \div 24]$. Furthermore, servitization establishes strategic advantages in terms of differentiation [10, 24, 25] and even serves marketing issues through locking customer in [10, 23, 26, 27], which finally also provides monetary benefits for the company. Finally, opposing this with the arising capabilities of emergent ICT perhaps provides clarification to this matter. One probably will agree that manufacturer rather apply a remote diagnostics system [14], in order to handle the installed-base argument and achieve therefore stable revenues [11], than being excited about the gathered information concerning necessary maintenance intervals. Consequently, this paper considers servitization rather as "Enabler" of advanced servitization offerings than as "Driver" of them.

According to [2] one can separate the impact of ICT amongst the service offering and the operating processes of a company, where ICT enables for both sound improvement possibilities. In fact, with regard to the service offerings, ICT can extend the scope and depth of these, which relies on the increased value added, based on higher customization levels and a broader variety of more sophisticated service offerings [18]. Furthermore, ICT likewise enhances the emergence of new revenue streams, since it enables opportunities to operate real-time data in remote diagnostics applications [14], which allows proficient and useful decision-making processes [2]. Customers therefore gain considerable benefits regarding operation of products with longer life-cycles [3]. Finally, ICT enables also improvements on operating processes, which becomes apparent on the standardization of processes and the resulting improvement in process responsiveness [2]. Consequently, common issues regarding supply chain management like the negative implications of the bullwhip effect may be mitigated by smart ICT applications [5].

2.3 Identifying ICT Opportunities for Servitization

Actually, the process of aligning a certain given business with an appropriate technology in order to establish an e-Business already constitutes a tremendous challenge [6]. In contrast, whilst trying to realize a smart and powerful application of ICT in terms of a novel servitization opportunity, one should either know the business application or the technological approach. Accordingly, [19] introduced the dynamics of "IT push" and "business pull", which in combination finally account for the emergence of new ICT applications in servitization. In fact, every business implicates a certain prospective of innovation which stems from generic business issues, competitive pressures or customer demand [6]. Consequently this approach is manifested by the term "business pull", since it roots from the desires and demands of actors within the business matter. In contrast, innovative potential also stems from emerging technologies, which therefore is called "IT push" [19]. These both dynamics can be consolidated into a 2 x 2 matrix, therefore constituting four different characteristics, which are illustrated in the Figure 1.

Accordingly, a new ICT application is successfully conducted when it appears to be classified in the upper-left quadrant, where both the "IT push" and the "business pull" are known and defined. In fact, the best potential for an emerging application is determined by the "technology search" or the "opportunities search", where either the business problem is defined or the technological approach is known. Finally, one cannot gain any advantages if no one of the two dynamics appears [19].



Fig. 1. Push and Pull of ICT Innovations (own illustration according to [19])

3 Applications in Servitization

The concluding section of this paper examines each with a certain case study correspondingly matching option of servitization, in order to visualize the countless possibilities of emergent ICT and therefore enhance its understanding. Consequently, all of these applications are characterized by the utilization and exploitation of emergent information and communication technologies:

- Integration-oriented PSS Actually, the case of integration-oriented productservice systems is pretty strongly prevalent in e-Business, since it's manifested by simple online shops owned by manufacturing companies. In fact, the operation of an online shop constitutes a vertical integration, which is based on the moving into retail and therefore appears as integration-oriented approach [10]. Finally, two very popular examples can be displayed comprising of the computer manufacturer DELL and APPLE who actually operate online shops, in order to sell their products [28, 33].
- Product-oriented PSS Considering a product-oriented product-service system one deals with the purchase and ownership of a product, which is enriched by a corresponding service [10]. Consequently, this description fits to the already discussed case of remote diagnostics of complex products [14]. Regarding a more up to date example one may consider the corresponding services offered from TV manufacturer. In fact, each Philips TV comes nowadays with an onboard application called "Smart TV" which consolidates video on demand functions, the Internet access and even social media apps directly on the TV device [29].
- Service-oriented PSS The service-oriented option of servitization actually is characterized by the incorporation of the service offering into the product itself, which therefore results in a coupled product and service offering [21]. Hence, almost everyone is faced which such an offering in daily life, if owning a Smartphone with a corresponding telephone contract. Consequently, one purchases a Smartphone in order to make phone calls, which inherently implicates the need for a related telephone contract to execute the service [30].
- Use-oriented PSS A very prominent example for a use-oriented productservice system is provided by the already mentioned business model introduced by Rolls Royce in the aeroplane industry called "Power-by-the-hour®", where the customer doesn't buys an engine but guaranteed flying hours [17]. This perfectly reflects that in this case the ownership of the tangible product retains by the service provider, whilst the customer solely gains value from its usage [10, 31]. Another recent example is provided by the well-known urban shortterm car rental service "car2go" which operates in several cities around the world. Accordingly, the cars are diffused over a certain city, whilst registered users can obtain a car with their individual access cards and finally pay-by-use [32].
- Result-oriented PSS The last occurrence of servitization is characterized by the total replacement of a product with a service instead. Consequently, this option

is called result-oriented product-service system, since the customer only demands for the result of a service [10]. Actually, this phenomenon is represented by the case of the music industry and the replacement of purchasing tangible records to purchasing intangible music entertainment [12, 13].

4 Conclusions and Further Topic Development Ideas

The most distinctive implication originating from the emergence of ICT is reflected by the fact that "(...) the role of the consumer in the industrial system has changed from isolated to connected, from unaware to informed, from passive to active" [4, p.1]. Accordingly, the term e-Business arose, which embodies the initiation, agreement and execution of business processes via digital channels of ICT, in order to enhance mutual value creation. Furthermore, literature identified that the successful transformation towards e-Business is based on the deliberate alignment of the constituted business with the appropriate technology.

Concerning the direct implications of ICT on servitization this paper actually suggests considering it rather as "Enabler" than as "Driver" of servitization, which represents a conflictive approach to other researchers. Finally, opposing this with the arising capabilities of emergent ICT might provide clarification to this matter. Accordingly, one probably will agree that manufacturer rather apply a remote diagnostics system, in order to handle the installed-base argument and achieve therefore stable revenues, than being excited about the gathered information concerning necessary maintenance intervals, which actually affirms the suggested approach.

In order to identify new opportunities of ICT in servitization, [19] introduced the dynamics of "IT push" and "business pull", which in combination finally account for the emergence of new ICT applications in servitization. Consequently, the term "business pull" implicates that every business constitutes a certain prospective of innovation which stems from generic business issues, competitive pressures or customer demand. The term "IT push" finally stems from innovative potential regarding emerging technologies.

As the work presented in this paper is research-in-progress, the purpose was to establish primary research framework on the specifying prospects of ICT in servitization, the following issues need to be studied further in order to build a comprehensive view of the field:

- 1. An impact of ICT on:
 - a) the service offerings (e.g., added-value increase through the higher customization levels and a broader variety of services);
 - b) the operating processes of an enterprise (e.g., improvement and standardization of processes, as well as processes responsiveness);
- Opportunities of ICT to operate real-time data in remote diagnostic applications of complex e-Business services, in order to allow capable and advantageous decision-making processes;

- 3. Efficiency of supply chain management, particularly the reduction of negative consequences of the bullwhip effect that can be softened by smart ICT applications;
- 4. Opportunities and benefits of smart ICT applications usage for online shops' operation, e.g., e-Services delivery, particularly performance of extended studies as well as systematization of the cases multiplicity.

What is also important - examination each of above open issues with different case studies matching option of servitization. Consequently, capturing all essential topics and applications of servitization that are categorized by the utilization and exploitation of ICT technologies is our long-term research strategy.

References

1. Kalakota, R., Robinson, M.: E-Business 2.0 Emerging Business Models. I. Pearson Education (2012),

http://www.informit.com/articles/article.aspx?p=20901

- Belvedere, V., Grando, A., Bielli, P.: A quantitative investigation of the role of the information and communication technologies in the implementation of a product-service system. International Journal of Production Research 2, 410–426 (2013)
- Persona, A., Regattieri, A., Pham, H., Battini, D.: Remote Control and Maintenance Outsourcing Networks and its Applications in Supply Chain Management. Journal of Operations Management 25(6), 1275–1291 (2007)
- Prahalad, C., Ramaswamy, V.: Co-Creating unique Value with Customers. Strategy & Leadership 32(3), 4–9 (2004)
- Belvedere, V., Grando, A., Bielli, P.: The Impact of Information and Communication Technologies on operating Processes - Evidence from a Survey. Research Paper, Bocconi University and SDA Bocconi School of Management (2011)
- Wall, B., Jagdev, H., Browne, J.: An Approach to developing an eBusiness Roadmap. Production Planning & Control: The Management of Operations 16(7), 701–715 (2005)
- Stormer, H., Meier, A.: eBusiness Framework. Book Section, eBusiness & eCommerce, pp. 1–25. Springer, Heidelberg (2012), http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-29802-8_1
- 8. Rappa, M.: Business Models on the Web. Managing the digital Enterprise (2010), http://digitalenterprise.org/models/models.html (accessed November 24, 2012)
- Vargo, S., Lusch, R.: Evolving to a new Dominant Logic for Marketing. Journal of Marketing 68(1), 1–17 (2004)
- Baines, T., Lightfood, H., Benedettini, O., Kay, J.: The Servitization of Manufacturing A Review of Literature and Reflection on Future Challenges. Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management 20(5), 547–567 (2009)
- 11. Neely, A.: Exploring the financial Consequences of the Servitization of Manufacturing. Operations Management Research 1(2), 103–118 (2008)
- Parry, G., Bustinza, O., Vendrell-Herrero, F.: Servitisation and Value co-production in the UK Musik Industry - An empirical Study of Consumer Attitudes. International Journal of Production Economics 135(1), 320–332 (2012)

- Graham, G., Burnes, B., Lewis, G., Langer, J.: The Transformation of the Music Industry Supply Chain - A Major Label Perspective. International Journal of Operations & Production Management 24(11), 1087–1103 (2004)
- Brax, S., Jonsson, K.: Developing integrated Solution Offerings for Remote Diagnostics -A comparative case Study of two Manufacturer. International Journal of Operations & Production Management 29(5), 539–560 (2009)
- Ng, I., Ding, X.: Outcome-based Contract Performance and Co-Production in B2B Maintenance and Repair Service. In: Proceedings of the International Research Seminar in Service Management, May 24-26, pp. 24–26. La Londe, France (2010)
- Zhang, K., Ma, B., Dong, P.: Drivers and Implications of Service Science. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Management and Service Science (MASS 2009), Wuhan/Beijing, China, September 20-22, pp. 1–5 (2009)
- 17. Ng, I., Nudurupati, S., Tasker, P.: Value Co-Creation in the Delivery of outcome-based Contracts for Business-to-Business Service. AIM Research Working Paper Series (2010)
- Avadikyan, A., Lhuillery, S.: Innovation, organisational Change and Servicisation A micro Data Level Analysis in five European Countries. Research Paper. In: Proc. Of DIME Workshop, GREDEG-DEMOS, West-End Hotel, Nice, November 15-16 (2007)
- Peppard, J.: Avoiding the Traps of Information Technology Innovation. Research Paper, IT Directors Forum, Athens, Greece (2011)
- Gebauer, H., Fleisch, E., Friedli, T.: Overcoming the Service Paradox in Manufacturing Companies. European Management Journal 23(1), 14–26 (2005)
- Neely, A.: The Servitization of Manufacturing An Analysis of Global Trends. In: Proceedings of the 14th European Operations Management Association Conference (EurOMA), Ankara, Turkey, June 17-20, pp. 17–20 (2007)
- Falk, M., Peng, F.: The increasing Service Intensity of European Manufacturing. The Service Industries Journal (iFirst Article), 1–21 (2012)
- Mathieu, V.: Service Strartegies within the manufacturing Sector Benefits, Costs and Partnership. International Journal of Service Industry Management 12(5), 451–475 (2001)
- Tether, B., Bascavusoglu-Moreau, E.: Servitization The Extent of and Motivation for Service Provision amongst UK based Manufacturers. AIM Research Working Paper Series (2011)
- 25. Bascavusoglu-Moreau, E., Tether, B.: Servitization, Survival and Productivity. In: DRUID Summer Conference, June 15-17, Copenhagen Business School, Denmark (2011)
- Oliva, R., Kallenberg, R.: Managing the Transition from Products to Services. International Journal of Service Industry Management 14(2), 160–172 (2003)
- 27. Vandermerwe, S., Rada, J.: Servitization of Business Adding Value by adding Services. European Management Journal 6(4), 315–324 (1988)
- 28. Apple Inc. (2012) http://www.apple.com/at/ (accessed November 24, 2012)
- 29. Philips Austria GmbH (2012), http://www.philips.at/c/smarttv/ 286468/cat/ (accessed November 24, 2012)
- Castaldi, L., Addeo, F., Massaro, R., Mazzoni, C.: A Consumer Perspective on Mobile Market Evolution. Research Paper. Second University of Naples (2007)
- 31. Coyne, B.R.: The 21st Century Manufacturer. Bachelor Thesis. Jönköping International Business School (2011)
- 32. car2go GmbH (2012), http://www.car2go.com/ (accessed November 24, 2012)
- 33. DELL GmbH (2012), http://www.dell.at/ (accessed November 24, 2012)

Introducing Service-oriented Organizational Structure for Capability Sourcing

Laleh Rafati and Geert Poels

Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Ghent University, Tweekerkenstraat 2, 9000 Gent, Belgium {laleh.rafati,geert.poels}@UGent.be

Abstract. At the strategic management level in an organization, participants in the decision making process need to share a common language to facilitate discussions and enhance related decision making. The context of this position paper is about strategic sourcing decision making and the goal is to facilitate it through a well-defined language. Companies need to acquire the right capabilities from the right source, and the right shore, at the right cost to improve their competitive position. In this position paper, capability sourcing is introduced as an organizing process to gain access to best-in-class capabilities for all activities in a company's value chain to ensure long-term competitive advantage. Furthermore, capability sourcing takes place in the service-oriented organizational structure that is introduced as a flexible structure to allocate the resources that shape the firm's competitive advantages. Therefore, the conceptualization of service system is proposed as a well-defined language for modeling, formalizing, representing and visualizing the concepts, constructs, and models in the capability sourcing process to facilitate strategic sourcing decision making.

Keywords: capability sourcing, strategic sourcing, service-oriented organizational structure, service orientation, componentization and service system.

1 Introduction

Organizing as a phase of organization management is defined as the process of arranging resources to work together to accomplish a goal. The organizing process formulates corporate strategies to achieve competitive advantages through arranging the firm's resources and configuring the firm's capabilities within a changing environment. In the organizing process, high-level (strategic) decisions are made about choosing the right sourcing alternatives like outsourcing, insourcing or co-sourcing. Sourcing decisions include the commitments, decisions and actions required for a firm to achieve strategic competitiveness on resources and organizational capabilities. In this paper we introduce two key requirements to facilitate sourcing decision making. There requirements need to be elaborated in further research.

2 Strategic Sourcing

"For years, sourcing has just been another word for procurement — a financial material, but strategically peripheral, corporate function. Now, globalization, aided by rapid technology innovation, is changing the basis of competition. [1] It's no longer a company's ownership of capabilities that matters but rather its ability to control and make the most of critical capabilities, whether or not they reside on the company's balance sheet". [1]

Forward-thinking companies are making their value chains more elastic and their organization structures more flexible and adaptable. "Sourcing is evolving into a strategic process for organizing and fine-tuning the value chain". [1] Companies should be looking to alternative sourcing of business capabilities to seize new market opportunities. Yet few companies are taking full advantage of the cost and flexibility opportunities in the new global arena. [1]

Strategic sourcing is a systematic and fact based approach for optimizing an organization's supply base and improving the overall value proposition. "Strategic sourcing allows companies to take full advantage of cost, flexibility and new capability opportunities; whether delivered by traditional suppliers and BPO suppliers, trading partners, distributors, agents and even customer self-service models". [2]

Strategic sourcing is rooted in the idea that a business must have a set of explicitly defined capabilities in order to execute its strategy successfully. [2] "Leaders often mistake the course of action and pursue a wrong path — diverting attention from the intended strategy. A root cause is often that strategic intent and objectives are not articulated in clear operating language for better execution. A written strategy does not ensure strategic action". [2]

3 Requirements for Right Sourcing

Companies need 1) to define for their own business how they create competitive advantage, and identify key capabilities they need to be world class; 2) to determine the optimal work location and delivery approach for in-house work; 3) to determine the right sourcing options to meet the sourcing strategic objectives and structure optimal sourcing decisions; 4) to determine optimal sourcing location: onshore, nearshore, offshore. Overall, companies need to leverage *the right capability at the right cost from the right source and the right shore* to improve their competitive position.

A right way of arranging resources and configuration capabilities is needed to acquire the right capabilities from the right source, and the right shore, at the right price across the value chain and within a changing environment.

There are two main requirements for arranging resources and configuration capabilities (organizing) to accomplish strategic sourcing goals effectively and efficiently: 1) a process as a course of action to execute strategic sourcing goals and 2) an organizational structure as a configuration or construction to pursue strategic sourcing goals.

The first requirement is an organizing process of gaining access to best-in-class capabilities for all activities in a company's value chain to ensure long-term competitive advantage. [1] It is needed to support companies to improve their competitive position by reducing costs, streamlining the organization, and improving quality. Also it is needed to support companies for finding more-qualified partners to provide critical functions that usually allow to enhance the core capabilities that drive competitive advantage in their industries. [1]

The second requirement is structure as a means that managers use to harness (control) resources and capabilities to achieve strategic goals. Also the organizing process take place within a structure reflected by the way in which the organization: 1) groups its work or activities, 2) establishes patterns of relationship among its various parts, 3) allocates its resources to achieve the specific strategic goals efficiently and effectively.

An organization structure needs to follow the organizational strategies. It is Chandler's Thesis – 1960's. Business environments are in a constant state of change. An organization's strategy must be adapted to changes in its competitive environment. Strategic change creates the need for restructuring the organization to acquire new and different knowledge, skills and abilities. [3]

It is critical to match organizational structure to the firm's strategy. "Effective structures provide stability and flexibility. Structural stability provides the capacity required to consistently and predictably manage daily work routines". "Structural flexibility provides for the opportunity to explore competitive possibilities and the allocation of resources to activities that shape needed competitive advantages". [3]

Therefore, strategy and structure have a reciprocal relationship. "Structure flows from or follows the selection of the firm's strategy but once in place, structure can influence current strategic actions as well as choices about future strategies". [3] Firms grow in predictable patterns by volume, by geography, by integration and finally through product or business diversification. A firm's growth patterns determine its structural form. [3]

A flexible structure refers to participative communication patterns of interactions that link a firm's components across its value chain within a changing environment. The flexible structure provides the opportunity to explore competitive positions and the allocation of resources that shape competitive advantages needed by the firm. [3] The Flexible structure decentralizes both tasks and decisions so that the company can adapt more quickly to changing circumstances. It works best in fluid and unpredictable business climates, in which a rigid structure might not respond quickly enough. Therefore it is needed to follow strategic sourcing goals.

Finally, the organized process needs to take place within a flexible structure to execute sourcing strategies through gaining access to best-in-class capabilities in the company's value net. This is because the flexible structure is successful in adapting to change in unstable and uncertain environments and allows firms to bring resources together in a boundary-less organization. (Fig.1)



Fig. 1. Role of structure and process in right sourcing

4 Capability Sourcing as an Organizing Process

Capability sourcing began as a cost-cutting measure, but companies that create real sustained value routinely use it for far more strategic ends to gain capabilities that they don't have in-house, or to strengthen capabilities they do have, for everything from developing world-class talent to bringing new products to market faster and enabling business model innovation. [4] The capability sourcing process improves a company's competitive position by ensuring that processes and functions are obtained from the right source at the right cost. Greater focus on capability sourcing can improve a company's strategic position by reducing costs, streamlining the organization, and improving quality. [4] Also it can support companies for finding more-qualified partners to provide critical functions that usually allows to enhance their core capabilities that drive competitive advantage in their industries. [1]

Totally, capability sourcing is a process of gaining access to best-in-class capabilities for all activities in a company's value chain to ensure long-term competitive advantage. [1] [5] In this process, capabilities are the key to alignment and successful strategy execution and also capability sourcing model is a blueprint and a structured and aligned way to organize the capabilities required for strategy execution.

Role of Business Capability in Sourcing: Capabilities are WHAT the company needs to do to execute its business strategy, stated in measurable and actionable terms. [2] Resources are the assets that organizations have or can call upon (e.g. from partners or suppliers), that is, 'What a firm Has'. Capabilities are 'What the firm can Do'. Resources and capabilities are the key to alignment and successful execution. Furthermore, dynamic capabilities are the organization's abilities to renew and recreate its strategic capabilities to meet the needs of a changing environment. [6]

Capabilities exist across the value chain and in order to achieve high-performance a business must learn to manage capabilities that other parties in the value chain perform. They must learn to govern a network of capabilities. Right sourcing allows sharper focus on differentiating capabilities. In other hand, incorrect sourcing decisions limit agility and increase costs. Capabilities where the company is not best in class can be, 1) built internally via process improvement and investment; 2) outsourced to a provider who is best in class; 3) moved offshore when cost and/or quality are superior. Clarifying the value contribution (or strategic relevance) of each capability helps a business allocate the right level of time and resources — whether to strengthen, minimize or outsource. Determining the value contribution helps focus resources and sourcing alternatives on capabilities that create value and distinctiveness, or identifies where to target efficiency work, either through rigorous process improvement or sourcing to a low cost provider. [2]

A complete picture of capabilities is the Enterprise Capability Model, sometimes also referred to as capability (heat) map. [7] It is a blueprint for the business expressed in terms of the capabilities necessary to execute the stated strategy. A capability model organizes in a structured and aligned way the capabilities required for strategy execution by determining capability value contribution. [2]

5 Service System as a Flexible Structure

Organizational structure refers to the grouping of activities and establishing patterns of relationships among the various parts of the organization. Structure provides a means of balancing two conflicting forces; 1) differentiation (Grouping): need for the division of tasks into meaningful groupings; 2) Integration (linking): need to integrate the groupings for efficiency and effectiveness. It creates a basis for measuring and comparing organizations. [8]

Organizational structure is an organization's framework as expressed by its degree of complexity, formalization, and centralization. Complexity refers to the degree of differentiation that exists within the organization. Formalization refers to the degree to which works (jobs) within an organization are standardized. Centralization refers to the degree to which decision making is concentrated at a single point in the organization. [8]

To execute sourcing strategies through the capability sourcing process, an organizational structure is needed that eliminates traditional barriers between departments as well as barriers between the organization and the external environment. In other words, an organizational structure is needed in which chains of command are eliminated, spans of control are unlimited, and rigid departments give way to empowered teams. Here, types of organizational boundaries and barriers are as below: [3]

- Horizontal boundaries between different departments or functions in a firm.
- Vertical boundaries between operations and management, and levels of management, between "corporate" and "division".
- Geographic boundaries between different physical locations; between different countries or regions of the world and between cultures.
- External interface boundaries between a company and its customers, suppliers, partners, regulators, and competitors.

We introduce Service System as a flexible structure to follow sourcing strategies. Service system has been defined as a dynamic configuration of resources (people, technologies, organizations and shared information) that is able to create and deliver value to other interested entities, through service. [9] In this research, this flexible structure has been called "Service-oriented Organizational Structure (SoOS)".

Service-oriented organizational structure introduces componentization and service orientation as two structural enablers for balancing two conflicting forces, differentiation and integration.

Componentization is a way to deconstruct an enterprise and then reconstruct it again into a value net, in which partnerships with customers and suppliers operate in a value network. The process of deconstruction-reconstruction is realized through business components (i.e. distinct business functions). A business component is a part of an enterprise that has the potential to operate independently. Business components represent a logical grouping of the work done within the enterprise and contain capabilities, activities, resources and performers. Therefore, service-oriented organizational structure introduce componentization as a way of differentiation by grouping tasks into meaningful and independent logical groupings. [10] [7]

Service orientation is a seamless integration and connection between business components within the firm, across external partners and throughout the world. Therefore, service-oriented organizational structure introduces service orientation as a way of integration through linking the groupings internally and across the boundaries of organization. [11]

Finally, Service-oriented Organizational Structure is a flexible structure to follow strategic sourcing goals and the capability sourcing process can take place within this structure to execute strategic sourcing goals through sharper focus on differentiating capabilities. (Fig.2)



Fig. 2. Relation between SoOS and capability sourcing

6 Enterprise Capability Model Based on SoOS

In this paper, service-oriented organizational structure has been introduced as a flexible and adaptable structure that provides opportunities for dynamic allocation of resources and also dynamic configuration of capabilities to shape the needed competitive advantages. This structure is needed to follow strategic sourcing goals to achieve competitive advantages. Firms frequently alter their structure as they grow in size and complexity. Organizations require such form of organizational structure to implement and manage their sourcing strategies to improve their competitive position.

Furthermore, in this paper, we introduced capability sourcing as an organizing process which takes place in a service-oriented organizational structure to pursue strategic sourcing goals. This process includes modeling and decision making processes to perform the right sourcing. A modeling process is needed 1) to create artifacts like an Enterprise Capability Model as a blueprint to express the capabilities that are necessary to execute the stated strategy; 2) to formulate sourcing principles and measurements that inform and support the way in which an organization realizes its strategic sourcing goals.

At the strategic management level in an organization, decision makers need to share a common ground or a common language to facilitate their discussions. [12] A common language is needed to define and articulate concepts that facilitate the description of objects of strategic interest and that improve the strategic discussions and enhance related decision making. [13] Our research will focus upon the design of an articulated and clear modeling language based on a service-oriented organizational structure for capability sourcing. Service-oriented organizational structure is a well-defined basis for conceptual modeling in capability sourcing process. Our approach is introducing the service system abstraction as a well-defined conceptualization for capability modeling through mapping the concepts of service system [9] with the concepts of capability sourcing. The key concepts in service system are: (Fig. 4) [14]

Resource- in the context of service systems, resources are operand resources and operant resources. Operand resources (e.g., natural resources) are usually tangible and static resources that require some action to make them valuable. Operant resources (e.g., human skills and knowledge) are usually intangible and dynamic resources that are capable of acting on operand and other operant resources to create value. In other hand, in the sourcing context, the resources of the firm are seen as the main factors driving the firm's strategy and performance. When the external environment is subject to rapid change, resources and capabilities offer a more secure basis for strategy than market focus. This distinction between operand and operant resources is useful for capability modeling to describe dynamic capabilities through the dynamic configuration of resources. [14]

Value creation- in the context of a service system, value is an increase in the viability (survivability, well-being) of the system. [15] [16] In the context of service system, value is created collaboratively in interactive configurations of mutual exchange. [15] [16] This definition is similar to the definition of core competencies in a strategic sourcing context. Core competencies are the essence of what makes an organization unique in its ability to provide value to customers. Core competencies

are "What a firm Does" that is strategically valuable and also can lead to competitive advantage. [14]

Service system- it is a dynamic value co-creation configuration of resources, including people, organizations, shared information and technology, all connected internally and externally to other service systems by value propositions. [14] This definition is similar to the concept of business component in sourcing context. A business component is a discrete business areas comprised of people, processes and/or technologies that have a clear purpose and maintain financial viability. It is a part of enterprise that has potential to operate independently. Business component is key element to realize the deconstruction- reconstruction process of organization (componentization). [14]

Service exchange- in the context of service system, service is the application of resources (knowledge and skills) by one entity for the benefit of another. This definition provides a fresh perspective for understanding economic phenomena, by implying that value is created collaboratively in interactive configurations of mutual exchange. The definition of service exchange between service systems is similar to service orientation in sourcing as a seamless integration between business components. [14]

Resource Integrator- businesses, firms, and customers are all viewed as socioeconomic actors who connect through value propositions within "complex service systems" and perform actions aimed at reaching desired outcomes such as mutual value creation. All social and economic actors are essentially doing the same thing; creating value for themselves and others through reciprocal resource integration and service provision. From the S-D Logic view, all economic and social actors are resource integrators and also the actor is always a co-creator of value. This definition is meaningful to describe best-in-class external partners and internal specialists who connect through value propositions within a value net. [14]



Fig. 3. Core concepts of service system

Current analytical methods for strategic planning such as strategy maps, SWOT analysis, PEST analysis, Porter's five forces analysis, and value chain analysis are not based on common languages, conceptual frameworks, and visual schemas that could be used to facilitate the strategic (sourcing) discussions and strategic (sourcing) decision making. [17] The advantage of the proposed approach "Service System Conceptualization" is its ability to apply for modeling, formalizing, representing, and visualizing the concepts, constructs, and models in strategic sourcing. Therefore, this conceptualization can improve the process of design thinking, prototyping, and exploring alternative solutions for strategic sourcing or capability sourcing decision making.

7 Research Method

Information systems (IS) research has the potential to contribute to improving strategic planning, particularly to improving decision making. [13] The current research focus in strategic management could be improved by some of the more conceptual and design-oriented research in IS. Three research areas of strategic management that could be improved by IS research are (1) the formalization and visualization of the core strategic concepts, (2) the exploration of design techniques for generating and assessing multiple models (to improve the process of designing answers and alternatives to strategic business questions), and (3) the support of computer-aided design for strategic management. Therefore, IS research offers a unique opportunity to contribute to corporate strategy research by helping in the design and exploration of multiple strategic options to better decision making. [13]

In our future research, our intended contribution is applying IS research in strategic management to improve strategic sourcing decision making. We apply IS research for identifying and formalizing strategic (sourcing) notions by (1) discovery of objects relevant to the design of (sourcing) strategy, (2) turning these objects into explicit specifications of a conceptualization, and (3) validating those subsequent objects. Our research is based on theories of two disciplines (1) service science with theories like service system theory and service dominant logic, and (2) organization science with theories like resource based view and dynamic capabilities.

Therefore, our research method is Design Science Research Methodology (DSRM) that is an accepted framework for IS research. [18] Our artifact is a conceptual construction in the scope of strategic decision making. Furthermore, we will use an observational design evaluation method for evaluation design artifact i.e. case studies. Consequently, the next step of our research is designing a sourcing conceptualization based on an ontology and modeling approach for service science like in [19].

References

- Gottfredson, M., Puryear, R., Phillips, S.: Strategic Sourcing: From Periphery to the Core. Harvard Business Review, 132–139 (February 2005)
- Loftin, R., Lynch, R., Calhoun, J.: The Sourcing Canvas: A Strategic Approach to Sourcing Decisions, p. 13. Accelare Inc. (2011)

- Hitt, M.A., Ireland, R.D., Hoskisson, R.E.: Strategic Management, Concepts and Cases: Competitiveness and Globalization (2012)
- 4. Capability Sourcing / Outsourcing/ Offshoring Bain & Company, http://www.bain.com/consulting-services/ performance-improvement/capability-sourcing.aspx
- 5. Armacost, R.: Capability Sourcing Overview. Bain & Company (2005)
- 6. Teece, D.J., Pisano, G., Shuen, A.: Dynamic Capabilities and Strategic Management. Strategic Management Journal 18(7) (2007)
- 7. IBM Institute of Business Value: Component Business Model (2003)
- 8. Robbins, S.P., Coulter, M.: Management, 11th edn. (2009) ISBN 978-0-13-216384-2
- 9. Maglio, P.P., Vargo, S.L., Caswell, N., Spohrer, J.: The service system is the basic abstraction of service science. Information Systems and E-Business Management (2009)
- IBM Institute for Business Value: The Specialized Enterprise–A Fundamental Redesign of Firms and Industries. Publication G510-4014-02, IBM Corporation (2005)
- Cherbakov, L., Galambos, G., Harishankar, R., Kalyana, S., Rackham, G.: Impact of Service Orientation at the Business Level. IBM Systems Journal 44(4), 653–668 (2005)
- Clark, H., Brennan, S.: Grounding in communication. In: Resnick, L.B., Levine, J.M., Teasley, S.D. (eds.) Perspectives on Socially-Shared Cognition, American Psychological Association, Washington, DC (1991)
- Osterwalder, A., Pigneur, Y.: Designing business models and similar strategic objects: the contribution of IS. Journal of the Association for Information Systems 14(5), Article 3 (2013)
- Vargo, S.L., Lusch, R.F.: Service-Dominant Logic: Premises, Perspectives, Possibilities, Naples Forum on Service (2013)
- Barile, S., Saviano, M.: S-DL, VSA and SS Highlighting Convergences. In: International Cooper Link Workshop The emerging Perspective of Service Science for Management and Marketing Studies, Naples (June 9, 2010)
- Golinelli, G.M., Spohrer, J., Barile, S., Bassano, C.: The evolving dynamics of service cocreation in a viable systems perspective. In: The 13th Toulon-Verona Conference Proceedings of the International Conference in Coimbra, Portugal, September 2-4 (2010)
- 17. Teece, D.: Business models, business strategy and innovation. Long Range Planning 43, 172–194 (2010)
- Peffers, K., Tuunanen, T., Rothenberger, M., Chatterjee, S.: A design science research methodology for IS research. Journal of Management Information Systems 24(3), 45–77 (2007)
- Poels, G., Van Der Vurst, G., Lemey, E.: Towards an ontology and modeling approach for service science. In: Falcão e Cunha, J., Snene, M., Nóvoa, H. (eds.) IESS 2013. LNBIP, vol. 143, pp. 285–291. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)

Why Is Aligning Economic- and IT Services So Difficult?

Maryam Razavian, Patricia Lago, and Jaap Gordijn

VU University Amsterdam, The Netherlands {m.razavian,p.lago,j.gordijn}@vu.nl

Abstract. Since its inception, Service Orientation has promised to offer seamless alignment of the business and IT aspects of service-oriented systems. Practitioners, however, often report that such alignment is far from being solved. Specifically, current research in aligning services either remains at a too abstract, strategic level, or is too technology-oriented to be really useful in practice. In spite of being an "old" problem, business-IT alignment is still a dilemma. What makes alignment so difficult? In this work we address this fundamental question by questioning what should be aligned, and what are the concerns hindering alignment. This paper explores the conceptual gaps around the notion of service in the two economic- and IT perspectives. By framing the core constructs of Service Orientation and contrasting those constructs between the economicand IT perspectives, this paper elicits five core alignment concerns. We illustrate the concerns using a real-life case study featuring an airport baggage handling system. The alignment concerns pinpoint promising solutions in which the alignment problem can be solved.

1 Introduction

Alignment has been a critical issue of service providers and consumers for years [1]. Empirical studies [2] show that alignment is a better predictor of organization's effectiveness than strategic orientation. More than twenty years ago, Henderson and Venkatraman proposed an influential model for business IT alignment [3]. Since then many approaches have proposed solutions for the old alignment problem, yet, how to actually realize it is no clearer today than it was decades ago.

Service Orientation is one of the paradigms that since its inception has promised to offer seamless alignment between multiple perspectives. Practitioners in the field, however, often report that such alignment is far from being solved. With so much hype surrounding Service Orientation, it is not surprising that academics and practitioners interpreted the concept differently and proposed different approaches for service alignment. Accordingly, soon there were abundance of unique methods that are hard to compare, leading to confusion on what alignment implies. Specifically, current research in aligning services either remains at a too abstract, or is too technology-oriented to be really useful in practice.

93

As first step towards solving the "old" alignment problem, in this work we address the question of 'what makes alignment so difficult?'. To do so, we take a holistic view on which *perspectives* should be taken on the notion of service alignment, what are the *core elements* that need to be aligned, and what are the *concerns* hindering alignment.

Services, being one of the *core elements* of Service Orientation, are generally addressed from the business- and the IT *perspectives*. Term "business", however, is used in a very broad connotation, meaning anything that relates to the business objectives of a certain company. Eventually business includes IT, too, whenever IT is instrumental to realize, or support, the business. This confusion may conflict with the goal of aligning business and IT. To clarify the two perspectives, we scope down the business perspective (which encompasses organizations, markets and/or activities/services in the broad sense) to the economic perspective (which focuses on creating commercial value).

From the economic perspective, services are understood as deeds, processes, and performances [4]. Here a service typically corresponds to an activity (or series of activities) of more or less intangible nature [5]. In this perspective we may understand services as economic services, i.e. services for whose provisioning someone has to pay. From the *IT perspective* services refer to entirely different notion. For instance, in the realm of 'web services', a service is understood as "a software system designed to support interoperable machine-to-machine interaction over a network"¹. In the field of service oriented architectures, a service means "a logical representation of a repeatable activity that has a specified outcome" (e.g. check customer data, deliver pizza, provide higher level education)². A service is self-contained (state-less and adhering to a service contract); may be composed of other services (service composition); and is a black-box to its consumers [6]. Although the economic and IT perspectives on the notion of service are different, they are also related. Therefore they should be properly aligned; i.e., linked where relevant and kept consistent as a coherent whole.

To elicit the differing interpretations of the *core elements* per perspective, in this work we identify the shared terminology from both perspectives. To do so, we use a fragment of a real-life case study, featuring an airport baggage handling system, and model it using $e^3 value$ [7] and SoaML [8] modeling notations, which represent the economic- and IT perspectives, respectively. The discrepancies in interpretation of the *core elements* per perspective and, more importantly, the reason behind such discrepancies drive the identification of *alignment concerns*.

As a result, we elicit five fundamental concerns that are prevalent in service alignment endeavors. Those concerns suggest the following answer to 'what makes alignment so difficult?'; It is difficult because, in essence, the economicand IT perspective pursue *incompatible objectives*. Without highlighting such incompatibilities, and specifically guiding how to balance such incompatibilities, alignment approaches are not able to sufficiently ease the alignment endeavors.

¹ http://www.w3.org/TR/ws-arch/, visited May 30th, 2013.

² http://www.opengroup.org/soa/source-book/togaf/soadef.htm, visited May 7th, 2013.

This paper is organized as follows. Sect. 2 presents an overview of service alignment as well as the core concepts *shared* between both perspectives. In Sect. 3 we present our running example. Sect. 4 presents a series of alignment concerns. Sect. 5 briefly reviews related work. Finally, Sect. 6 concludes the paper.

2 Aligning the Economic- and IT Perspectives on Services

This section presents our definition of alignment and introduces shared terminology between the economic and IT perspectives.

2.1 What Does Alignment Imply?

Alignment has been perceived very differently in the many existing approaches. For example, alignment in [3] means *balance*, in [9] *linking*, and in [10] it implies *harmony*. These interpretations each indicate a different, fundamental aspect of alignment: (i) the **alignment process** that entails *linking* equivalent elements, and/or *balancing* and eventually *compensating* the incompatible objectives and (ii) the **alignment outcome** i.e., state of harmony between different elements to achieve a coherent whole. Considering that both process and end-result perspectives are instrumental for ensuring a successful alignment, we define alignment as follows:

From process view, alignment is a continual process which includes (i) linking the elements that are equivalent or belong to a single overarching concept, and (ii) balancing and mutually compensating the incompatibilities. In addition, the alignment process should be carried out across multiple organizations as service orientation centers around the idea of offering services in networked organizations [11] rather than a single organization. From the outcome view, alignment is a state in which the core elements make a coherent whole, across perspectives, and across multiple organizations.

2.2 Terminology and Basic Concepts

In the following, we introduce the terminology constructs that are shared between the economic- and IT perspectives, but have a different, more specialized, interpretation in the two perspectives. It is our assumption that this multi-interpretable shared terminology motivates conceptual overlap between the perspectives and therefore is an important source of alignment challenges. The proposed terminology is notation-agnostic, although we use our knowledge on value modeling (e^3 value) and service modeling (SoaML) to elicit the shared terminology. In our past serviceoriented design projects we have observed that these terminology constructs are recurring and they are application-generic. However, to ensure that they are the bare essentials of Service Orientation, further research is needed. In the following the constructs of the shared terminology are in typewriter (e.g., actor).

95

- Actors. From an economic perspective, actors are *legal entities* [7]. A legal entity can be an enterprise, a profit-and-loss responsible unit within an enterprise, or a final customer. From an IT perspective, actors are *participants*, being *legal entities*, *people*, or *systems* [8].
- Services. Actors offer and request services. For the economic perspective, these services are *commercial* services, meaning that someone has to pay (give something of value in return) for the provisioning of a service. For the IT perspective, services are logically grouped operations that can be invoked.
- Interaction. Actors *interact* with each other. In [12], different kinds of interactions are proposed, depending on the perspective taken. In this paper, we restrict ourselves to the economic and IT perspectives. Taking the economic perspective, we consider *economic value transfers* as interactions. A value transfer can be a service outcome, but can also reflect a payment by transferring money (in [7] the notion of value transfer/exchange and value object is further explained). Assuming the IT perspective, interactions also happen between actors, but now imply *message exchanges* cf. service oriented architectures.
- Contract. Both the economic and IT perspective are governed by contracts, although these contracts differ per perspective. For instance, a service contract in the economic perspective may state its pricing and service quality in terms of properties valued by the customer. A service contract in the IT perspective may contain an interface specification cf. WSDL and technical quality attributes such as uptime, latency, etc.

3 The Running Example: Baggage Handling System

Our running example is extracted from a baggage handling system. A SOA solution provider company has designed a service inventory for a baggage handling system that is adoptable in different types of airports (e.g. hub, domestic, international, low-cost) and can be used by different types of airlines (e.g. legacy, domestic, international and intercontinental). From a bird's-eye view, baggage handling is quite simple. The traveller arrives at check-in desk, and her/his baggages are tagged by the Airline. Airport plans and governs the baggage handling process. Ground handlers do the real baggage management. They can optimize the routes taken by the carts to get the bags needed most urgently to their destinations fastest. They also track-and-trace the baggages. Finally, the security provider support the screening of the baggage. Consequently, baggage handling relies on five different actors: traveller, airline, airport, ground handers, and security provider.

3.1 Economic Perspective: Service Value Networks

We model the economic perspective using $e^3 value$ [7]. Fig. 1 presents an $e^3 value$ diagram representing the economic value aspects of the Baggage Handling System.



Fig. 1. The e^3 value model for the baggage handling system

Basically, the e^3 value model shows how actors create value in the context of the Baggage Handling System. First, there is a market segment called 'Traveler' who has the need to transport his baggage. A market segment indicates that are many actors that assign economic value in the same way. So in this case, there are multiple 'Travelers'. The notion of market segment is graphically depicted by stacked rectangles. In the economic perspective, the actors being part of a market segment are always legal entities or profit-and-loss responsible entities. The 'Airline' transports the baggage and uses services form the 'Airport' to do transportation. Equally to the 'Traveler', the 'Airline' is a market segment, indicating that many airlines are served by the same 'Airport'. The 'Airport', however is a single actor; in this e^3 value model there is only one 'Airport', and refers therefore to a specific airport (e.g. 'Schiphol Amsterdam'). The actor construct is depicted as a single rectangle. The 'Airport' in turn uses two parties to the actual work. The 'Ground handler' offers 'baggage management' which includes operating the baggage handling system, and the 'Security provider' offers a 'screening' service'.

The **service** 'Manual Labeling' is modeled as a value activity that produces a service outcome named 'Labels' (in e^3 value a value object). A value activity is an activity that, potentially, can be performed in a *profitable way* by some actor. Therefore, the value activity construct is not the same as the *operational* activity often found in process modeling approaches. The notion of profitability is important because actors should be interested in performing the activity.

The notion of contract is modeled using the e^3 value construct 'value interface' (depicted as an oval rectangle including ports shown as arrow heads) that specifies the *interface* to the outside world. For instance, for the 'Airline', it represents that in order to obtain 'Handled baggage', the 'Airline' must provide a payment. For instance the price (as a contractual element) can be modeled by the port requesting the 'money' value object. In this case the actor requesting the 'money' object determines the price.

The value transfers are a kind of **interactions** between actors or market segments and are depicted as lines between them, annotated with the value objects they exchange. The notion of value transfer assumes transactionality. For instance, the value interface of 'Airport' offering 'Handled baggage' and requesting 'money' in return assumes that *only* 'Handled baggage' is obtained if 'money' is returned, and vice versa.

3.2 IT Perspective: Service Network Architectures

We model the IT perspective of the Baggage Handling System using SoaML [8]. More precisely, we use three models of (i) Service Architecture (Fig. A.I in Appendix), (ii) Service Contract (Fig. A.II), and (iii) Service Choreography (Fig. A.III).

Service Architecture shows how different actors, called participants in SoaML, collaborate to provide services. For example, the 'Baggage Transportation' service architecture in Fig. A.I represents how 'Airline' interacts with 'Airport' to provide baggage transportation service to 'Traveler'. In doing so, the 'Airport' itself, through its 'Baggage Handling System', collaborates with third-party actors (shown in dashed-boxes in the Baggage Management service architecture in Fig. A.I).

Contracts are represented using the model shown in Fig. A.II. First this contract shows that it has two actor roles: (i) provider and (ii) consumer. In the context of 'Baggage Handling Service' (Fig. A.I) 'Ground Handler' is the provider of the 'SetRoute' contract and 'Baggage Handling Sys.' is the consumer. Second, it shows the interfaces and operations that actors use to enact the service. As an example, any actor who plays the role of 'RoutPlacer' or 'RoutTaker' needs to use the interfaces shown in the bottom of Fig. A.II.

The interactions between actors involved in a contract are modeled using choreography (see Fig. A.III). The choreography is a specification of what *messages* are exchanged between actors to provide a service.

4 Concerns for Aligning the Economic Perspective and the IT Perspective

We see alignment as a general problem aiming at relating the two economicand IT perspectives. Such alignment entails addressing a set of general concerns that cross-cut the two perspectives. We observed that many of these concerns in fact originate from the semantic discrepancies between the shared elements in the two perspectives. By making such discrepancies explicit we should be able to make alignment less difficult. In this section we present the discrepancies between the shared constructs introduced in Sect.2. It should be noted that the shared constructs and the discrepancies are notation-agnostic and we use e^3 value



Fig. 2. Discrepancies between economic- and IT perspectives

and SoaML for illustration reasons only. By zooming into the origins of these discrepancies we identified 5 core architectural concerns for alignment. Related to each concern, possible alignment solutions are discussed. The concerns are categorized based on the shared constructs leading to the four areas of concern of actor, service, contract and interaction.

4.1 On Actors

The notion of actors is perceived differently in the two perspectives. In the economic perspective actors are *concrete instances*, usually *legal entities*, that are *profit-and-loss responsible*. In the IT perspective actors are *actor types*, and not necessarily a legal entity. This discrepancy leads to two alignment concerns described in the following.

Concern 1: Aligning Actor Instances and Actor Types

Description of the concern. In the economic perspective actors are actor instances, whereas in IT perspective actors are actor types. Fig. 2.I shows such a discrepancy; in the economic perspective 'Airport X' represents a certain instance of an airport, such as Schiphol airport. Its corresponding element in IT perspective is the 'Airport' participant, which is defined at the type level. This pinpoints a fundamental difference in the goals that each of the perspectives pursue. The economic perspective, on purpose, defines the actors at instance level because it represents a business model. A business model cares for how each specified actor would make *profit* or increases its *utility* [7]. The profit calculations are mainly actor-dependent; for instance, the profit of baggage handling for Schiphol airport would probably differ from the profit of another airport. Consequently, the economic perspective focuses on certain instances of actors. In contrast, the IT perspective deliberately aims for actor types to care for flexibility and openness (actors should be able to come and go on-the-fly). To this aim, by focusing on actor types the IT perspective expands the potential participants of 'Baggage Transportation' service network to any 'Airport' that is able to play the same role (i.e., provide/consume the same services). If not known and aligned properly, this discrepancy may have the following implications: it may (i) hinder profitability of the actors' collaborations -if the actor types do not constrain actors with certain value objects and expected profit- and/or (ii) hinder flexibility and openness -if the types are too specific such that they cannot support openness. Thus, the concern is how to align actors in such a way that their profitability and openness are ensured simultaneously?

Possible alignment solutions. One way to address this concern is to increase the level of abstraction of actors in the economic perspective to the *market segments*, instead of actor instances. A market segment is an enumeration of actors and as such is between an actor instance and an actor type. Thus, it helps bridging the gap between them. A market segment such as "Ground Handlers" indicates that there are a certain number of ground handlers that share common value transfers. Focusing on the common value objects the actors provide/consume, a market segment broadens the scope to a market, while ensuring the market's profitability.

Concern 2: Aligning Legal Entities and Non-legal Entities

Description of the concern. In the economic perspective the actors are both legal entities and profit-and-loss responsible. This constraint, however, does not necessarily apply to actors in the IT perspective. This discrepancy is evident in Fig. 2.II, where 'Baggage Handling System', belonging to the airport, appears in the IT perspective and not in the economic perspective. The economic perspective, on purpose, omits 'Baggage Handling System' because it is not the entity that exchanges value in the marketplace. The IT perspective, deliberately, illustrates this actor because it is the consumer of the services offered by 'Ground Handler System' and 'Security Provider'. In order to support the business model of the economic perspective, the non-legal entities of IT perspective should eventually relate to a legal entity. Thus, the concern is *how to relate non-legal entities to legal entities*?

Possible alignment solutions. To align the non-legal entity actors with the economic perspective, we can use their owning actors, who is an *Expense Carrier*. An expense carrier is an actor or market segment in the economic perspective that create revenues to pay these expenses [13]. For instance, 'Airport' is the expense carrier of 'Baggage Handling System'. By representing the internal structure of 'Airport' in Fig. A and annotating 'Airport' as the expense carrier, we can link the constituent non-legal actors as well.

4.2 On Services

In the economic perspective services are commercial services, which produce outcomes of some value. In IT perspective, a service is a repeatable capability that might not directly produce economic value. Consequently, not all economic services can be mapped to IT services and vice versa. This leads to an alignment concern explained in the following.

Concern 3: Aligning Service as a Value Activity and Service as a Reusable Capability

Description of the concern. In the example of baggage handling system, 'Manual Labeling of Baggage' is a commercial service that is not realized using IT services. In contrast, 'Baggage Registration' is an IT service, which since it does not have a direct economic value, does not appear in the economic perspective (see Fig. 2.III) The economic perspective, on purpose, omits 'Baggage Registration' because it focuses on value activities that an actor is willing to pay for. In contrast, the IT perspective, deliberately includes 'Baggage Registration' because it is a repeatable and reusable capability, which serves economies of scale. Consequently, in the two perspectives services pursue two different, possibly contradicting purposes, i.e., profitability and reusability. If not known and if not cared for, this may have the following implications: it may (i) hinder creating value-adding services that are profitable, and/or (ii) hinder reusability and economy of scale. Thus the alignment concern is how to design services in such a way that their profitability and reusability are ensured simultaneously?

Possible Alignment Solution. What can possibly facilitate alignment of profitableand reusable services, is the notion of *capability* in the economic perspective. A capability identifies the ability of actors (in terms of assets and processes) to perform a value activity [14]. Some of the capabilities will be required in multiple value activities. The capability model could support identification of *reusable* capabilities which realize *profitable* value activities.
4.3 On Contracts

In the economic perspective, contract information includes what determines the economic value of a service. Examples are pricing, services or quality attributes. In the IT perspective, however, contract information represents an agreement between the involved actors for how the service is to be provided and consumed. This agreement includes the interfaces, choreography and any other terms and conditions.

Concern 4: Aligning Value Interface and Service Interface

Description of the concern. Fig. 2.IV shows the contract between 'Ground Handler' and 'Airport' in the two perspectives. In the economic perspective, the contract (e.g., value interface in $e^3 value$) indicates pricing for 'Baggage Management' and quality aspects such as 'Baggage Lost Ratio'. Usually, pricing is specified as a property of the port of the actor (in this case the 'Ground Handler') requesting the 'Money' object. The economic perspective restricts itself to such value objects because the goal is to determine the economic value co-creation of a service. The corresponding contracts in the IT perspective include 'SetRout', 'Track-Baggage', and 'Screen-the-Baggage' (see Fig.A.I). As shown in Fig. 2.IV, the information describing the contracts entail the operations and properties of the services realizing these contracts. The IT perspective deliberately focuses on this information because this is what actors need to agree on for communication. This indicates a discrepancy in the purpose of the contract in the two perspectives: economic perspectives seeks for value determination or pricing whereas IT perspective seeks for *interoperability*. At the end, the operations of the IT perspective contracts, although designed for interoperability, should realize the assigned value in the economic perspective. Hence, the alignment concern is how to align the contract information in the IT perspectives with the value interfaces in the economic perspective such that the contact is value-determinable while it supports interoperability?

Possible alignment solutions. To align contract information in the two perspectives, we envision to devise analysis models that guide one's reasoning in transforming value interfaces to operations and properties of contracts in the IT perspective.

4.4 On Interactions

In the economic perspective, interactions between actors occur in terms of *value transfers*. In the IT perspective, such interactions occur in terms of *message exchanges* in the context of choreographies.

		Alignment Process		Alignment Outcome
		Linking elements	Balancing incompatible objectives	
Business Science	[22,23,15]	Linking the elements of value mod- els and coordination models	Homogenizing semantic and syntactic in- compatibilities between value and coordina- tion models	Consistent business case and coordination models
	[24] [25]	Linking value models and services Mapping actors, communication channels, and services between the value model and the IT models.	- -	_
	[26]	Link strategy, operational, execu-	-	-
	[27]	Mapping value proposition on busi- ness processes, data flow, and IT infrastructure.	_	Harmonization between the technical and busi- ness dimensions of the service-based system
	[28]	Linking business, technical, and operational services (different types of relationships)	_	_
Computer	[29]	Mapping business artifacts and ser-	_	-
Science	[19,20]	vices Linking business process elements to services	_	-
	[30]	Linking business services to service compositions	-	_
	[11,18]	Linking service networks and busi- ness process models	-	_

Table 1. Overview of related work

Concern 5: Aligning Value Transfers and Message Exchanges

Description of the concern. Consider the Interaction between 'Ground Handler' and 'Airport' in the economic perspective. This interaction shown in Fig. 2.V is a value transfer that models the *principle of economic reciprocity*. Only if 'Airport' pays, it can obtain the 'Baggage Management' services and vice versa. This principle, inherently, embraces the notion of transactionality, i.e., the value transfers are guaranteed to perform completely or not at all. One of the corresponding interactions between 'Ground Handler' and 'Airport' is shown in Fig. 2.V. This interaction is message-based and illustrate the behavior of 'SetRout' contract. Instead of the detailed, internal interactions needed to enact 'Baggage Management' services, the IT perspective, on purpose, isolates the interactions in the scope of contracts. This is because it aims at openness (i.e., actors and their services can come and go on-the-fly as long as they comply with the contract behavior). At the end, interactions between actors should serve both goals of transactionalty and openness. The overall effect of message exchanges should enable transactionality, while the interactions support openness. Thus, the alignment concern is how to align interactions in such a way that openness and transactionality are supported simultaneously?

Possible alignment solution. A possible solution for supporting both transactionality and openness is to use a model that frames and highlights how using independent message transfers a transaction is realized. This model could add the business process perspective on the interactions in the economic perspective. The business processes lead moving from transactional value transfers to message exchanges in the context of contracts [14,15]. It should be noted that, such model differs from the approaches and technologies that address transactionality in the business process executions (e.g., WS-Transaction) [16,17]. The focus of these models should be on guiding service designers to design for transactionality rather than how to implement it.

5 Related Work

Alignment has been researched in both Business- and Computer Sciences. Table 1 classifies a number of recent approaches from both *alignment process* and *alignment outcome* views. This table reveals the following two main findings. First, from alignment process view, existing approaches focus only on *linking different elements*, and *balancing incompatible objectives* is not supported. This implies that the current focus, common in both Business- and Computer Science field, consists of mapping the matching elements, rather than balancing incompatibilities. This work, to the best of our knowledge, is the first that externalizes the incompatible objectives and makes the concerns posed by such incompatibilities explicit. Second, from alignment outcome perspective, most existing approaches leave the outcome of alignment implicit, making governance of alignment difficult. We specify the alignment outcome as the state where the core elements (i.e., actors, services, contracts, and interactions) make a coherent whole across both perspective, while their incompatibilities are balanced.

Alignment Approaches in Business Science. An analysis of over 150 articles reveals that most approaches in this field focus on integration between businessand IT strategies and goals of a *single* enterprise [3]. In recent years, a number of approaches addressed alignment in networked organizations (see Table 1). Their IT perspective, however, is scoped down to high-level analysis models only (e.g., business and coordination process models [15]).

Alignment Approaches in Computer Science. Alignment in these approaches entails *linking* different service-oriented elements. Some link service network- and business process models [11,18]; while others link business- and software service models [19,20]³. Although the aforementioned approaches appear to be quite different, they all converge to a common perception of "business", i.e., activities or services that are eventually supported by IT services. In this sense, business services are higher-level abstractions of software services, the

 $^{^3}$ In a systematic literature review on service identification methods, Gu and Lago [21] report that 40% of the methods use business processes to align business- and software services.

same as analysis models are higher level abstractions of design models. In practice, however, "business" does not entail higher level abstractions of IT services only. In turn, business might include elements that are in essence inconsistent with their corresponding IT elements. We argue that such simplistic perception of "business" is one of the main sources of confusion which make alignment especially challenging.

6 Conclusion

When Service Orientation was first introduced, many companies perceived it as providing *the solution* for the *old* alignment problem. After a decade, alignment still remains unsolved. This paper argues that the reason behind such difficulty lies in the semantic discrepancies between the economic- and IT perspectives. By framing the core elements of Service Orientation and contrasting those elements between the economic- and IT perspectives, this paper identifies five core alignment concerns. Although these concerns by no means are complete, they are representative as they cover alignment between the core elements.

We propose that these are fundamental issues that a service architect needs to address for achieving a coherent service-based enterprise. One way of addressing the alignment concerns is to guide the decision making of architects using *architectural viewpoints* [31]. With the goal of making alignment less difficult, future work will design viewpoints for aligning economic- and IT perspectives.

The concerns we identified go beyond mere design or modeling, and pose interesting challenges for other aspects of services. For instance, service adaptation is often triggered by changes in economic services. Solving the alignment challenges more formally would allow carrying out adaptation automatically and across both perspectives. In sum, alignment concerns more attention in various aspects of service science.

References

- 1. Tallon, P.: The alignment paradox. CIO insight 1(47), 75–76 (2003)
- Chan, Y.E., Huff, S.L., Barclay, D.W., Copeland, D.G.: Business strategic orientation, information systems strategic orientation, and strategic alignment. Information Systems Research 8(2), 125–150 (1997)
- Henderson, J., Venkatraman, N.: Strategic alignment: Leveraging information technology for transforming organizations. IBM Systems Journal 32(1), 472–484 (1993)
- Bitner, M., Gremler, D., Zeithaml, V.: Services Marketing: Integrating customer focus accross the firm. McGraw-Hill, Irwin (2008)
- Lovelock, C.: Services Marketing People, Technology, Strategy, 4th edn. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River (2008)
- 6. Group, T.O.: SOA Source Book. Van Haren Publishing (2009)
- Gordijn, J., Akkermans, H.: Value based requirements engineering: Exploring innovative e-commerce idea. Requirements Engineering Journal 8(2), 114–134 (2003)
- 8. OMG: Service oriented architecture modeling language (SoaML) specification. Technical report, Object Management Group (May 2012)

- Reich, B.H., Benbasat, I.: Measuring the linkage between business and information technology objectives. MIS Quarterly, 55–81 (1996)
- Woolfe, R.: The path to strategic alignment. Information Strategy-Pennsauken- 9, 13 (1993)
- Danylevych, O., Karastoyanova, D., Leymann, F.: Service networks modelling: An SOA & BPM standpoint. Journal of Universal Computer Science 16(13), 1668–1693 (2010)
- Pijpers, V., De Leenheer, P., Gordijn, J., Akkermans, H.: Using conceptual models to explore business-ICT alignment in networked value constellations. Requirements Engineering 17(3), 203–226 (2012)
- Derzsi, Z., Gordijn, J., Kok, K., Akkermans, H., Tan, Y.-H.: Assessing feasibility of IT-enabled networked value constellations: A case study in the electricity sector. In: Krogstie, J., Opdahl, A.L., Sindre, G. (eds.) CAiSE 2007 and WES 2007. LNCS, vol. 4495, pp. 66–80. Springer, Heidelberg (2007)
- 14. Allee, V.: A value network approach for modeling and measuring intangibles. In: Transparent Enterprise Conference (2002)
- Bodenstaff, L.: Managing dependency relations in inter-organizational models. PhD thesis, University of Twente (2010)
- Papazoglou, M.P.: Web services and business transactions. World Wide Web 6(1), 49–91 (2003)
- Danylevych, O., Karastoyanova, D., Leymann, F.: Optimal stratification of transactions. In: Fourth International Conference on Internet and Web Applications and Services, ICIW 2009, pp. 493–498. IEEE (2009)
- Bitsaki, M., Danylevych, O., van den Heuvel, W.-J., Koutras, G., Leymann, F., Mancioppi, M., Nikolaou, C., Papazoglou, M.P.: An architecture for managing the lifecycle of business goals for partners in a service network. In: Mähönen, P., Pohl, K., Priol, T. (eds.) ServiceWave 2008. LNCS, vol. 5377, pp. 196–207. Springer, Heidelberg (2008)
- Busi, N., Gorrieri, R., Guidi, C., Lucchi, R., Zavattaro, G.: Choreography and orchestration: A synergic approach for system design. In: Benatallah, B., Casati, F., Traverso, P. (eds.) ICSOC 2005. LNCS, vol. 3826, pp. 228–240. Springer, Heidelberg (2005)
- Adam, S., Doerr, J.: How to better align BPM & SOA-ideas on improving the transition between process design and deployment. In: 9th Workshop on Business Process Modeling, Development and Support, vol. 335, Citeseer (2008)
- Gu, Q., Lago, P.: Service identification methods: A systematic literature review. In: Di Nitto, E., Yahyapour, R. (eds.) ServiceWave 2010. LNCS, vol. 6481, pp. 37–50. Springer, Heidelberg (2010)
- Fatemi, H., van Sinderen, M., Wieringa, R.: Value-oriented coordination process modeling. In: Hull, R., Mendling, J., Tai, S. (eds.) BPM 2010. LNCS, vol. 6336, pp. 162–177. Springer, Heidelberg (2010)
- Wieringa, R., Pijpers, V., Bodenstaff, L., Gordijn, J.: Value-driven coordination process design using physical delivery models. In: Li, Q., Spaccapietra, S., Yu, E., Olivé, A. (eds.) ER 2008. LNCS, vol. 5231, pp. 216–231. Springer, Heidelberg (2008)
- Weigand, H., Johannesson, P., Andersson, B., Bergholtz, M.: Value-based service modeling and design: Toward a unified view of services. In: van Eck, P., Gordijn, J., Wieringa, R. (eds.) CAiSE 2009. LNCS, vol. 5565, pp. 410–424. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)

- Zarvić, N., Wieringa, R., Van Eck, P.: Checking the alignment of value-based business models and it functionality. In: Proceedings of the 2008 ACM Symposium on Applied Computing, pp. 607–613. ACM (2008)
- Lee, J.: Model-driven business transformation and the semantic web. Communications of the ACM 48(12), 75–77 (2005)
- Chen, H.M.: Towards service engineering: service orientation and business-it alignment. In: Proceedings of the 41st Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, p. 114. IEEE (2008)
- Cardoso, J., Barros, A., May, N., Kylau, U.: Towards a unified service description language for the internet of services: Requirements and first developments. In: Proceedings of the 2010 IEEE International Conference on Services Computing, SCC 2010, pp. 602–609. IEEE Computer Society, Washington, DC (2010)
- Cohn, D., Hull, R.: Business artifacts: A data-centric approach to modeling business operations and processes. Data Engineering 3 (2009)
- Zirpins, C., Emmerich, W.: Pattern-based e-service modelling for virtual service enterprises. Service Oriented Computing and Applications 3(1), 65–98 (2009)
- International Organization Of Standardization: ISO/IEC/IEEE 42010:2011 Systems and software engineering – Architecture description. Technical Report March, International Organization for Standardization, ISO (2011)



Fig. A. Appendix: The SoaML models for the baggage handling system

Towards the Consideration of Performance Risks for the Design of Service Offers

Björn Schmitz, Axel Kieninger, Gerhard Satzger, and Hansjörg Fromm

Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Karlsruhe Service Research Institute, Englerstr. 11, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany {bjoern.schmitz,axel.kieninger,gerhard.satzger,hansjoerg.fromm}@kit.edu http://www.ksri.kit.edu

Abstract. This work analyzes an outsourcing provider's challenge to design optimal service offers in a setting in which future service performance is uncertain and the provider is penalized or rewarded for deviating negatively or positively from performance guarantees. In particular, we address the question how outsourcing providers with different risk attitudes should mitigate service performance risks by incorporating uncertainty premiums into service prices. The problem is studied in the light of service incident related penalty and reward functions that tie payments to the adverse financial impact a service customer incurs from performance degradations.

Keywords: Performance Risk, Uncertainty Premiums, Service Offer Design, Decision Support.

1 Introduction

Over the last few years the importance of outsourcing has been growing continuously. Sales in IT outsourcing (ITO) and business process outsourcing (BPO) totaled \$469 billion in 2012 and current forecasts estimate the outsourcing market to grow by 10% (ITO) or rather 25% (BPO) per year [10]. At the same time support of business processes by underlying (IT) services is often judged to be mission critical ([13], [22]), and service unavailability or major reductions in service performance may have a significant adverse impact on business ([7], [14], [16], [22]).

Providers are usually unable to make precise forecasts of the performance levels they will achieve in the delivery phase of a service. Thus, if service performance is uncertain (as opposed to certain or under risk)¹, providers need to consider and assess the risk of future penalty payments – i.e., the consequences of performance degradations - when designing service offers.

In this paper we aim to address an outsourcing provider's challenge to define optimal service offers in case of uncertain future service performance and incident related penalty and reward functions. The latter allow assessing the

¹ That is, the probability of occurrence of specific performance levels is unknown.

M. Snene and M. Leonard (Eds.): IESS 2014, LNBIP 169, pp. 108-123, 2014.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

business impact of single service incidents on customer business operations. Optimal service offers ensure that the profit of service providers is not cannibalized by penalty payments, which result from performance degradations.

The contribution of this work is twofold: first, we describe the offer design problem of a service provider by means of decision alternatives, states and outcomes, which are three fundamental concepts of decision theory. Second, based on this description, we suggest providers to apply decision rules to quantify the uncertain amount of penalty payments and rewards that may result from performance deviations. We recommend providers to incorporate this estimate, which we denote as *uncertainty premium*, into service prices to hedge against the uncertainty of future service performance.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows: Chapter 2 introduces concepts to describe service performance through distributions of service incidents (incident indicators) and provides an introduction to corresponding incident related penalty and reward functions. Chapter 3 discusses literature related to this work. Afterwards, the business setting addressed is introduced in Chapter 4. In Chapter 5 we develop our approach to enable outsourcing providers to design optimal service offers in case of uncertain future service performance. Chapter 6 demonstrates the applicability of our approach by means of an example. Finally, Chapter 7 provides a conclusion, outlines limitations and topics for future research.

2 Towards the Application of Incident Indicators

Established (service level) indicators, which are applied to characterize service performance, quantitatively describe facts in an aggregated manner [9]. Such aggregating indicators are usually determined by translating the attribute values of individual service incidents into an aggregated single value. An indicator for "service availability", for instance, might describe the minimum availability of a service in a predefined monitoring period in percent. It is obtained in two steps: first, the outage durations of all outage incidents that occur during a predefined monitoring period are added up to a "total outage time". In a second step, this total outage time is set in reference to the duration of the monitoring period itself. For example, if outage durations add up to a total outage time of 400 minutes and the monitoring period is 10,000 minutes, the service availability is calculated as 96%. The information about the outage durations of single outage incidents (i.e., the incident distribution), however, is not reflected in this aggregated value any more. Consequently, if outsourcing partners stipulate performance levels on basis of aggregating indicators, they cannot infer on the distribution of attribute values of service incidents any longer.

This information, however, is needed for the application of incident related penalty and reward functions which allow outsourcing customers to determine the adverse impact of performance degradations on their business more precisely². In this work, we therefore suggest using *incident indicators* [7] to define

 $^{^2}$ Incident related penalty and reward functions will be introduced in the end of this chapter.

service performance. Incident indicators have evolved with the development of service level engineering (cf. [6]). They are defined with regard to a specific service incident class $k_q \in K$ (e.g., "outage incidents", "response time incidents", etc.)³. In contrast to aggregating indicators, incident indicators describe the distribution of service incidents' attribute values (e.g., the distribution of outage durations). They characterize performance levels through two parameters: first, through an established aggregating indicator that we denote as reference value r_{k_q} (e.g., the total outage time), and, second, through a probability density function d_{k_q} , which characterizes the distribution of service incidents' attribute values (e.g., the distribution of outage durations). For reasons of simplicity we will limit ourselves to illustrate the applicability of incident indicators based on the example of "outage incidents" (and thus of "service availability"), only.

Building upon our previous example, we regard the total outage time of 400 minutes as a reference value to characterize service performance, whereas the monitoring period is again 10,000 minutes. By analyzing performance data of a past monitoring period the provider finds that the distribution of outage durations of outage incidents is best represented by a generalized beta density function $B(\alpha; \beta; x)$ for $d_{k_q}(x)$ with shaping parameters α , β and a support of [0, 30], since the maximum outage duration of a single incident that he has observed amounts to 30 minutes.

Figure 1 illustrates the approach. The outage durations of all individual outage incidents are aggregated into a single value measuring the total outage time (i.e., the reference value). Afterwards, individual outage durations are analyzed to identify a probability density function that represents the distribution of outage durations best. A probability density function can, for instance, be determined by analyzing performance data of past monitoring periods (cf. [24]). Summarizing, incident indicators characterize service performance through a tuple of a probability density function and a reference value (d_{k_q}, r_{k_q}) . If more than one indicator (i.e., more than one service incident class) is used to describe service



Fig. 1. Characterization of outage durations through a generalized beta density function and a corresponding reference value

³ Service incident classes (e.g. "outage incidents") can usually be mapped to established performance indicators (e.g. "service availability").

performance, tuples of reference values and probability density functions have to be applied.⁴

A second fundamental concept are incident related penalty and reward functions (e.g. [8]). In outsourcing agreements, the negotiation of penalties and rewards ensures that agreed service levels are met and incentivizes providers to achieve or to exceed stipulated service performance [2, p. 82 ff]. Incident related penalty and reward functions tie penalties and rewards to the financial impact that single service incidents have on the customer's business. For example, let the customer's penalty and reward function for "outage incidents" be $f_{outages}(x) = x^2$, whereas the input variable x reflects the outage duration of a particular incident. If a service provider generates an additional outage of ten minutes (compared to guaranteed service performance) he is obliged to pay penalties of \in 100. If the provider manages to prevent an outage of eight minutes, however, he will receive a reward of \in 64.

If service performance is described through incident indicators we can generalize this concept: penalties and rewards are determined by comparing the financial impact – which we denote as *business impact* (bi) – of guaranteed versus achieved service performance. The business impact of service performance is calculated by combining a service provider's information about the distribution of attribute values of service incidents (i.e., the incident indicator) with the customer's penalty and reward function. If service performance is described through incidents of a one-dimensional service incident class only, business impact can be calculated as described in (1) below: we integrate over the support $[t_{k_q}, u_{k_q}]$ of the product of probability density function d_{k_q} , reference value r_{k_q} and penalty and reward function f_{k_q} and subsequently divide by attribute value x:

$$bi_{k_q} = \int_{t_{k_q}}^{u_{k_q}} \frac{d_{k_q}(x) \cdot r_{k_q}}{x} \cdot f_{k_q}(x) dx .$$
 (1)

Simplified, the first factor of (1) (fraction $\frac{d_{k_q}(x) \cdot r_{k_q}}{x}$) represents the "number" of service incidents with specific attribute values to occur. The division by x in the first factor is needed because the penalty and reward function $f_{k_q}(x)$ assigns a financial impact to each service incident with specific attribute values. The result of (1) is a monetary value which quantifies the business impact an outsourcing customer incurs if a service provider delivers a service at a specific performance level. By comparing the business impact of stipulated and achieved service performance the amount of resulting penalties and rewards can be determined. If service performance is characterized through incidents which are described by multiple attributes, (1) needs to be generalized by considering all service incident classes accordingly.

⁴ Depending on the dimensionality of service incidents considered, probability density functions might be univariate (e.g., generalized beta density functions) or multivariate (e.g., dirichlet distributions).

3 Related Work

To set our work in reference to contributions of other authors we have conducted a literature review on the definition of service offers from the perspective of service providers. The literature review follows the methodology proposed by Webster and Watson [25]: we performed an extensive forward and backward search without temporal restriction in "Google Scholar" with the following keywords (as well as combinations thereof): "service", "service provider", "service offer", "service performance", "service quality", "generation", "definition", "decision", "decision support", "risk" and "uncertainty". The remainder of this chapter is divided into three parts, each covering a specific field of research.

Decision Support. In [15], [16] and [17] the authors discuss portfolio optimization of service level agreements (SLAs) in service value networks. The objective of all articles is to determine an optimal portfolio of SLAs (provider view) which minimizes the risk of SLA violations caused by service failures (and incurred penalty payments). While Michalk et al. analyze the optimization problem from the perspective of a risk averse outsourcing provider [16], their approach is extended by Michalk and Blau to investigate this issue from the perspective of a risk averse service intermediary [15]. In [17], Michalk et al. study the portfolio optimization problem under consideration of different risk attitudes of a service provider. In contrast to those articles, Schulz discusses business related design of service level objectives (SLOs) for service level agreements [21]. His objective is to design service offers through the specification of thresholds for SLOs which ensure that expected penalty payments do not exceed a predefined upper limit.

SLA Design. The works [12], [13], [19], [20] and [26] discuss the derivation of optimal service level objectives for SLAs. Sauvé et al. derive optimal SLOs from a service provider's (internal) view by minimizing IT infrastructure cost and business financial loss (lost revenue) incurred through performance degradations and service failures [19]. In [20], Sauvé et al. apply this approach in an e-commerce setting. Marques et al. extend the approach suggested in [19] to study the derivation (negotiation) of optimal service level objectives from a joint perspective of a service provider and customer ([12], [13]). Optimal SLOs are derived by maximizing the profit margins of service provider and customer at the same time. Finally, Zhang et al. derive optimal SLOs for diverse usage windows in a software as a service domain from a provider's point of view [26].

Regarding the design of SLAs the articles [4], [5] and [11] further discuss the derivation of SLOs through the analysis of operational data. Breitgand et al. derive optimal response time SLOs for different service usage windows by maximizing a service provider's utility [4]. Utility considers gains through successful transactions and losses incurred by service failures. Ismail et al. design optimal service offers in a negotiation setting by evaluating constraints and objectives [5]. Constraints comprise resource capacity, temporal constraints and QoS requirements. Objective based evaluation then identifies the particular time slot that maximizes the provider's utility. Ludwig and Kowalkiewicz define service

level objectives by predicting future service behavior (and performance) on basis of an analysis of past operational data [11].

Insurance Theory. Mastroeni and Naldi discuss the calculation of risk premiums for insurances of service providers against SLA violations [14]. The approach aims to determine maximum insurance premiums that service providers with different risk attitudes should be willing to accept if they purchase an insurance against penalty payments for SLA violations.

Identified articles have in common that service performance is almost exclusively described through aggregating indicators: a characterization through incident indicators - in which the number of incidents and their respective attribute values matter - is not considered. Not surprisingly, incident related penalty and reward functions (see previous chapter) are not discussed either. None of the identified articles discusses the design of optimal service offers in a setting in which penalty payments are tied to the adverse financial impact of service performance. Either this impact is not considered at all or it is only tied to the number of incidents that occur, but not to their specific attribute values. Concluding, current literature - though diverse in topics - lacks methodologies to design optimal service offers if service performance is to be defined on basis of incident indicators.

4 Business Setting

This work addresses the design phase of a service that precedes the negotiation of an outsourcing contract between a service provider and its customer. We focus on a single outsourcing provider who is invited (among other external providers) to respond to a customer's request for proposal (RfP) and to submit a service offer. We analyze the provider's challenge to design an optimal service offer.

We assume that service offers need to be defined through tuples of service price and performance, the latter of which has to be described on the basis of incident indicators.⁵ Remaining functional and non-functional requirements – except for service performance and price – are supposed to be fixed.

Due to the high significance of the service, the outsourcing provider has to accept the following specifications regarding penalty and reward functions: penalties and rewards are quantified on basis of predefined penalty and reward functions. The stipulated service performance level (reference values and corresponding probability density functions) constitutes the basis for the determination of penalty payments and rewards. If the business impact of achieved service performance exceeds the impact of stipulated performance (i.e., if the provider delivers an "inferior" distribution of service incidents) the outsourcing provider has to pay penalties in the amount of additional business impact caused. In

⁵ Regarding the characterization of service performance we further assume that service incidents are independent of one another and that single service incidents do not overlap. This implies, for instance, that "outage incidents" and "response time incidents" do not occur at the same time.

return, the outsourcing customer is willing to grant financial rewards if the provider performs better than promised. To establish a shared understanding of achieved service performance during service delivery, outsourcing providers are asked to grant their client constant monitoring access.

5 Considering Service Performance Uncertainties in Service Offers

The outsourcing provider faces the challenge to design a service offer which allows realizing an expected profit even if service performance is uncertain and penalties and rewards have to be expected. The process of offer design requires two decisions: first, providers need to determine which level of service performance to bid. Second, they have to set a price for the delivery of the service at the specified performance level. Both problems are closely interlinked and cannot be addressed independently.

Decision theory allows translating these challenges into a formal model which may then serve as a basis for structured analyses. In the following, we first elaborate on the setup of such a decision model before we subsequently discuss how to design optimal service offers.

5.1 The Decision Model of the Service Provider

The objective of decision theory is to support decision makers in identifying optimal decision alternatives to pursue. To compare different decision alternatives, a decision problem can be transformed into a formal model of three components (cf. [1]): a set of decision alternatives to follow, a set of states that may be realized in the future⁶ and a set of corresponding decision outcomes. Decision outcomes are assigned to each combination of decision alternative and state and are calculated on basis of a predefined result function. All three components are used to compile an outcome matrix that describes a decision problem in a systematic way.

As decisions have to be modeled with regard to the context they are made in, we define decision alternatives, states and outcomes with reference to our business setting. In the following, for reasons of simplicity, we describe service performance through incidents of the class "outage incidents" only. Results obtained may, however, be generalized to characterize settings in which service performance is described through different indicators and combinations of several indicators as well.

Decision Alternatives. Decision alternatives describe different strategies a decision maker can pursue in a particular situation [1]. With regard to our setting, decision alternatives correspond to the set of performance levels A a provider

 $^{^{6}}$ States describe environmental factors that have an influence on the outcome of a decision.

stipulates in the design phase of a service. As service performance is to be described through incident indicators, each decision alternative $a_i \in A$ is defined through a tuple of probability density function d_{a_i,k_q} and a corresponding reference value r_{a_i,k_q} , whereas k_q is a proxy for the service incident class considered. Thus, we can write $a_i = (d_{a_i,k_q}, r_{a_i,k_q})$.

States. States describe environmental factors that have an influence on the outcome of a decision [1]. In our setting, decision outcomes are influenced by the performance level that is achieved in the *delivery phase* of a service. Similar to decision alternatives, states $s_j = (d_{s_j,k_q}, r_{s_j,k_q})$ with $s_j \in S$ are described through a probability density function d_{s_j,k_q} and a corresponding reference value r_{s_j,k_q} . We assume the occurrence of states to be uncertain, i.e., the outsourcing provider has no information about the probability of a specific performance level to be realized in the delivery phase of the service.⁷

We assume that outsourcing providers evaluate performance data of past monitoring periods to generate decision alternatives and states. This assumption implies that the set of decision alternatives A and states S correspond to each other as both are compiled out of the same historic performance data.

Decision Outcomes. Decision outcomes are defined as the (monetary) difference between the business impact of stipulated service performance $bi(a_i)$ (i.e., the decision alternative selected) and actually achieved service performance $bi(s_j)$ (i.e., the state realized). Mathematically, decision outcomes $o(a_i, s_j)$ of an arbitrary decision alternative $a_i \in A$, state $s_j \in S$ and a result function g are calculated as

$$(a_i, s_j) \xrightarrow{g} o_{a_i, s_j} = g(a_i, s_j) = bi(a_i) - bi(s_j) .$$

$$(2)$$

Negative decision outcomes $(o_{a_i,s_j} < 0)$ result in penalty payments and imply that a service provider performs worse than promised. If this is the case, business impact of achieved service performance is higher than the one of stipulated service performance. Due to the conditions stated in the request for proposal (see Chapter 4), the service provider is obliged to reimburse its customer in the amount of additional financial impact caused. Positive outcomes $(o_{a_i,s_j} > 0)$, in contrast, result in financial rewards and imply that a service provider performs better than promised. In such cases the provider will be rewarded in the amount of business impact prevented on the customer's side. Outcomes of zero imply that neither rewards nor penalty payments will be paid.

Finally, decision alternatives, states and outcomes are used to compile an outcome matrix. We will illustrate the setup of such an outcome matrix based on the following example.

Example

An outsourcing provider has received a request for proposal from his potential customer that contains the following information: service performance is to be

⁷ As outlined in Chapter 4 we consider the environment used to deliver a service (hard-ware, software, etc.) to be constant. The performance of this delivery environment is, however, assumed to be subject to fluctuations within reasonable limits.

measured through incident indicators with regard to "outage incidents" only. The penalty and reward function for outage incidents is defined as $f_{outages}(x) = x^2$ whereas the input parameter x corresponds to the duration of an outage measured in minutes.

As introduced above, the service provider assesses available performance data of four monitoring periods. A thorough analysis of the incident data collected allows for the derivation of a reference value $r_{outages}$ ("total outage time") and a probability density function $d_{outages}(x)$ for each monitoring period. Probability distributions are found to be representations of generalized beta density functions $d_{outages}(x) = B(\alpha; \beta; x)$, which characterize the distribution of service incidents outage durations for each monitoring period considered. Shapes of generalized beta density functions are described by two input variables α and β and by the function's support [t, u] = [0, 30], since the RfP restricts the maximum duration of a single outage to thirty minutes.

Figure 2 shows the resulting outcome matrix. Both, the set of decision alternatives and the set of states are derived on basis of past performance data and correspond to each other. As the outsourcing provider has no additional information about the probability of a specific state $(s_1 \text{ to } s_4)$ to be realized (because the obtained data set is too small), the occurrence of future service performance (states) is uncertain. For each combination of action a_i and state s_j the corresponding decision outcome o_{a_i,s_j} is calculated according to (2). For example, decision outcome $o_{a_1,s_2} = -1,360.71$ may be obtained by subtracting the business impact of state s_2 (bi $(s_2) = 3,075.00$) from the business impact of decision alternative a_1 (bi $(a_1) = 1,714.29$). Alternatives a_i and states s_j are described through a tuple of generalized beta density function $B(\alpha; \beta; x)$ and corresponding reference value (total outage time [minutes]) each. Negative entries constitute penalties, while positive ones are financial rewards.

				States (uncertain				
				S_1	<i>s</i> ₂	<i>S</i> ₃	S_4	
				(<i>B</i> (5;30; <i>x</i>);400)	(<i>B</i> (5;15; <i>x</i>);410)	(<i>B</i> (5;5; <i>x</i>);450)	(<i>B</i> (30;5; <i>x</i>);400)	
Decision	5	a_1	(<i>B</i> (5;30; <i>x</i>);400)	0.00	-1,360.71	-5,035.71	-8,571.42	
	atives	a_2	(<i>B</i> (5;15; <i>x</i>);410)	1,360.71	0.00	-3,675.00	-7,210.71	
	ltern	<i>a</i> ₃	(B(5;5;x);450)	5,035.71	3,675.00	0.00	-3,535.71	
	8	$a_{\scriptscriptstyle A}$	(<i>B</i> (30;5; <i>x</i>);400)	8,571.42	7,210.71	3,535.71	0.00	

Fig. 2. Example of an outcome matrix stating potential penalty payments and rewards for four decision alternatives in dependence of realized states

5.2 Designing Service Offers through the Quantification of Uncertainty Premiums

Now, we want to turn towards the question at what price a provider should offer a service solution if he assures to deliver a specific service performance level. This problem is analyzed under the assumption that the environment used to deliver a service remains unchanged which implies that the delivery cost c is constant (see Chapter 4). In this work we further assume that providers aim to achieve a profit that satisfies their expectations when designing service offers.

Profits are implicitly represented in service prices. In its simplest form, a service price for an arbitrary service offer $a_i \in A$ is composed of a constant profit m which is added to the constant cost c (see Chapter 4) a provider incurs for the delivery of this service:

$$p_{a_i} = c + m . aga{3}$$

What is not considered in (3) is the uncertainty of future service performance which in turn results in an uncertainty of potential penalty payments or rewards. Consequences with regard to the definition of service prices are twofold: underperformance will entail penalty payments, which will cannibalize the provider's profit. Performing better than promised, in contrast, will increase the profit due to financial rewards a provider will receive. Though the second effect seems quite attractive, it may lower an outsourcing provider's chance to win the customer's contract. This is especially the case if the considered market is a buyer's market, in which the price is the major source of differentiation. Thus, when expecting rewards providers should consider giving customers a price discount to stay competitive.

The severity and impact of performance uncertainty becomes evident if we take a look at our example (see Figure 2): we recognize that decision outcomes differ significantly. If an outsourcing provider stipulated alternative a_1 ("high" performance) and state s_4 ("low" performance) was realized, the provider would be obliged to pay penalties in the amount of $\boldsymbol{\in} |-8,571.42| = 8,571.42$. Depending on the variance of service performance and the customer's penalty and reward function, neglecting performance uncertainty may result in significant financial losses for service providers.

To ensure that outsourcing providers are able to satisfy their profit expectations in case of performance uncertainty, they need to assess and consider the risk of penalty payments and rewards when defining service prices. To do this, it is essential to gain an idea of the amounts of penalty payments and rewards which might occur. If both values were known, risk neutral providers would simply add expected penalty payments π_{a_i} to the service price and reduce it by expected rewards ρ_{a_i} :

$$p_{a_i} = c + m + (\pi_{a_i} - \rho_{a_i}) .$$
(4)

Penalty payments π_{a_i} and rewards ρ_{a_i} vary for different alternatives a_i , whereas delivery cost c and profit m are the same for all alternatives a_i (see (4)). Consequently, the price to be charged depends on the decision alternative selected

as well. However, for settings under uncertainty, which we focus on in this work, probabilities for the occurrence of states are unknown. Thus, providers cannot simply determine expected values for penalties and rewards. Moreover, providers with diverse attitudes towards risk may assess and consider the risk of penalty payments and rewards differently.

Decision theory has developed means to deal with problems of uncertainty, for instance, through the development of decision rules. Decision rules are applied if a dominant decision alternative does not exist [1, p.110 ff]. In such settings, decision rules assess and compare the set of decision alternatives (i.e., the rows of an outcome matrix) by assigning a valuation $v_{a_i,dec.rule}$ to each alternative $a_i \in A$ (i.e., a real value). This value is obtained through a valuation function $\Phi_{dec.rule}(a_i)$. The latter aggregates the perceived utility⁸ that a decision maker associates with each decision outcome of an alternative to a real value [1, p.100 ff]. For instance, for a highly risk averse service provider the valuation of a particular decision alternative may correspond to the value of the worst decision outcome that might be achieved.

Decision rules, represented through valuation functions, implicitly characterize preference relations of decision makers. Thereby, it is possible to model the behavior of decision makers with different attitudes towards risk [1, p.112 ff].

If the mapping between risk attitude and valuation function is known⁹, it is possible to determine the valuation that a decision maker with a specific risk attitude associates with a decision alternative. For example, the valuation function of a risk seeking provider is defined as $\Phi_{dec.rule}(a_i) = \max_j o_{a_i,s_j}$ [1, p.113]. If this valuation function is applied to decision alternative a_2 of Figure 2 the obtained valuation of the service provider equals $v_{a_2,dec.rule} = \max_j o_{a_2,s_j} = 1,360.71$.

We suggest using this kind of valuation functions as a proxy for the estimated penalties and rewards, which may result from the stipulation of specific decision alternatives. That is, in dependence of a decision maker's risk attitude we calculate an uncertainty premium for each decision alternative:

$$(\pi_{a_i,dec.rule} - \rho_{a_i,dec.rule}) = -v_{a_i,dec.rule} = -\Phi_{dec.rule}(a_i) .$$
(5)

The valuation $v_{a_i,dec.rule}$ is negated for the following reasons: negative valuations ($v_{a_i,dec.rule} < 0$) correspond to penalty payments that providers expect to incur, while positive valuations ($v_{a_i,dec.rule} > 0$) are associated with financial rewards. Thus, if valuations are negative, providers should increase service prices to ensure that profit is not cannibalized. Likewise, if valuations are positive, they should grant price discounts, as these will increase chances of winning service contracts.

⁸ We assume the associated utility for a decision outcome to equate to the (financial) decision outcome as defined in the outcome matrix.

⁹ Decision theory allows identifying decision rules for decision makers with diverse risk attitudes based on empirical analyses (see e.g. Hurwicz principle [1, p.113 ff]).

6 Considering Uncertainty Premiums in Service Offers -An Example

Given the risk attitude of outsourcing providers, decision rules allow the quantification of uncertainty premiums that providers should incorporate into their prices. In this section, we apply four different decision rules to illustrate the applicability of our approach: Maximin (risk averse), Hurwicz (risk averse with parameter value $\lambda = 0.2^{10}$), Laplace (risk neutral), Hurwicz (risk seeking with parameter value $\lambda = 0.8$) and Maximax (risk seeking) [1, p.112 ff].

			Uncertainty premiums in dependence of applied decision rule						
			Maximin	Hurwicz(0.2)	Laplace	Hurwicz(0.8)	Maximax		
			$-v_{a_i,Maximin}$	$-v_{a_i,Hurw.(0.2)}$	$-v_{a_i,Laplace}$	$-v_{a_i,Hurw.(0.8)}$	$-v_{a_i,Maximax}$		
u	ves	a_1	8,571.42	$6,\!857.14$	3,741.96	1,714.28	0.00		
isio	lati	a_2	7,210.71	$5,\!496.43$	2,381.25	353.57	-1,360.71		
Dec	terı	a_3	3,535.71	1,821.43	-1,293.75	-3,321.43	-5,5035.71		
	Al	a_4	0.00	-1,714.28	-4,829.46	-6,857.14	-8,571.42		

Table 1. Matrix stating obtained uncertainty premiums which result from the application of different decision rules

Let us assume that an "optimistic" service provider aims to quantify uncertainty premiums for the set of decision alternatives $a_i \in A$ from our example. Based on an experiment, the provider has determined that his preferences are best represented by a Hurwicz decision rule with a parameter value of $\lambda = 0.8$ (risk seeking). The valuation function of the Hurwicz decision rule is defined as:

$$v_{a_i,Hurw.(\lambda)} = \Phi_{Hurw.(\lambda)}(a_i) = \lambda \cdot \max_j \left(o_{a_i,s_j} \right) + (1-\lambda) \cdot \min_j \left(o_{a_i,s_j} \right), \lambda \in [0,1].$$
(6)

If the outcome matrix of our initial example (see Figure 2) characterizes the set of decision alternatives that can be pursued, the outsourcing provider applies the valuation function (6) to calculate uncertainty premiums for all decision alternatives $a_i \in A$. Taking alternative a_1 as an example, the uncertainty premium is calculated as follows:

$$-v_{a_1,Hurw.(0.8)} = -\Phi_{Hurw.(0.8)}(a_1)$$

= 0.8 · max_j (o_{a1,sj}) + (1 - 0.8) · min_j (o_{a1,sj})
= -(0.8 · 0 + 0.2 · -8, 571.42) = 1,714.28. (7)

¹⁰ The parameter value $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ is a measure which indirectly characterizes a decision maker's attitude towards risk. In this paper we apply the Hurwicz decision rule with parameter values $\lambda = 0.2$ (risk averse) and $\lambda = 0.8$ (risk seeking).

If preferences of the outsourcing provider were represented by different decision rules, he would calculate uncertainty premiums according to the same underlying rationale. Table 1 provides an overview of the uncertainty premiums that a provider would incorporate into his service price in dependence of the decision rule applied. Positive entries signify that the provider will add a premium to his price, while negative entries constitute price discounts.

Figure 3 shows the calculated uncertainty premiums which result from the application of the considered decision rules. The horizontal axis of the figure lists the different decision alternatives whereas the vertical axis marks the amount of uncertainty premiums in dependence of the applied decision rule.



Fig. 3. Calculated uncertainty premiums in dependence of applied decision rules

We recognize that risk seeking providers will grant higher absolute price reductions than those who are risk averse. This effect becomes evident, for instance, through a comparison of the calculated uncertainty premiums of the Maximax-(risk seeking; green graph) and the Maximin-rule (risk averse; red graph). We recognize that the green graph always runs below the red one. The blue graph characterizes uncertainty premiums which are obtained through the Laplacerule. As the latter is applied by risk neutral decision makers, the blue graph separates risk averse from risk seeking outsourcing providers. If a graph falls below the blue one outsourcing providers are considered to be risk seeking and vice versa. In general, risk seeking outsourcing providers will have better chances of winning service contracts, as they define lower uncertainty premiums and are thus able to offer lower prices. We recognize, for instance, that the curves of service offers of risk seeking providers which follow the Hurwicz(0.8) principle (purple graph) or the Maximax-rule (green graph) are much lower than those of a risk neutral (Laplace) or risk averse outsourcing providers (Hurwicz(0.2) or Maximin-rule). This is obvious from an economic point of view: the uncertainty premium that a risk averse provider demands has to be borne by the customer via the terms and conditions of the contract. In other words: the distribution of risk between the parties engaging in the outsourcing contract is a source of economic advantage in itself as, for instance, laid out in [18]. In this example, a

risk neutral customer and a risk seeking provider can benefit from the provider being able to bear the risk "cheaper", while a risk averse provider would charge more than the customer itself making an outsourcing contract less likely.

7 Conclusion and Outlook

Concluding, in this work we have analyzed an outsourcing provider's challenge to design optimal service offers in a setting in which (1) future service performance is uncertain and (2) the provider is penalized or rewarded for deviating negatively or positively from performance guarantees. In particular, we have addressed the question how outsourcing providers with different risk attitudes should mitigate the risks of cannibalizing their profits or losing service contracts by incorporating uncertainty premiums into service prices. The problem has been studied in the light of incident related penalty and reward functions. Though this work focuses on IT outsourcing, our findings may be generalized in many cases to address similar challenges in other application domains as well.

The contribution of this work is twofold: first, we apply concepts from decision theory to map the provider's offer design problem to a formal model of decision alternatives, states and outcomes. Second, based on this model, we suggest using valuation functions of decision rules to quantify uncertainty premiums that outsourcing providers should incorporate into their service prices. We find that providers with different risk attitudes will define uncertainty premiums of varying amounts. Risk seeking providers will grant higher absolute price reductions than risk neutral or risk averse providers. The latter will hence have lower chances of winning service contracts as prices of their service offers will be higher.

Having summarized the benefits of our approach we want to point to its limitations as well. First, we have simulated decision alternatives by means of randomized generalized beta density functions. In future works we will apply real world data of service delivery environments to set up our decision model. A second limitation is the limited number of decision rules applied. Further research is needed, to characterize the behavior of providers the risk-attitude of which can not be modeled through the introduced decision rules.

With regard to future research we plan to address the following issues: in cooperation with a large IT service provider, we will elaborate on how to influence the incident behavior of service delivery environments. Thus, we aim to support the realization of specific service incident distributions. First promising results with regard to the classification of server incident behavior, have, for instance, been presented by Bogojeska et al. [3]. Second, we have assumed the internal costs of operating service delivery environments to be known and stable. Future research is needed to enable service providers to quantify these costs. Third, we will complement the approach presented, and study the provider's problem of designing service offers in settings under risk. We plan to consider varying operating cost in that approach as well.

We are convinced that our approach towards the consideration of performance risks in service offers can serve as a basis for future research on the design of optimal service offers. In practice, outsourcing providers will benefit from the recommendations on how to determine uncertainty premiums, which account for the uncertainty of future service performance.

References

- 1. Bamberg, G., Coenenberg, A.G., Krapp, M.: Betriebswirtschaftliche Entscheidungslehre. Vahlen, München (2012)
- 2. Berger, T.G.: Service-Level-Agreements: Konzeption und Management von Service-Level-Agreement für IT-Dienstleistung. VDM Verlag, Saarbrücken (2007)
- Bogojeska, J., Lanyi, D., Giurgiu, I., Stark, G., Wiesmann, D.: Classifying Server Behavior and Predicting Impact of Modernization Actions. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Network and Service Management (CNSM) (2002)
- Breitgand, D., Henis, A.E., Shehory, O., Lake, J.M.: Derivation of Response Time Service Level Objectives for Business Services. In: 2nd IEEE/IFIP International Workshop on Business Driven IT Management, pp. 29–38 (2007)
- Ismail, A., Yan, J., Shen, J.: An offer generation approach to SLA negotiation support in service oriented computing. Service Oriented Computing Applications 4(4), 277–289 (2010)
- Kieninger, A., Westernhagen, J., Satzger, G.: The Economics of Service Level Engineering. In: Proceedings of the 44th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS), pp. 1–9. IEEE (2011)
- Kieninger, A., Berghoff, F., Fromm, H., Satzger, G.: Simulation-based Quantification of Business Impact Caused by Service Incidents. In: Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Exploring Service Science, Porto, Portugal, pp. 170–185 (2013)
- Kieninger, A., Straeten, D., Kimbrough, S., Schmitz, B., Satzger, G.: Leveraging Service Incident Analytics to Determine Cost-Optimal Service Offers. In: Proceedings of 11th International Conference on Wirtschaftsinformatik, Leipzig, Germany, pp. 1015–1029 (2013)
- 9. Kütz, M.: Kennzahlen der IT: Werkzeuge für Controlling und Management. Dpunkt, Heidelberg (2007)
- Lacity, M., Willcocks, L.: Outsourcing Business and I.T. Services: the Evidence of Success, Robust Practices and Contractual Challenges. Legal Information Management 12(1), 2–8 (2012)
- Ludwig, A., Kowalkiewicz, M.: Supporting Service Level Agreement Creation with Past Service Behavior Data. In: Abramowicz, W., Flejter, D. (eds.) BIS 2009. LNBIP, vol. 37, pp. 375–385. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)
- Marques, F.T., Sauvé, J.A., Moura, B.: Service Level Agreement Design and Service Provisioning for Outsourced Services. In: Network Operations and Management Symposium, pp. 106–113 (2007)
- Marques, F.T., Sauvé, J.A., Moura, B.: SLA Design and Service Provisioning for Outsourced Services. Journal of Network Systems Management 17(1), 73–90 (2009)
- Mastroeni, L., Naldi, N.: Network Protection through Insurance: Premium Compution for ON-OFF Service Model. In: 8th International Workshop on the Design of Reliable Communication Networks (DRCN), pp. 46–53. IEEE (2009)
- Michalk, W., Blau, B.: Risk in agreement networks: Decision support for serviceintermediaries. Information Systems and E-Business Management 9(2), 247–266 (2011)

- Michalk, W., Blau, B., Stosser, J., Weinhardt, C.: Risk-Based Support in Service Value Networks. In: 43rd Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS), pp. 1–9. IEEE (2010)
- Michalk, W., Filipova-Neumann, L., Blau, B., Weinhard, C.: Reducing Risk or Increasing Profit? Provider Decisions in Agreement Networks. Service Science 3(3), 206–222 (2011)
- Satzger, G., Kieninger, A.: Risk-Reward Sharing in IT Service Contracts A Service System View. In: Proceedings of the 44th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS). IEEE (2011)
- Sauvé, J.A., Marques, F.T., Moura, A.J., Sampaio, M., Jornada, J., Radziuk, E.: SLA Design from a Business Perspective. In: Proceedings of the 16th IFIP/IEEE International Workshop on Distributed Systems: Operations and Management (DSOM), pp. 72–83 (2005)
- Sauvé, J.A., Marques, F.T., Moura, A.J., Sampaio, M., Jornada, J., Radziuk, E.: Optimal Design of E-Commerce Site Infrastructure from a Business Perspective. In: Proceedings of the 39th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS) (2006)
- Schulz, F.: Decision support for business-related design of service level agreements. In: 2nd International Conference on Software Engineering and Service Science (IC-SESS), pp. 35–38. IEEE (2011)
- 22. Snow, A.P., Weckman, G.R.: What Are The Chances An Availability SLA Will Be Violated? In: 6th International Conference on Networking, pp. 35–40. IEEE (2007)
- 23. Sturm, R.: Foundations of Service Level Management. SAMS, Indianapolis (2000)
- Thomopoulos, N.T.: Essentials of Monte Carlo Simulation: Statistical Methods for Building Simulation Models. Springer, New York (2013)
- 25. Webster, J., Watson, R.T.: Analyzing the past to prepare for the future: Writing a literature review. MIS Quarterly 26(2), xiii–xxiii (2002)
- Zhang, L., Zhan, Z., Li, X.: BDIM-Based Optimal Design of Response Time SLO for SaaS. In: 3rd IEEE International Conference on Broadband Network and Multimedia Technology (ICBNMT), pp. 228–232 (2010)

Developing Municipal e-Government in Italy: The City of Alfa Case

Alessandro Zardini¹, Cecilia Rossignoli¹, Lapo Mola¹, and Marco De Marco²

¹ University of Verona, Business Administration Department, via dell'Artigliere 19, 37129 Verona, Italy

{Alessandro.Zardini,Cecilia.Rossignoli,Lapo.Mola}@univr.it ² University G. Marconi, Via Plinio 44,00193 Roma, Italy m.demarco@unimarconi.it

Abstract. The paper aims to analyze the new trends in the public administration's way of doing government business. Specifically, it takes stock of the various actions developed to modernize the administrative and management structures of public companies (PA) and their outcomes. The modernization effort is the result of two macro actions: public administration reforms and the successive pervasion of Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs). The e-Government process is driven by ICTs and the search for a new way to govern. Given that many aspects of the reforms highlight the PA's multifaceted nature, the outcome of the phenomenon also needs to be defined and studied by taking into account how it straddles the technological, organizational, managerial, informatics, relational and cultural dimensions. The paper analyzes a case study of e-Government implementation in a mid-sized municipality in Northern Italy; the aim is to understand how Italy's new reforms and the advent of ICTs have shaped the City of Alfa's route to change.

Keywords: e-Goverment, case study, new public management.

1 Introduction

From the mid-1980s to the 1990s, the public administration systems of the developed countries were all objects of modernization reforms. Nevertheless, the process of change has taken place at different times and using different implementation methods, depending on the area or country involved. The word 'change' or 'process of change' signifies the process that involves an economic unit at a certain moment in time and in a certain economic, social and competitive context, and is the result of the joint decisions and actions implemented by said unit to address an "undetermined situation" [1]. In the past, the expression 'change' was flanked by an array of heterogeneous phenomena that could not, apparently, be attributed to the same object of analysis: the public company. In fact, in some cases this has affected the organizational dimension of the entire PA system or its individual units, while in others it has referred to new management logics and/or tools of the sector in question

M. Snene and M. Leonard (Eds.): IESS 2014, LNBIP 169, pp. 124–137, 2014.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

or has analyzed the process of change of the State legal system or the information system. In yet other cases, it has targeted also the innovation processes. The apparent diversity of the phenomenon object of study is debunked when one approaches the public sector as a complex organization with a three-tiered matrix [1].

The public enterprise theory has addressed the public organization mainly through three lenses that have pushed it in three different directions. The direction of managerial change, related to the corporatization processes, has progressively led the public company to adopt new principles and tools in the organizational, managerial and information technology processes of change. The direction of political change has reshaped the role of the public subject in the eyes of the external stakeholder. Then the direction of legal change through reform has led the public systems to acknowledge the transformation that is reshaping the socio-economic scenario, fuelling processes of innovation and simplification aimed at favoring adaptation [2].

The aim of the paper is to analyze the impact of Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) on the public administration process of change.

As part of the entire "automation of the public administration" [3], the new information technologies have the capacity to transform data into 'knowledge', i.e., into information that can be of use in the decisional processes. The development of targeted information systems for management and decisional support systems has paved the way from a closed to an open public administration model [3]. That marks another milestone in the focus of the public action, which has moved from a model centered on documents and compliance to a model that centers on the results, on the identification and interpretation of needs, and on giving satisfying responses to its stakeholders [4]. Effective change is not driven by the reform process alone nor is it spurred by the mere implementation of information technologies; likewise, the modernization of the PA cannot be achieved purely by deploying ICTs [5, 6]. Hence, the process of change is the result of two combined macro actions [1]: the process of restructuring and rationalization through normative action and the process of computerization. In fact, reform becomes change only when the people employed at the diverse levels of the organizational structure contribute to transforming the opportunities offered by the legislative framework into vehicles of innovation. The outcome of these two forces is e-Government [7, 8].

2 e-Government and "Good Government"

e-Government can be defined as the: "...use of technology, particularly web-based Internet applications, to enhance the access to and delivery of government information and service to citizens, business partners, employees, other agencies, and government entities" or "...the continuous optimisation of service delivery, constituency participation, and governance by transforming internal and external relationships through technology, the Internet, and new media" [9, pp. 1011]. In other words, the term e-Government translates into the provision of information and services via the Internet or any other digital tool. However, many authors were quick to agree that it was highly reductive to consider the use of the internet and ICTs

generally as solely a "means to an end" and thus concluded that "the use of ICTs, and particularly the Internet, [is] a tool to achieve better government" [10; pp. 3]. Therefore, the consensus of both the academics and the institutions today is that e-Government is a tool that can bring the PA and the citizens closer through the building of a new relational model based on a more open administrative system, the engagement of the citizens in public affairs, and an increase in the level of accessibility to the public services, interaction and accountability.

According to that concept, ICT acquits the important task of restoring the trust of the citizens in the public action, "enhancing transparency, cost efficiency, effectiveness, and political participation" [10; pp. 4]. According to Mutz and Flemming, the degree of psychological and informative proximity between government and citizens reflects the degree of public trust in the institutions because "the perceived distance about the information gap between the public and government appears to be one of the major elements that have led to the decline of public trust in government" [11; pp. 80]. Indeed, the internet has turned the traditional hierarchical, linear and mono-directional structure of the PA into a "non-hierarchical, nonlinear, two-way, available 24 hours a day, seven days a week" system [12; pp. 16]. The origin of this global trend, which calls for not only new methods of providing services, but also giving the citizen the option of accessing the system when it is more convenient, reflects the offer of interactive initiatives pioneered by the private sector [13].

In this context, the ICTs are both a tool with which to build the infrastructure to enable the cast of actors to connect and communicate with each other and the means to enable the different public administrations to jointly agree the realization of public services. Hence, the outcome is a more horizontal, customer-oriented public administration system, called a 'network' or 'network organization' [3]. The ensuing increase in the number of actors on the stage multiplies the complexity of the services on at least two counts [14]: it makes it harder to access the information and has a negative impact on the quality of the service provided, given that the information exchange between the diverse public units is based on heterogeneous platforms.

Therefore, ICTs work in two ways: i) they provide the infrastructure needed to circulate the diverse information flows; and ii) generate improvements in both the delivery and the efficacy and efficiency of the services, thus enhancing the public services offer.

3 e-Governance Models

While the literature proposes a range of e-Governance models, defining the diverse evolutionary stages does not necessarily imply a transition in each, nor does it impose a strict chronological observation. An analysis of the models shows the most complete is that of West [12], which is split into four main development phases.

The first is called the 'Billdoard stage'. This is a phase in which the governments are still fairly inexperienced in the use of the technologies, in particular, the internet, leading them to minimize risk by supporting solely small projects [7]. The Billdoard stage consists of implementing static mechanisms to enable the user to visualize the information content of the websites and responds to the growing pressure of civil society. It offers basic functionalities and minimal two-way interaction, giving the users access but not the ability to manipulate the information [12].

The second is the 'partial-service-delivery stage', in which, in tandem with the evolution of the websites, both the employees and the citizens add value to the internet as an additional channel for providing services [7]. The users can use some of the online services and also start to manipulate the database information. The websites let them to gather the information they need without having to rely on solely the information that the employees "intend" and "want" to give them. Nevertheless, the volume of services and information is sporadic and restricted to certain areas only, while the level of privacy and security are fairly low and access itself is far from universal [12].

The third is the 'portal stage', with fully executable and integrated service delivery. The focus in this phase is on the transformation of the services rather than on the automation and digitization of existing processes. Indeed, it is not enough to provide services online that were previously provided in other ways, a permanent change in processes is required to achieve e-Government. In other words, e-Government initiatives need to be accompanied by a contextual redesign of the service itself. Ultimately, "the full benefit of e-government will be realized only when organizational changes accompany technological changes" [7; pp. 130]. A peculiarity of this phase is the setting up of portals [15], the function of which is to render the online services fully operational and integrated. The portal stage gives the citizens indisputable benefits because a virtual area that integrates the different administration systems translates into easier and more efficacious access to the information [12]. Further, the growing attention to privacy and security is another stride forward in the development of e-Government, leading the websites themselves to publish the relative policies adopted [12].

The fourth, the 'interactive democracy with public outreach and accountability enhancing features stage' is unquestionably the most important. Only once this level has been reached are all the organizational boundaries surpassed. This is done through: the vertical integration of the diverse organizational levels of the administration system; the horizontal integration that determines the connection between this latter and the external environment; and, the building of connective infrastructure (interoperability issues) [15]. The fourth stage sees the websites transcend the simple delivery of services by giving the user the opportunity to customize the service itself and to push technology. This stage casts the citizen in a new role, elevating them from being a mere consumer of the public service to a proactive player in the provision of the service [12, 16].

In the wider scope of the public administration's mission, the above model enables the creation of public value. The expression 'public value' generally refers to the value created by governments through the delivery of services, legislation/regulation, and other actions. On the other hand, the concept investigated in this paper leads us to give the term 'public value' a wider meaning to that usually attributed by New Public Management (NPM), extending it to encompass the results, their publication, trust and legitimization [17]. Hence, by recognizing the creation of value as the ultimate goal of the public action and by adopting the broadest meaning of the concept of public value as our analysis perspective, we can argue that "the use of ICTs to improve government and governance, as implied by e-Government, can be considered as a means to increase the public value produced by Public Administration" [18; pp. 67]. It therefore follows that the various actions undertaken by the PA in implementing the e-Government process can be evaluated based on how those actions increase the potential of the administrative system to generate public value.

Similarly, when the interaction between the citizen and the PA involves the former as both the user and the operator, it is possible to measure public value by adopting both an external (citizen-user) and an internal (citizen-operator) perspective [18]. Generating value through services depends on the quality of their delivery, which, in turn, depends on: the availability of the service; the level of satisfaction; its importance; integrity; and, ultimately, its cost [17]. The first outcomes of e-Government were obtained in the area of environmental policies, which, adopting the broadest definition of the term, includes the concept of the constituent environment, i.e., the local and global system of the public administration [17]. Thus it is clear that evaluating the outcomes of the diverse policies to support the creation of municipal aggregations needs to take account also of their capacity to increase [18] the level of integration of the policies in homogeneous local areas, the organizational and operational simplification of the diverse units that make up the network, and the capacity to maintain cooperative relations with the other actors.

4 Methodology

To confirm our research questions and to test the theoretical framework of reference, the paper uses the qualitative methodology and a field case study to analyze the data [19-21], which enables the phenomenon to be analyzed in its natural state [22]. According to Darke et al. [23; pp. 274] "...case study in research is useful in newer less well-developed research areas particularly where examination of the context and the dynamics of a situation are important".

In this specific case, the authors analyzed a mid-sized municipality in the North of Italy during the analysis and process reengineering of its new trade and business authorization/licensing service ('new business authorization') or "SCIA" (Segnalazione Certificata d'Inizio Attività).

The City of Alfa was chosen for two reasons. First, the municipality surveyed is a particularly relevant case of the analysis and reengineering of the new business authorization process through the introduction of e-Governance ICT tools [23]. Second, direct access to the data was obtained [24].

The case study was conducted according to the guidelines of Yin [22], hence, information was collected through semi-structured interviews, direct observation and documentation analysis, while the test sources consisted of interviews and internal documentation.

Privileged access to the information facilitated the gathering of data from several sources, thus increasing the quality of the information obtained [25].

The case analysis involved 12 semi-structured interviews of approximately 40 minutes each in the Alfa municipality with both researchers in attendance and used the protocol presented by Arksey and Knight [26; pp.74-75]. The interviews were conducted with one senior manager, one manager, four office staff, and an intern.

The information and the results were confirmed by transcribing the interviews and the interim results of the "data collection" phase and presenting these to the four main organizational actors of the Alfa study. In addition, the data analysis was performed using CAQDAS [Computer Assisted Qualitative Data Analysis Software], specifically Atlas.ti. This latter was deployed for the hermeneutic analysis of the documents and the transcription of the interviews [27], especially for the open coding, axial coding [28; pp. 61-69] and memoing [29; pp. 83-84] operations. Data collection started in April 2012 and ended roughly eight months later. The existing data was analyzed and integrated starting late December 2012.

5 Case Study: The City of Alfa

5.1 Scenario

The case study was conducted at the City of Alfa, a Northern Italian municipality, with the aim of analyzing the state-of-the-art of e-Government implementation in the administrative system, in particular, in the 'Settore Politiche dello Sviluppo - Commercio Fisso' (Development Policies Department – Office of Fixed Trade) in the wake of the recent legislative and regulatory measures and the modification of the new business authorization process.

Alfa is an important industrial and economic center, the beating heart of a province of small and medium enterprises. Data from ISTAT (Italian National Institute of Statistics) and Confindustria (the national business owner's association) highlight the province's leadership status, the sign of a dynamic production and commercial landscape, strong in numbers, with an eye to quality, and a player not only in the domestic, but also the world markets with a high level of exports.

In particular, this study will analyze the Development Policies Department (DPD) and, specifically, the Office of Fixed Trade (OFT). The Department is staffed by 12 people: a senior manager, two organizational staff, and nine employees, three of which part-time. The DPD is responsible for the planning, direction and control of commercial activities, while the number of administrative inspectors assigned to each OFT is confidential: the inspections are prerequisite to the issuing of licenses and control authorizations on the coordination SCIAs and the trading hours of the commercial activities and the serving of food and beverages. To recap, the DPD manages and regulates all the local area's shops and trading premises (e.g., store opening times, identification of spaces and the issuing of authorizations to trade, and the processing of applications to open new businesses, etc.).

Alfa is an interesting case study because this municipality has analyzed and introduced an e-Government system to the DPD-OFT processes. The distinctive aspect is that the DPD-OFT is going through a transitional phase, i.e., it is currently running two administrative systems in parallel; the former is being phased out (20%)

operational at the time of our analysis), while the new e-Government process was 80% on stream with full implementation and operational launch slated for end-September 2013.

5.2 The "Pre" e-Government Situation

Prior to the implementation of e-Government, the Alfa new business application process, or SCIA, involved the external user (usually the shop owner and/or their business advisor) and the municipality's internal staff, split between the employees that managed the front office, i.e., the 'One-stop Trading Activities Desk' - in Italian, "SUAP" (Sportello Unico delle Attività Produttive - and the back office, i.e., the administrative inspectors of the OFT. The process analysis ("AS-IS" analysis) called for first interviewing the municipal staff directly involved and then studying the legislative/regulatory framework and the online application forms plus all the relative attachments currently used for opening a new business. The business advisor mandated to deal with the online SCIA application started by downloading and compiling the requisite form from the City of Alfa website; the client (the store/business owner) then went to the advisor's office to sign the form. After attaching the required documentation to the SCIA, the whole package was then converted into PDF format and the digital signature affixed in those cases where the client was without, attaching the relative power of attorney for the digital signature and/or online submission. The completed SCIA was then transmitted to SUAP using certified e-mail. When the system received the SCIA, it should have automatically checked the application form and its attachments to ensure these were prepared correctly. In practice, however, on receipt of the documentation, the information system merely generated a return receipt for the external user giving the user permission to immediately open the business activity object of the SCIA. Then the SUAP clerk registered the notified receipt and transmitted it electronically to the DPD Secretarial Office.

After verifying the digital signature and the object of the new business activity, the documentation was then printed out and filed in a paper folder. The next step was the inspection phase, which called for verifying the SCIA and its attachments for official compliance and correctness. After which, the whole bundle was archived manually due to the lack of an electronic archive in which to keep a record of the information.

Of the nine critical aspects of this process, the primary issues reported were:

- Problems with the incoming new business applications: instead of submitting the application forms provided on the City of Alfa website, the external user often transmits the application forms of the regional government or even the wrong SCIA form; (e.g., instead of submitting a SCIA for opening a store or business in a residential area, the user submitted a food & beverages licensing application);
- SUAP does not fully perform its assigned tasks. In fact, the system verifies the formal completion of the SCIA application and its attachments on receipt but, despite the fact that the software has the capability to check whether the digital

signature has been affixed, the front-office staff do not reject the applications from which it is missing. Hence, despite not being valid right from the outset of the process, the application continues its journey and eventually reaches the Office of Fixed Trade, which then finds itself having to reject it for reasons of inadmissibility;

- Sorting errors: each application is subject to two sorting processes, the first at SUAP and the second at the Secretarial Office. Aside from every plausible human error, a genuine problem of redundant information exists that makes it difficult to track down the file;
- Slow pace of document dematerialization: on receipt of the application, all the relative documentation is saved in an electronic folder and most of it printed out without first verifying whether it is even in a condition to continue down the administrative line;
- Delayed inspections: it takes at least 15-20 days from the date the application is registered before the inspection process gets underway and, in the event of a negative outcome requiring a conformation request, this same is preceded by telephone reminders (most times) that are hard to prove should a dispute with the external user arise;
- No schedule of completion dates for the in-house activities, which leads to application processing delays;
- Inefficient information system: hard to locate the information, duplications, information lost/misplaced, etc.

5.3 Launch of the New e-Government System

In response to the above criticalities and the need to re-establish the functions for which the SUAP itself had been created, the City of Alfa launched a major process reengineering project. The project was part of the broader strategy to advance the e-government process from a phase that we can call enhanced [15; pp. 215], i.e., the "AS-IS" process just analyzed, to an interactive phase [15; pp. 215] that would both enable the PA and the citizens to enjoy a two-way rapport and introduce the interactive portals needed to support it.

The new project was proposed by the City of Alfa's Economic Development councilor and Residential Construction councilor. The idea is to combine the management of both the functions carried out by the One-stop Trading Activities Desk (SUAP), i.e., the front office and the back office, assigning the task jointly to two national leaders, respectively: Infocamere, through the national "impresa in un giorno" ("business in a day") portal, and the Maggioli Group, through the J-IRIDE software.

Alfa's local government redesigned the process to achieve the following objectives:

- Procedures standardized with those of the regional government to ensure the interoperability of the diverse systems used by the process;
- A single operations management to ensure the transparency and uniformity of the processes;

- The progressive dematerialization of the paperwork in order to save costs;
- Reduction in the time required for the business application process to make its journey and ensure the completion of the application process in the shortest time possible;
- Cost-savings for both private businesses and citizens.

Without eclipsing the functions attributed to SUAP, the Italian Chamber of Commerce offers the municipality a shared organizational solution in the form of a web platform called 'SUAP camerale'. This tool enables the external user to communicate with the municipal SUAP via the portal and, starting with the City of Alfa website, use a single, standardized method to submit new business requests. Hence, the portal performs a linking function between the infrastructure and the networks already in operation for the exchange of information and online interaction between the administrations and agencies that play a role in both the new business processes (products and services) and the localization, development, transformation, restructuring or conversion, expansion or transfer of business premises, and the ceasing or resumption of trading of the business activities in question. The portal is a tool that can enable the concrete realization of the goal to transform the traditional hierarchical and centralist structure of the PA into a network organization. It ensures the municipal area a single point of access to all the procedures and processes, coordinating and managing all the relations with the internal offices and the agencies involved in the various phases of issuing the authorization or other measure. Further, it enables the integrated management of the information that, in turn, translates into the rationalization of a shared information asset that enables the Alfa municipality to save operating costs. The portal's front-office service provides accurate information on the legislative/regulatory requirements of the administrative procedures, thirdparty procedures, the application forms and the relative contacts.

The new SCIA process now crosses the administrative system's borders to directly involve the diverse actors that make up the environment system. Unlike the AS-IS process, the stakeholders of the process are both the external user and the internal staff, split between those responsible for the front office (SUAP camerale) and the back-office administrative inspectors (Ufficio Commercio Fisso) and any other external agency involved (e.g., ASL (national health service) and INPS (social security department), etc.). The external user launches the process by accessing the portal and, once authenticated, keys in three identifying coordinates to proceed to the compilation of the application:

- region: the area in which the trader plans to operate
- company business sector
- operations requested: what the applicant wants to do and the type of operation.

The user then compiles the application form in dynamic mode. The portal automatically generates a form split into several sections depending on the choices made; the sections are translated into declarations and attachments that the user is required to compile. After completing the forms, the request is digitally signed and

forwarded to the SUAP camerale. When the form is submitted by a delegated representative, this latter must attach the digitally signed special power of attorney (POA) supplied by the system and the identification documents of both signatories. The SUAP camerale bundles a PEC mail that contains the descriptive xml attachments and transmits it to the agencies and organizations in question, including, obviously, the Chamber of Commerce and the City of Alfa, which receive it via the J-IRIDE SUAP information system. The system then recognizes the presence of the xml application descriptor and automatically deduces the information needed to automate the registration of the application and launch the back-office procedure. In parallel to the transmission phase. SUAP camerale generates an electronic folder in which to gather the opinions and/or authorizations of all the diverse administrations involved. Unlike the previous software used to manage the procedures, the J-IRIDE system offers the administrative inspectors a timetable of due dates that enables them to program the workflow accordingly. The SCIAs are then dealt with in chronological order of receipt or, in the case of supplementary documentation, based on the need to complete procedures falling due. The platform also enables the dynamic modeling and management of the administrative procedures, ensuring security, authenticity, archiving, compliance with the record-keeping rules and information confidentiality pursuant to the relative law. Finally, it enables the control of all the creation, acquisition, management, distribution, sharing, exchange and archiving cycles relative to the structured information, and of the documents and the correlations inherent in the processes used by the municipality to expedite its activities.

6 Discussion

Automation or computerization can be implemented at different levels, from paper documents and the introduction of the electronic protocol through to the switchover from paper to electronic documents. The case study of the municipal Department (DPD) presented in the paper is an example of slow yet progressive dematerialization. Even though a good part of the incoming documentation is digital, to facilitate its citizens Alfa still allows a small percentage of applications to be submitted manually. Despite the fact that the incoming documentation is sent electronically, or is converted post-registration for the reasons illustrated earlier, most of the documents are printed out and a paper record of the application kept after the competent Secretarial Office has done the sorting. This has a negative impact on the municipality's objective of boosting productivity and saving the cost of keeping material records.

The most serious inefficiencies attributable to SUAP are the absence of an effective official check of the applications and the inefficacious connection between the diverse offices and third-parties involved in the process. In terms of the former, the AS-IS process underscores how 20% of SCIA applications, despite their initial inadmissibility (digital signature missing), are still forwarded to the OFT for rejection. Further, about 40% of the applications bypass the official controls of the One-Stop Desk because the user fails to enclose the required attachments and technical

information. These problems will be eliminated once the new process is fully on stream (end-September 2013). Indeed, the portal's dynamic compilation system will generate the appropriate application form complete with all the relative sections by asking the user to enter the three identification coordinates. The user then compiles the application form and attaches all the required information and presses 'send' to submit the documentation to SUAP. However, prior to sending, the system will check the form has been completed correctly and, if not, will block its transmission, prompting the user to make the relative corrections, give mandatory information that has been omitted or enclose any missing attachments. The same goes for the digital signature; the portal's system will block the external user from submitting the application if the digital signature and/or the relative POA is missing. The AS-IS process has underscored the inability of SUAP to integrate and share the management of the information received. On the other hand, the SUAP camerale is able to identify all the actors involved in the process and, once it has received the application, will be able to add new recipients where required. The new process has several benefits:

- Integrated management of service production/delivery and the creation of a shared file into which all the opinions and authorizations of the agencies and departments concerned will flow, thus, even though several different stakeholders are involved, the user will have the perception of a single service;
- The sharing of information between the network actors will enable both the user and the City of Alfa to reduce costs. Indeed, the municipality will be able to eliminate both duplications and redundant transactions, while the citizen will no longer be forced to learn the internal workings of the PA to obtain the service they need, nor will they have to furnish information that the administrative system can retrieve autonomously; moreover, the citizen will need to transmit any changes to information already submitted one time only, given that the network will be tasked to circulate the information thus received.

The SUAP inefficiencies can be attributed to both the lack of a technological infrastructure capable of providing a real connection between the different application process nodes, and the failure to give staff the relevant training. To ensure the process is implemented smoothly, the Alfa municipality can adopt an effective human resources program to remedy the personnel issue by upgrading their skills, redesigning their roles and responsibilities according to the new needs as these arise, and, last but not least, raising the level of motivation. From the back-office perspective, the new system has accelerated the registration and accreditation process; reduced the diverse inefficiencies, now reported in real time; increased the sense of responsibility of the persons involved in the application process; reduced process management and maintenance costs; and boosted system efficiency and efficacy.

7 Conclusions

Despite Italy's position of laggard in the e-Government global scenario, the UN Public Administration Programme ranks it Number 32 in the world classification of e-government implementation. In Europe, however, the situation is not so satisfactory, with Italy still placing 32nd but in a classification made up of solely 43 countries.

The case study has sought to illustrate the state of implementation of digital government and the major drivers of its innovation at the City of Alfa, an Italian municipality. The analysis of the AS-IS process has demonstrated how the e-Government process of Alfa is still in a primitive state, not only is its website content still visualized in static mode, but also the online services are still few in number. The SCIA application process object of our study has underscored how the use of ICTs is merely functional to the delivery of information and services. In particular, the online interaction between citizen and administration is limited to the option given to the former to fill in the forms published on the website and to receive confirmation of receipt or other indications ("pre e-Government scenario"). The analysis of the consolidated process ("post e-Government scenario") highlights how, from the organizational viewpoint, the e-Government evolution has prompted the reconfiguration of part of the organization's internal structures and, at the same time, shaped a new form of interaction between the municipality and the external environment. Nevertheless, from the managerial perspective, the integration of the processes to produce and deliver the services is neither complete nor efficacious. In fact, despite the significant changes to the organizational structure of the SUAP front office, full integration between the different organizations involved in the authorization process has not been achieved. The ineffectiveness of the reconfiguration is reflected also in the back office, where inefficiencies continue to persist at the level of both the connection and the interaction between the municipality's internal departments. Neither has the e-Government process generated the desired benefits from the information/IT standpoint. In fact, we cannot call it an integrated model of information management, either in-house or between the municipality and the other public network actors. Probably, it is not even correct to use the expression 'public network' to describe the organizational structure currently in place.

These considerations can be applied to a certain extent also when looking at the phenomenon through the relational lens. What is happening in the Alfa municipality is a progressive transition from a relational, face-to-face model to a Government to Government (G2G), Government to Citizen (G2C) and Government to Business (G2B) model. Then, if we examine the cultural angle, it is clear that it is a requisite condition for the success of the entire e-Government process. The under-use of some of the new ICT tools in routine internal operations is a clear sign that the implementation phase antecedent to that of the current system failed to give the staff involved in the process adequate training. Our approach to our research questions relies on a field case study analysis (City of Alfa) during the analysis and process reengineering of its new trade and business authorization/licensing service.

It is quite evident that this study needs further and deeper investigations in order to give a more incisive contribute in the understanding of the impact of ICT and new reforms on the organization context in the public companies. In the next studies, in order to reduce the limitation of relying on subjective performance data, we will create a questionnaire to distribute to the other Italian medium cities that develop/use e-Government processes/platforms.

References

- 1. Pitzalis, A.: Le amministrazioni pubbliche e l'innovazione delle tecnologie dell'informazione. Giuffrè Editore, Milan (2005)
- 2. Rosembloom, D.H.: Public administration theory and the separation of power. Public Administration Review 43(3), 219–227 (1983)
- Borgonovi, E.: Le tecnologie dell'informazione e il cambiamento dell'amministrazione pubblica. Azienda Pubblica 1, 5–9 (2000)
- Janowski, T., Pardo, T.A., Davies, J.: Government Information Networks Mapping Electronic Governance cases through Public Administration concepts. Government Information Quarterly 29(1), 1–10 (2012)
- De Marco, M., Sorrentino, M.: Sowing the seeds of IS cultivation in public service organisations. Journal of Information Technology 22(2), 184–194 (2007)
- Sorrentino, M.: Interpreting E-Government: Implementation as the Moment of Truth. In: Wimmer, M.A., Scholl, J., Grönlund, Å. (eds.) EGOV 2007. LNCS, vol. 4656, pp. 281–292. Springer, Heidelberg (2007)
- Layne, K., Lee, J.: Developing fully functional E-government: a four stage model. Government Information Quarterly 18(2), 122–136 (2001)
- 8. Holmes, D.: E-gov: strategies for government. Nicholas Brealey Publishing, London (2001)
- Ghayur, A.: Toward Good Governance: Developing an e-Government. The Pakistan Development Review 45(4), 1011–1025 (2006)
- Piva, V., Torres, L., Royo, S.: Is e-Government leading to more accountable and trasparent local governments? Financial Accountability & Management 26(1), 3–18 (2010)
- Mutz, D., Flemming, G.: How Good People Make Bad Collectives: A Social-Psychological Perspective on Public Attitude. In: Cooper, J. (ed.) Congress and the Decline of Pubic Trust, pp. 79–100. Westview Press, Boulder (1999)
- 12. West, D.L.: E-Government and the Transformation of service Delivery and Citizen Attitudes. Public Administration Review 64(1), 15–27 (2004)
- Dunleavy, P., Margetts, H., Bastow, S., Tinkler, J.: New Public Management Is Dead-Long Live Digital-Era Governance. Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory 16(3), 467–494 (2006)
- Bettahar, F., Moulin, C., Barthes, J.P.: Towards a Semantic Interoperability in an e. Government Application 7(3), 209–226 (2009)
- 15. Ranga, R.: Collaborative Government to Employee (G2E): Issue and Challenges to E-Government. Journal of E-Governance 34(4), 214–229 (2011)
- Linders, D.: From e-government to we-government: Defining a typology for citizen coproduction in the age of social media. Government Information Quarterly 29(4), 446– 454 (2012)
- Castelnovo, W., Simonetta, M.: The Evaluation of e-Government projects for Small Local Government Organisations. The Electronic Journal of e-Government 5(1), 21–28 (2007)
- Castelnovo, W., Simonetta, M.: A Public Value Evaluation of e-Government Policies. The Electronic Journal Information Systems Evaluation 11(2), 61–72 (2008)
- Cavaye, A.: Case Study Research: a multi-facteted research approach for IS. Information Systems Journal 6, 227–242 (1996)
- Creswell, J.W.: Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches, 2nd edn. Sage, Thousand Oaks (2007)
- 21. Contrafatto, M.: Il Social Envirmental Reporting e le sue Motivazioni: Teoria, Analisi Empirica e Prospettive. Giuffrè Editore, Milan (2009)
- 22. Yin, R.K.: Case study research: design and methods. Sage, Los Angeles (2009)
- Darke, P., Shanks, G., Broadbent, M.: Successfully completing case study research: combining rigour, relevance and pragmatism. Information Systems Journal 8(4), 273–290 (1998)
- Eisenhardt, K., Graebner, M.: Theory Building From Cases: Opportunities and Challenges. The Academy of Management Journal 50(1), 25–32 (2007)
- 25. Benbasat, I.: An Analysis of Research Methodologies. In: Warren, F. (ed.) The Information Systems Research Challenge. Harvard Business School Press, Boston (1984)
- 26. Arksey, P., Knight, T.: Interviewing for Social Scientists. Sage Publication, London (1999)
- 27. Bryman, A., Bell, E.: Business Research Methods, 3rd edn. Oxford Press, Oxford (2011)
- Corbin, J., Strauss, A.: Grounded theory research: procedures, canons, and evaluative criteria. Qualitative Sociology 13, 3–21 (1990)
- 29. Glaser, B.G.: Theoretical sensitivity: advances in the methodology of grounded theory. Sociology Press, Mill Valley (1978)

Author Index

Borangiu, Theodor 1, 17 De Marco, Marco 124Drăgoicea, Monica 1, 17 Falcão e Cunha, João 1, 17 Faria, José 17 Foulonneau, Muriel 31Fragidis, Garyfallos 40 Fromm, Hansjörg 56, 108 Goldberg, Marius 56Gordijn, Jaap 92Greguš, Michal 72Iacob, Iulia 1 Kaczor, Sebastian 72Kieninger, Axel 56, 108 Konstantas, Dimitri 40

72

Kryvinska, Natalia

Lago, Patricia 92Martin, Sébastien 31Mola, Lapo 124Oltean, Virginia Ecaterina 1, 17 Paschaloudis, Dimitri 40 Poels, Geert 82 Rădulescu, Stefan 17Rafati, Laleh 82 Razavian, Maryam 92Rossignoli, Cecilia 124Satzger, Gerhard 56, 108 108Schmitz, Björn Strauss, Christine 72Turki, Slim 31Zardini, Alessandro 124